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Introduction

This book is aimed at non-French speakers of English who want to learn to speak French. It
is not written for children, but rather for adults who have already mastered their mother tongue.

My name is Löıc Gaillard, and I have a PhD in mathematics, but no degree in linguistics or
French language teaching. I wrote this book because I learned three foreign languages over the last
few years, entirely on my own. I’ve been gathering data from the Internet, using online translators,
and gradually writing books like this one for myself. At the same time, I found audio resources
such as music and films to complement my learning.

Language after language, I came to determine the most logical and effective order in which to
learn a European language. In short : sounds, letters, basic expressions, invariant words, verbs,
adjectives, nouns. For each of these steps, there’s a constant trade-off between completeness and
conciseness. I always try to estimate the frequency of use of sounds, letters, expressions, words and
grammatical structures, classifying them by decreasing importance. That’s why rare expressions
don’t appear in this book. That’s why the book is so short.

As French is difficult to read, I decided to write most of the French expressions in the book
phonetically. What’s more, as the official phonetic alphabet is also difficult to read, I decided to
invent one more suited to the most distinguishable sounds of the French language. As its name
suggests, this book is a method for learning to speak, not to write. If you already speak French
well, this book may not teach you anything. This learning method will not enable you to go beyond
a A2 or B1 level of French. A multitude of grammar rules, grammatical structures and important
vocabulary words are not even mentioned in this book.

On the other hand, if your level of French is low or non-existent, and you want to learn how
to say basic things to have simple conversations in French, I think this book will help you, as the
similar books I wrote for myself in English, German, Russian, Slovak and Spanish helped me.
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Resources and references

I wrote this book with an unconventional approach to French language and grammar. For this
reason, I have almost no references to quote. I only used an online list of frequency from the
”Eduscol” website run by the French Ministry of Education, that has been very useful.

Eduscol website : https ://eduscol.education.fr/
Name of the document : mots nature frequence 124997 292363

I’d like to thank my friends who helped me find the rules of French grammar during the writing
process, Axel, Jules, Chantal, Thierry, Emmanuelle. I’d also like to thank Maud who helped me
improve some of the English wording in the book.

The pdf version is free and available on my website. If you would like a paper version of the
book, please contact me by e-mail.

https ://graphes-fonctions-holomorphes.toile-libre.org
loic.gaillard74@gmail.com

Detailed contain with internal links

The language-learning method I describe here is very pragmatic. It’s best suited to readers
with a Cartesian mindset. That’s why I don’t recommend it for children at all.

The vocabulary lists in the first chapter are the unavoidable basics of the language, and will
be useful to anyone at a low level. Personally, when I’m faced with a new language, this is exactly
the order in which I learn things. You have to start from practice without understanding it, and
gradually integrate theory through repetition. Pronunciation is a central issue. To integrate it,
listening to French songs and films, or speaking in French with other people is essential. My book
can only serve as an aide-memoire in this respect, but can never replace oral practice.

Chapter 1 - Basis :
Sounds and letters Expressions Grammar

List of French sounds p.4 Politeness p.10 Important verbs p.14
Pronunciation rules p.5 Presentation p.10 Important tenses p.18

Pronunciation on examples p.6 Needs p.11 Time location p.20
Accent p.9 Feelings p.11

Thoughts p.12
Numbers p.12
Insults p.12

Slang words p.13

The second chapter begins with lists of pronouns, determiners, prepositions, conjunctions and
adverbs with their grammar rules. This part of the grammar is easy, especially for a person whose
mother tongue is a Indo-European language. What’s more, it’s very important for progress if
you’re a beginner in French.

Chapter 2 part 1 - Easy grammar :
Articles, nouns, adjectives Pronouns Invariants

Articles p.22 Personal p.26 Prepositions p.30
Determiners p.23 Reflexive p.27 Conjunctions p.32

Grammar of nouns p.24 Demonstrative p.27 Adverbs of yes-no kind p.33
Grammar of adjectives p.25 Interrogative p.28 Negative words p.33

Definite-indefinite p.29 Adverbs of nature, quantity p.34
Relative p.29 Adverbs of comparison p.35

Adverbs of space, time p.35
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The second part of the second chapter is a full description of the grammar of French verbs. It
begins with a list of conjugations. It’s difficult to read and learn, but very complete. I’ve grouped
the verbs according to 27 patterns of similarity. Of all the tenses used in spoken French, I’ve
detailed how to use 8 of them. With all the composed-tense variations, it is enough to express any
possible meaning. Moreover, the specific grammar rules when you represent some complements as
pronouns are all mentioned, and illustrated with complete examples in the end of the chapter.

Chapter 2 part 2 - Difficult grammar, the verbs :
Conjugation of verbs French tenses Order of the words

Regular verbs in ER p.36 Present tense p.44 Without pronouns p.52
Irregular verbs in ER p.37 Imperative tense p.45 Accusative pronouns p.53
Regular verbs in IR p.38 Imperfective past tense p.46 Dative pronouns p.54

Irregular verbs p.39 Composed past tense p.47 Prepositional pronouns p.55
The two future tenses p.48

Conditional tense p.49
Subjunctive conjugation p.50
When use subjunctive p.51

The third chapter contains vocabulary lists for nouns, adjectives and verbs. Moreover, each
irregular verb in the list is stuck with the mention of its conjugation table (with internal links
again). These lists are adapted from the frequency list mentioned above. I’ve added some words
that I felt were missing, and removed others that I felt were unnecessary. As each person has his
or her own vocabulary, it’s impossible to make such a list that would suit everyone. To use the
third chapter, I strongly advise against trying to learn it. The best approach is to read it once or
twice, to understand how it’s organized, and then use it as an English-French dictionary for the
most common words.

Chapter 3 - Vocabulary :
Nouns Adjectives Verbs

Humans p.56 Colours and dimensions p.66 States and positions p.68
Human mind p.57 Human characteristics p.66 Modal verbs p.69

Nature and trees p.58 Properties of things p.67 Movements p.70
Animals and food p.59 Nationalities p.67 Communication p.71

Space and geography p.60 Perceptions and thoughts p.72
State and institutions p.61 Relationships and needs p.73

Science, art, sport p.62 Concrete actions p.74
Jobs and workplaces p.63 Verbs of exchanges p.75

Concrete objects p.64
Abstract concepts p.65

Bonne chance ! (bon s̃ãs) - Good luck !
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1 Basis

1.1 Sounds and letters

The most important French sounds

Throughout the document, these are the notation we will use to describe French sounds.

Consonant sounds
Notation Official Writings In English words In French words

b [ b ] b be, bed, bad
d [ d ] d do, and, good down,
f [ f ] f for, if, from
g [ g ] g get, go, again
s̃ [ S ] ch sure, she, action
j [ Z ] j, g joke (without the first d) Le jour (The day)
k [ k ] k, c, q can, back, think
l [ l ] l all, like, let
m [ m ] m from, him, my
n [ n ] n no, in, line
p [ p ] p people, up, top
r [ K ] r - Paris, Tour Eiffel
s [ s ] s, c this, see, guess
t [ t ] t today, better, but
v [ v ] v very, have, never
w [ w ] w was, work, now
y [ j ] y, i yes, your, year
z [ z ] z, s crazy, was, because

The French r (r - [ K ]) doesn’t look like the English one, it sounds like an exhaled snore.

Vowel sounds
Notation Official Writings In English words In French words

a [ a ] a that, are, man Amsterdam
ã [ Ã ] an, en - La France
e [ @ ] e, eu better, alone, but Je t’aime (I love you)
é [ e ] é - Bon appétit
è [ 3 ] è, e, ai there, get, well, pain Je t’aime (I love you)
ẽ [ ø ] eu - L’Europe
i [ i ] i it, this, with Madrid
ı̃ [ Ẽ ] in, ain - Berlin
o [ O ] o not, for, sorry New York
ô [ o ] o, au fall, go, alone Le soleil (The sun)
õ [ Õ ] on strong (without the last n) Londres
u [ y ] u - La lune (The moon)
ũ [ u ] ou you, into, good Moscou
∅ - (silent sound)

The three sounds ã, ı̃, õ (officially [ Ã ], [ Ẽ ], [ Õ ]) are the nasal versions of the sounds a, i and ô,
and I don’t think they exist in English. The vowel sounds é and ẽ (officially [ 3 ] and [ ø ]) also
don’t exist in English, they are like an open and a closed version of the sound e. And the vowel
sound u (officially[ y ]) is like an open version of ũ.
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Summary of the pronunciation of French letters.

These consonants sound almost like in English when they are not the last letter of a word :

Letter b c d f g j k l m n p q s t v w x z
Sound b k/s d f g/j j k l m n p k s/z t v w gz/ks z

The sounds of the letters s and x depend on the vowel around it : if s is surrounded by two vowel,
it sounds z, otherwise it sounds s. If x is between e and another vowel, it sounds gz, otherwise it
sounds ks. Before the vowels a,o,u or a consonant, the letters c, cc and g don’t sound the same
as before the vowels e,i,y (I think those rules are similar in English).

Letter +a,o,u, consonant c cc g Letter + e,i,y c cc g
Sound k k g Sound s ks j

The consonants h(∅) and r (r) don’t sound the same in French and English. The letter h is
combined with a previous c or p, the letters ch, ph sound almost like in English, but not th.

Letters r h ch ph th
Sound r ∅ s̃ f t

There are many silent letters in French terminations of words :

Letter in end b d e m n p s t x
Sound ∅ ∅ ∅ ∅* ∅* ∅ ∅ ∅ ∅

A silent consonant (resp. vowel) can sound if the next word begins with a vowel (resp. consonant) :

Last cons. + vow b d m n p s t x Last e + cons.
Sound -p- -t- -m- -n- -p- -z- -t- -z- -e-

When the last letter is l, r, s, t, z, it can be silent, and combined with a previous vowel :

Letters in end ail eil euil ille er es et ez
Sound ay èy ey iy é é/∅ è é

The vowels are joined together to create new sounds. Moreover*, when a m or n follows a vowel
sound and is not between two vowels, it changes the previous vowel sound (nasalisation).

Vowels a ai au e ei eu eau i ie io o oi ou u y
Sound a è ô e/è è e/ẽ ô i yè yo o/ô wa ũ u i

+ n or m an ain - en ein - - in ien ion on oin - un -
Nasal ã ı̃ - ã ı̃ - - ı̃ ỹı yõ õ w̃ı - ı̃ -

The letter e sounds e before one consonant and è before two consonant. The letters eu and o
sound normally closed (ẽ, ô) but they can sound open (e, o) when they are the last vowel sound :

Last vowel o + sound ∅, z, t eu + sound ∅, z, t o + other sound eu + other sound
Sound ô (closed) ẽ (closed) o (open) e (open)

Some French vowels have accents. The umlaut on the i means that it must not be associated with
the preceding vowel. Other accents can change the pronunciation of the vowel or not.

Letter à or â é è,ê or ë ı̂ or ı̈ ô ù or û
Sound a é è i ô u
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Pronunciation of French letters on important examples

Let. (sound) Rules Examples
a, à, â (a) Cela (sela) - This, Il a faim (il a f̃ı) - He is hungry

Là (la) - Here - Un gâteau (̃ı gatô) - A cake
ai, âı (è) J’ai faim (jè f̃ı) - I’m hungry - Jamais (jamè) - Never

Mauvaise idée (môvèz idé) - Bad idea - S’il te plâıt (sil
te plè) - Please - La maison (la mèzõ) - The house

ail (ay) In end Un travail (̃ı travay) - A job
aill (ay) Ailleurs (ayer) - Somewhere else
aim, ain (̃ı) Nasal Du pain (du p̃ı) - Bread - Demain (demı̃) - Tomorrow

La main (la mı̃) - The hand
am, an (ã) Nasal Un enfant (̃ı-n-ãfã) - A child - Un an (̃ı-n-ã) - A year

Avant (avã) - Before - La jambe (la jãb) - The leg
au (ô) Une autre fois (un ôtr-e-fwa) - Another time

Il faut ... (il fô) - We have to ... - Aussi (ôsi) - Too
ay (èy) J’ai essayé (jè ésèyé) - I tried - Payer (pèyé) - To pay
ay (èi) Exception Un pays (̃ı pèi) - A country
b (b) Bonjour (bõjũr) - Good morning - C’est bon (sè bõ) - This

is good - Je vais bien (je vè bỹı) - I’m fine
b (∅) in end Le plomb (plõ) - The lead (metal)
c (k) + a,o,u Excusez-moi (èkskuzé mwa) - Excuse me

Encore (ãkor) - Still, Pas encore (pa-z-ãkor) - Not yet
c (k) + cons. C’est exact (sè-t-ègzakt) - That’s true
c (k) In end Avec (avèk) - With, Donc (dõk) - Therefore
c (s) + e,i,y Merci (mèrsi) - Thank you, Viens ici (vỹı isi) - Come here
ç (s) C’est ça (sè sa) - That’s it, Reçu (resu ) - Received
c (∅) in end Exception Blanc (blã) - White
cc (k) + a,o,u Je suis occupé-e (je sui-z-ôkupé) - I’m busy (m-f)

Je suis d’accord (je sui dakor) - I agree
cc (ks) + e,i,y Un accident (̃ı-n-aksidã) - An accident

Est-ce que tu acceptes ? (èske tu aksèpt) - Do you accept ?
ch (s̃) Bonne chance ! (bon s̃ãs) - Good luck
ch (k) Greek Une échographie (un ékografi) - An ultrasound
d, dd (d) Le monde (le mõd) - The world - Dans (dã) - Inside

L’eau est chaude (lô è s̃ôd) - The water is warm
d (∅) in end Le repas est chaud (le repa è s̃ô) - The meal is warm.

Il est tard (il è tar) - It’s late
e (e) + 1 cons. Parce que (parse ke) - Because - Depuis (depui) - Since

J’ai besoin de toi (jè bezw̃ı de twa) - I need you
e (è) + 2 cons. Merci (mèrsi) - Thank you - Ouvert (ũvèr) - Open

Une personne (un pèrson) - A person
è, ê, ë (è) Le père (le pèr) - Father, La mère (la mèr) - Mother

Le frère (le frèr) - The brother. , La tête (la tèt) - The head
Même (mèm) - Even, Peut-être (pẽ-t-ètr) - Maybe
Noël (noèl) - Christmas, Le père Noël - Santa Claus

é (é) Le passé (le pasé) - The past, L’été (lété) - The summer
e (∅) in end Il mange (il mãj) - He eats
e (e) in end 1 syllable De (de) - Of, Je (je) - I, Ne ... pas (ne pa) - not
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Let. (sound) Rules Examples
ei, êı (è) La tour Eiffel (la tũr èfèl) - The Eiffel tower
eil (èy) In end Le radio-réveil (radyô révèy) - The clock radio
eill (èy) La bouteille est pleine (la bũtèy è plèn) - The bottle is full

Meilleur(e) (mèyer) - Better
ein (̃ı) Nasal Le verre est plein (le vèr è pl̃ı) - The glass is full

Enceinte (ãs̃ıt) - Pregnant, Peindre (p̃ıdr) - To Paint
em, en (ã) Nasal En l’an 2000 (ã lã dẽ mil) - In 2000 - Le temps (le tã) -

Time - Encore une fois (ãkor un fwa) - Once again
emm (ãm) In begin Emmener (ãmener) - To take away
emm (am) In end Une femme (un fam) - A woman
emm (èm) Exception La flemme (la flèm) - Laziness
enn (èn) Often Un ennemi (̃ı-n-ènemi) - An enemy

L’union Européenne (lunyõ ẽrôpéèn) - European Union
enn (ãn) Sometimes Je m’ennuie (je mãnui) - I’m bored
ent (ã) in end Non verbs Comment (kômã) - How, Content (kõtã) - Happy

Vraiment (vrèmã) - Really - Souvent (sũvã) - Often
Le gouvernement (le gũvèrnemã) - The government

ent (∅) in end In verbs Ils peuvent (il pev) - They can
Ils disent (il diz) - They say

er (èr) in end Non verbs Hier (iyèr) - Yesterday, Cher (s̃èr) - Expensive (m)
er (é) in end In verbs Aimer (èmé) - To love, Aller (alé) - To go

Manger (mãjé) - To eat - Donner (dôné) - To give
es (∅) in end Often Tu manges (tu mãj) - You eat
es (é) in end 1 syllable Des (dé) - Some, Les (lé) - The (plural)
es (è) in end Exception Tu es (tu è) - You are (singular)
et (è) in end Et (è) - And - Le sujet (le sujè) - The subject
eu (ẽ) In middle L’Europe (lẽrop) - Europe - Deuxième (dẽzyèm) - Second
eu (ẽ) in end last sound Peu (pẽ) - A few - Dieu (dyẽ) - God - Deux (dẽ) - Two

Le feu (fẽ) - Fire - Il est vieux (il è vyẽ) - He is old
+ z, t Heureuse (ẽrẽz) - Happy - Neutre (nẽtr) - Neutral

eu (e) in end + r, n, v Neuf (nef) - Nine - Seul(e) (sel) - Lonely
+ f , l, . . . J’ai peur (jè per) - I’m afraid, Jeune (jen) - Young

euill (ey) Une feuille (un fey) - A leaf, a sheet
ez (é) in end Vous avez faim ? (vũ-z-avé f̃ı) - Are you hungry ? (plural)

Chez moi (ché mwa) - At my home
f, ff (f) Mon fils (mõ fis) - My son - Ma fille (ma fiy) - My daughter
g (g) + a,o,u Un garçon (̃ı garsõ) - Boy - Regarder (regardé) - Look at

+ silent u La guerre (la gèr) - The war
+ cons. Grand-e (grã-d) - Tall, Big (m-f)

g (j) + e,i,y L’argent (larjã) - Money, Les gens (lé jã) - People
Viens manger (vỹı mãjé) - Come for eating

+ silent e Un pigeon (pijõ) - Nous nageons (nũ najõ) - We swim
g (∅) in end Le sang (le sã) - The blood, C’est long (sè lõ) - It’s long
gn (ny) Gagner (ganyé) - Win - Magnifique (manyifik) - Beautiful
h (∅) L’homme (lom) - The man - Huit (uit) - Eight

Aujourd’hui (ôjũrdui) - Today - Une heure (un er) - Hour
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Let. (sound) Rules Examples
i, ı̂, ı̈ (i) Lui (lui) - Him - Pire (pir) - Worse, worst

Dire (dir) - To say, to tell - Égöıste (égôist) - Selfish
Une ı̂le (un il) - An Island, Le d̂ıner (le diné) - The supper

i (y) + vow. Un chien (̃ı s̃ỹı) - A dog, Une chienne (un s̃yèn) - Female
ien (ỹı) Nasal Rien (rỹı) - Nothing - Combien ? (kõbỹı) - How many ?

Bien (bỹı) - Well, fine, Bientôt (bỹıtô) - Soon
il (y) in end after vow. Un œil (̃ı-n-ey) - An eye
ill (iy) Une fille (un fiy) - A girl, La famille (la famiy) - The family
ill (y) after vow. Une bataille (un batay) - A battle
ill (il) Exception Une ville, Un village (vil, vilaj) - A city, A village

Mille, Million, Milliard (mil, milyõ, milyar) - Thousand,
Million, Billion - Tranquille (trãkil) - Quiet

im, in (̃ı) Nasal La fin (la f̃ı) - The end, Enfin (ãf̃ı) - Finally
Impossible (̃ıpôsibl) - Le matin (le mat̃ı) - On morning

j (j) Toujours (tũjũr) - Always, Déjà (déja) - Already
k (k) Un kilomètre (̃ı kilômètr), Un kilogramme (̃ı kilôgram)
l (l) J’ai mal dormi (jè mal dormi) - I didn’t sleep well

Que voulez-vous ? (ke vũlé vũ) - What do you want ?
ll (l) Allons-y ! (alõ-z-i) - Let’s go
ll (y) after i (see ill)
m, mm (m) Monsieur (mẽsyẽ) - Mr - Madame (madam) - Mrs

Moi (mwa) - Me - Un Ami (̃ı-n-ami) - A friend
n, nn (n) La nuit (la nui) - The night, Personne (pèrson) - Nobody

Anniversaire (anivèrsèr) - Birthday, Notre (nôtr) - Our
o (ô) in middle Often Désolé (dézôlé) - Sorry, La chronologie (la krônôlôji)

Donner (dôné) - To give - Possible (pôsibl)
o (ô) in end last sound Le dos (le dô) - The back - Un mot (̃ı mô) - A word

Trop (trô) - Too much - Vos (vô) - Your (plural)
+ z, t Une chose (un s̃ôz) - A thing - Votre (vôtr) - Your

o (o) in end + r, n, v Bon apétit (bon-apéti), Alors (alor) - Then
+ f , l, . . . Une offre (ofr) - An offer - Une école (ékol) - School

Comme (kom) - Like, As - La mort (la mor) - Death
o (o) in middle Sometimes Sortir (sortir) - To get out
ô (ô) L’hôpital (lôpital) - The hospital, Tôt (tô) - Early
oi (wa) Moi (mwa) - Me, Trois (trwa) - Three

Avoir (avwar) - To have, Une fois (un fwa) - Once
Quoi (kwa) - What, Ce soir (se swar) - Tonight

oin (w̃ı) Nasal Il a besoin de nous (il a bezw̃ı de nũ) - He needs us
Moins (mw̃ı) - Less, C’est loin (sè lw̃ı) - It’s far

om, on (õ) Nasal Mon nom est ... (mõ nõ è) - My name is ...
On arrive (õ-n-ariv) - We are coming - Bon (bõ) - Good

ou, où (ũ) Pour toi (pũr twa) - For you - Où ? (ũ) - Where ?
ou (w) + vow. Oui ou non ? (wi ũ nõ) - Yes or no ?
oy (way) Une voyelle (un vwayèl) - A vowel

Un voyage (̃ı vwayaj) - A travel
p, pp (p) Après (aprè) - After, Appeler (apelé) - To call
p (∅) in end Le temps (le tã) - The time, Beaucoup (bôkũ) - A lot
ph (f) Une photo (un fôtô) - A picture
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Let. (sound) Rules Examples
q (k) in end Cinq (s̃ık) - Five, Un coq (kok) - A rooster

+ silent u Qui, Quoi, Quand ? (ki, kwa, kã) - Who, What, When ?
Quatre (katr) - Four, Quel jour ? (kèl jũr) - Which day ?
Pourquoi ? (pũrkwa) - Why ?

r, rr (r) C’est vrai (sè vrè) - That’s true, La terre (la tèr) - Planet
earth, Sur le pont (sur le põ) - On the bridge

er (é) in end In verbs Trouver trũvé - To find
s (s) In begin Salut (salu) - Hello, Si (si) - If

Une sœur (un ser) - A sister, Sept (sèt) - Seven
after cons. Une réponse (répõs) - Answer - Penser (pãsé) - To think
bef. cons. Rester (rèsté) - To stay - L’espoir (èspwar) - Hope

s (∅) in end Mais (mè) - But, Très (trè) - Very
s (z) bet. vow. Tu as raison (tu a rèzõ) - You’re right
ss (s) Assez (asé) - Enough, Aussi (ôsi) - Also, Too
t, tt (t) Elle est prête (èl è prèt) - She is ready

Une bôıte (bwat) - A box - Une botte (bot) - A boot
th (t) Le thé (le té) - The tea
t (∅) in end Il est prêt (il è prè) - He is ready
u, ù, û (u) Je n’en veux plus (je nã vẽ plu) - I don’t want it anymore

Du temps (du tã) - Time, Du pain (du p̃ı) - Bread
un (̃ı) Un jour (̃ı jũr) - A day, Aucun jour (ôk̃ı jũr ) - No day

Chacun de nous (s̃ak̃ı de nũ) - Each of us
v (v) Où vas-tu ? (ũ va tu) - Where do you go ?

Vite (vit) - Quickly - Vous (vũ) - You (plur.)
w (w) Un sandwich (̃ı sãdwits̃), Un Watt (̃ı wat)
x (gz) ex + vow. L’hexagone (lègzagôn) - Nickname for France

Un exemple (̃ı-n-ègzãpl) - An example
x (ks) Otherwise Un taxi (̃ı taksi) - A taxi, Extra.. (èkstra..) - ”out of”

Oxygène (ôksijèn), Expliquer (èkspliké) - To explain
x (∅) in end Deux (dẽ) - Two, Mieux (myẽ) - Better
x (z) Numbers Deuxième (dẽzièm) - Second
x (s) in end Numbers Six, Dix (sis, dis) - Six, Ten
y (i) Allez-y (alé-z-i) - Go there - Il y a (il i ya) - There is
y (y) + vow. Les yeux (lé-z-yẽ) - The eyes
z (z) Onze (õz) - 11, Douze (dũz) - 12, Treize (trèz) - 13

Quatorze (katorz) - 14, Quinze (k̃ız) - 15, Seize (sèz) - 16
ez (é) in end Chez nous (s̃é nũ) - At our home

Accentuation and punctuation

Salut, comment ça va ? (salu kômã sa va) - Hi, how are you ?
Ça va bien. Tu m’as manqué ! (sa va bỹı tu ma mãké) - I’m fine. I missed you !

The accentuation (stressed sound) is light, always on the last vowel-sound of the word.

Symbol Intonation On the vowel Explanation
, Break Lut - Co Short break between the two words
? ↗ Va Increase duration, frequency and volume
. ↘ Bien Decrease duration, frequency and volume
! ↗↘ Qué Increase then decrease frequency and volume
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1.2 Basic expressions

Polite phrases

English Informal French Formal French
Hello Salut (salu) Bonjour (bõjũr)
Glad to meet you Ravi-e de te voir (ravi de te vwar) Ravi-e de vous voir (ravi de vũ vwar)
Please S’il te plâıt (sil te plè) S’il vous plâıt (sil vũ plè)
Thank you Merci (mèrsi) Merci bien (mèrsi bỹı)
You’re welcome De rien (de rỹı) Je vous en prie (je vũ-z-ã pri)

Cheers À la tienne (a la tyèn) Santé (sãté )
Enjoy your meal Bon ap’ (bo-n-ap) Bon apétit (bo-n-apéti)
Sorry Désolé-e, pardon (dézôlé, pardõ) Excusez-moi (èkskuzé mwa)
Forgive me Je suis désolé-e (je sui dézôlé) Pardonnez-moi (pardôné mwa)

See you soon À la prochaine (a la prôs̃èn) À bientôt (a bỹıtô)
Good bye Salut, Ciao (ts̃yaô), Bye Au revoir (ô revwar)
Have a nice travel Bon voyage (bõ vwayaj) Fâıtes bon voyage (fèt bõ vwayaj)
Best wishes Amuse-toi bien (amuz twa bỹı) Bonne continuation (bon cõtinuasyõ)
Good night Bonne nuit (bon-e-nui) Dormez bien (dormé bỹı)
We stay in touch On s’appelle (õ sapèl) Restons en contact (rèstõ-z-ã kõtakt)

Presentations

English Informal French
How are you ? I’m fine Comment ça va ? (kômã sa va) Ça va bien. (sa va bỹı)
Are you OK ? Yes. No. Tu vas bien ? (tu va bỹı) Oui. (wi) Non. (nõ)
What is your name ? Comment tu t’appelles ? (kômã tu tapèl)
My name is ... Je m’appelle ... (je mapèl)
What is your last name ? Quel est ton nom de famille ? (kèl è tõ nõ de famiy)
My last name is ... Mon nom de famille est ... (mõ nõ de famiy è)
How old are you ? Quel âge tu as ? (kèl aj tu a) T’as quel âge ? (ta kèl aj)
I’m ... years old J’ai .... ans. (jè ... ã)
Where are you from ? D’où tu viens ? (dũ tu vỹı) Tu viens d’où ? (tu vỹı dũ)
I’m from France/Paris Je viens de France/Paris. (je vỹı de frãs/pari)
I grew up in France in Paris J’ai grandi en France (jè grãdi ã frãs) à Paris. (a pari)
Where do you live ? Où tu habites ? (tu abit ũ)
I live in France in Paris Je vis en France (je vi ã frãs) à Paris. (a pari)
What is your profession ? Quel est ton métier ? (kèl è tõ métyé)
I am a ... My job is ... Je suis .... (je sui) Mon travail est ... (mõ travay è)
What do you like to do ? Qu’est ce que tu aimes faire ? (kèske tu èm fèr)
What did you do yesterday ? Qu’est ce que tu as fait hier ? (kèske tu a fè iyèr)
What will you do tomorrow ? Qu’est ce que tu vas faire demain ? (kèske tu va fèr demı̃)
I like to do sport J’aime bien faire du sport. (jèm bỹı fèr du spor)
Yesterday I played soccer Hier j’ai joué au foot. (iyèr jè jũé ô fũt)
Earlier, I’ve been with friends Avant, j’ai été chez des amis. (avã, jè été s̃é dé-z-ami)
Today, I’ll stay home Aujourd’hui, je reste chez moi. (ôjũrdui, je rèst-e-s̃é mwa)
Tomorrow, I’ll meet Joe Demain je vais voir Joe (demı̃, je vè vwar djô)
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Needs

English Informal French
I’m hungry. Are you ? J’ai faim. (jè f̃ı) Est-ce que tu as faim ? (èske tu a f̃ı)
What do you wanna eat ? Qu’est ce que tu veux manger ? (kèske tu vẽ mãjé)
I’m thirsty. Are you ? J’ai soif. (jè swaf) Est-ce que tu as soif ? (èske tu a swaf)
What do you wanna drink ? Qu’est ce que tu veux boire ? (kèske tu vẽ bwar)
I’m sleepy. Are you ? J’ai sommeil. (jè somèy) Est-ce que tu as sommeil ?
Do you want to sleep here ? Est-ce que tu veux dormir ici ? (èske tu vẽ dormir isi)
I’m in pain. Are you ? J’ai mal. (jè mal) Est-ce que tu as mal ? (èske tu a mal)
I have a headache. J’ai mal à la tête. (jè mal a la tèt)
Where are you hurt ? Où tu as mal ? (ũ tu a mal)
I’m hurt. Are you ? (m-f) Je suis blessé-e. (je sui blèsé) Est-ce que tu es blessé-e ?
I broke my arm. (m-f) Je me suis cassé-e le bras. (je me sui kasé le bra)
Nothing broken ? Rien de cassé ? (rỹı de kasé)
I need help. Do you ? J’ai besoin d’aide. (jè bezw̃ı dèd) Est-ce que tu as besoin d’aide ?
I need a doctor. J’ai besoin d’un médecin. (jè bezw̃ı d̃ı médes̃ı)
I need to go to the hospital J’ai besoin d’aller à l’hôpital. (dalé a lôpital)

Feelings

English Informal French
I love you. Do you love me ? Je t’aime. (je tèm) Est-ce que tu m’aimes ? (èske tu mèm)
I like you. Je t’aime bien. (je tèm bỹı)
I like potatoes J’aime les pommes de terre. (jèm lé pom de tèr)
I find you attractive. Tu me plais. (tu me plè)
I like it. Ça me plâıt. (sa me plè)
Are you happy ? (m-f) Est-ce que tu es content-e ? (èske tu è kõtã-t)
I’m (not) happy. (m-f) Je (ne) suis (pas) content-e. (je (ne) sui (pa) kõtã-t)
Are you having fun ? Est-ce que tu t’amuses ? (èske tu tamuz)
I’m having fun. Je m’amuse bien. (je mamuz bỹı)
This makes me smile. Ça me fait sourire. (sa me fè sũrir)
Smile, it’s funny. Souris, c’est rigolo. (sũri, sè rigôlô)
It makes me laugh. (neg) Ça (ne) me fait (pas) rire. (sa (ne) me fè (pa) rir)
I can’t wait to begin. J’ai hâte de commencer. (jè at de komãsé)
Do you want to do it ? Est-ce que tu veux faire ça ? (èske tu vẽ fèr sa)
I’m scared. I’m not scared. J’ai peur. (jè per) Je n’ai pas peur. (je nè pa per)
Don’t be afraid. N’aie pas peur. (nè pa per)
I’m (not) sad. Je (ne) suis (pas) triste. (je (ne) sui (pa) trist)
Don’t be sad. Ne sois pas triste. (ne swa pa trist)
I’m crying. Don’t cry. Je pleure. (je pler) Ne pleure pas. (ne pler-e-pa)
I’m (not) angry. Je (ne) suis (pas) en colère. (je (ne) sui (pa)-z-ã kolèr)
Don’t get nerved. Ne t’énerve pas. (ne ténèrv-e-pa)
I’m disappointed (m-f). Je suis déçu-e. (je sui désu)
Don’t disappoint me. Ne me déçois pas. (ne me déswa pa)
I’m (not) bored. Je (ne) m’ennuie (pas). (je (ne) mãnui (pa))
Are you bored ? Est-ce que tu t’ennuies ? (èske tu tãnui)
I’m (not) tired (m-f). Je (ne) suis (pas) fatigué-e. (je (ne) sui (pa) fatigé)
I’m (not) surprised. Ça (ne) m’étonne (pas). (sa (ne) méton (pa))
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Thoughts and words

English Informal French
You are right/wrong. Tu as raison/tort. (tu a rèzõ/tor)
I (don’t) agree. Je (ne) suis (pas) d’accord. (je (ne) sui (pa) dakor)
I’m (not) sure. (m-f) Je (ne) suis (pas) sûr-e. (je (ne) sui (pa) sur)
I (don’t) know. Je (ne) sais (pas). (je sè / je ne sè pa)
I (don’t) understand. Je (ne) comprends (pas). (je kõprã / je ne kõprã pa)
I (don’t) think so. Je (ne) pense (pas). (je pãs / je ne pãs pa)
I (don’t) want to do it. Je (ne) veux (pas) le faire. (je (ne) vẽ (pa) le fèr)
I can(’t) do it. Je (ne) peux (pas) le faire. (je (ne) pẽ (pa) le fèr)
I speak English. Je parle Anglais. (je parl ãglè)
I say ... to you Je te dis ... (je te di)
I ask ... to you Je te demande ... (je te demãd)
I answer ... to you Je te réponds ... (je te répõ)

French numbers

1 Un (̃ı) 11 Onze (õz) 10 Dix (dis) 0 Zéro (zéro)
2 Deux (dẽ) 12 Douze (dũz) 20 Vingt (ṽı) 100 Cent (sã)
3 Trois (trwa) 13 Treize (trèz) 30 Trente (trãt) 1000 Mille (mil)
4 Quatre (katr) 14 Quatorze (katorz) 40 Quarante(karãt) 106 Million (milyõ)
5 Cinq (s̃ık) 15 Quinze (k̃ız) 50 Cinquante(s̃ıkãt) 109 Milliard(milyar)

6 Six (sis) 16 Seize (sèz) 60 Soixante (swasãt) + Plus (plus)
7 Sept (sèt) 17 Dix-sept (disèt) 70 Soixante-dix (swasãt-e-dis) - Moins (mw̃ı)
8 Huit (uit) 18 Dix-huit (dizuit) 80 Quatre-vingt (katr-e-ṽı) × Fois (fwa)
9 Neuf (nef) 19 Dix-neuf (diznef) 90 Quatre-vingt dix / Divisé par

735,5 W : Sept cent trente cinq virgule cinq Watt (sèt sã trãt s̃ık virgul s̃ık wat)

Insults

The following expressions are rude. They can be used to insult people or to show your anger.

English Descriptive French Vulgar French Very vulgar French
A dumb guy Un gars stupide (stupid) Un abruti (̃ı-n-abruti) Un con (kõ)
A dumb girl Une fille stupide (stupid) Une idiote (idyot) Une conne (kon)
A bastard (m) Un méchant (més̃ã) Un connard (kônar) Un enculé (̃ı-n-ãkulé)
A bastard (f) Une méchante (més̃ãt) Une connasse (kônas) Une pétasse (pétas)
Horny (m) Un mec chaud (s̃ô) Un chien (̃ı s̃ỹı) Un porc (̃ı por)
Horny (f) Une fille chaude (s̃ôd) Une fille facile (fasil) Une salope (salop)
A prostitute Une prostituée (prôstitué) Une trâınée (trèné) Une pute (put)
That’s bad C’est mauvais (sè môvè) C’est nul (sè nul) C’est de la merde (mèrd)
Oh my god Bon sang (bõ sã) Punaise (punèz) Putain (put̃ı)
This is a mess C’est désordonné C’est le bazar (bazar) C’est le bordel (bordèl)
Fuck you Laisse moi tranquille Va te faire voir (vwar) Va te faire foutre (fũtr)
You annoy me Tu m’énerves (tu ménèrv) Tu me gonfles (gõfl) Tu me fais chier (s̃yé)
I’m done J’en ai assez (jã è asé) J’en ai marre (mar) J’en ai plein le cul (ku)
Get away Allez vous-en (alé vũ-z-ã) Casse-toi (cas twa) Dégage (dégaj) de là
Shut up Taisez-vous (tèzé vũ) Ferme-la (fèrm-e-la) Ferme ta gueule (gel)

There are many more French insults, but this is a good start.
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Slang vocabulary

These slang words are frequent in French. It is informal, quite fun, and not too rude.

English Correct French Slang French
A man Un homme (̃ı-n-om) Un mec (mèk), Un gars (ga), Un gonze (gõz)
A woman Une femme (un fam) Une nana (nana), Une gonzesse (gõzès)
A friend (m) Un ami (̃ı-n-ami) Un copain (kop̃ı), Un pote (pot)
A friend (f) Une amie (u-n-ami) Une copine (kopin), Une pote (pot)
My boyfriend Mon petit ami Mon copain, Mon mec (mèk)
My girlfriend Ma petite amie Ma copine, Ma meuf (mef)
A child (m-f) Un-e enfant (ãfã) Un-e gamin-e (gamı̃-in)
My parents Mes parents (parã) Mes vieux (vyẽ), Mes remp (rãp)
My father Mon père (pèr) Mon daron (darõ)
My mother Ma mère (mèr) Ma darone (daron), Ma reum (rem)
My brother Mon frère (frèr) Mon frangin (frãj̃ı), Mon reuf (ref)
My sister Ma sœur (ser) Ma frangine (frãjin)
A hot man Un beau garçon (bô garsõ) Un beau gosse (bô gos)
A hot woman Une jolie fille (jôli fiy) Un canon (kanõ), Une bombe (bõb)
Money De l’argent (de larjã) Du pognon (pônyõ), Du fric (frik), . . .
Ten euros Dix euros (di-z-ẽro) Dix balles (bal)
The job Le travail (travay) Le boulot (bũlô), Le taf (taf)
To work Travailler (travayé) Bosser (bôsé), Taffer (tafé)
A firm Une entreprise (ãtrepriz) Une bôıte (bwat)
A car Une voiture (vwatur) Une bagnole (banyol), Une caisse (kès)
A house Une maison (mèzõ) Une baraque (barak)
A dog Un chien (s̃ỹı) Un clebard (klèbar)
A policeman Un policier (pôlisyé) Un flic (flik), Un poulet (pũlè)
A gun Un pistolet (pistôlè) Un flingue (fl̃ıg)
To have sex Coucher (kũs̃é) avec Baiser (bèzé), Niquer (niké), Sauter (sôté)
Sex. relation. Un rapport (rapor) sexuel Un coup (kũ), Du cul (ku), Une baise (bèz)
Condom Un préservatif (prézèr..) Une capote (kapot)
Penis Le pénis (pénis) La queue (kẽ), La bite (bit)
Vagina Le vagin (vaj̃ı) Le minou (minũ), La chatte (s̃at)
Ass Les fesses (fès) Le cul (ku), Le boule (bũl)
Testicles Les testicules (tèstikul) Les boules (lé bũl), Les couilles (kũy)
Breasts Les seins (s̃ı) Les nibards (nibar), Les nichons (nis̃õ)
Blowjob Une fellation (fèlasyõ) Une pipe (pip)
Pussy licking Un cunilungus (kunil̃ıgus) Un cuni (kuni)
To eat Manger (mãjé) Bouffer (bũfé), Grailler (grayé)
To like Aimer (èmé) Kiffer (kifé)
To drink (alc.) Boire de l’alcool (alkol) Se saouler (se sũlé), Picoler (pikôlé)
Some wine Du vin (ṽı) Du pinar (pinar), Du rouge (rũj), Du jaja
A beer Une bière (byèr) Une binouse (binũz), Une mousse (mũs)
The booze L’eau de vie (ô de vi) La gnôle (nyôl), La goutte (gũt)

To be drunk Être alcoolisé (alkôlizé) Être saoul (sũ), Être bourré (bũré), . . .
A cigarette Une cigarette (sigarèt) Une clope (klop), Une tige (tij)
A joint Un joint (jw̃ı) Un pétard (pétar), Une canne (kan)

To be high Être drogué (drôgé) Être défoncé (défõsé), Être éclaté (éklaté)
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1.3 The 12 most frequent verbs

Here, we enumerate the most frequent (and most irregular) verbs in French and their uses.

Être (ètr) - To be - Past participle : Avoir été (avwar été) - To have been

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils

Present Suis Es Est Sommes Êtes Sont
je sui tu è il è nũ som vũ-z-èt il sõ

Imp. Past Étais Étais Était Étions Étiez Étaient
jétè tu étè il étè nũ étyõ vũ-z-étyé il-z-étè

Future Serai Seras Sera Serons Serez Seront
je serè tu sera il sera nũ serõ vũ seré il serõ

The verb ”Être” is the most irregular. It is used like ”To be” to describe the subject’s cha-
racteristics Je suis grand (I’m tall), emotions Je suis énervé (I’m angry), location Je suis
chez moi (I’m at home), or temporal location Nous sommes lundi (We are on monday). The
expressions C’est, c’était, ce sera (This is, was, will be) are similar to the English ones. The
expression Je suis d’accord (I agree) involves the verb ”Être” in French. The continuous present
is Je suis en train de manger (I’m eating). The verb ”Être” is a passive auxiliary for transitive
verbs : L’os a été mangé par le chien (The bone was eaten by the dog). The verb ”Être” is
a past auxiliary for a definite short list of verbs (see the list p.47). For instance, Je suis venu (I
came), Je suis resté (I stayed) are composed past forms.

Be careful with the expressions There is, I’m ... years old, the expressions of needs like I’m
in pain, I’m hungry, I’m thirsty, because they don’t involve the verb ”Être” in French.

Avoir (avwar) - To Have - Past participle : Avoir eu (avwar u) - To have had

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Ai As A Avons Avez Ont

jè tu a il a nũ-z-avõ vũ-z-avé il-z-õ
Imp. Past Avais Avais Avait Avions Aviez Avaient

javè tu avè il avè nũ-z-avyõ vũ-z-avyé il-z-avè
Future Aurai Auras Aura Aurons Aurez Auront

jôrè tu ôra il ôra nũ-z-ôrõ vũ-z-ôré il-z-ôrõ

The verb ”Avoir” is one of the most irregular. It is used like ”To have”, to express possession
J’ai un vélo (I have a bike), family members J’ai un enfant (I have a child), or what the subject
obtains or undergoes J’ai de la chance, j’ai du travail, j’ai une idée, j’ai un problème,
. . . (I have luck, work, an idea, a problem, . . . ). The expression Je n’ai rien à manger (I Have
nothing to eat) is like in English. The verb ”Avoir” is the past auxiliary for most of the French
verbs. Therefore J’ai mangé des frites (I ate fries) is a composed past form (see also p.47).

Unlike English, the expressions J’ai besoin de (I need) and J’ai confiance en (I trust in),
and J’ai l’habitude de (I usually do) involve the verb ”Avoir”. The expressions Il y a, il y avait,
il y aura (There is, was, will be), the expressions of needs J’ai faim, j’ai soif, j’ai sommeil,
j’ai mal (I’m hungry, thirsty, sleepy, in pain), the expression J’ai ... ans (I’m ... years old) also
involve the verb ”Avoir” in French.

Be careful with the expressions I have fun, I have a break, I have lunch, I have a look,
We have a talk, I have a party, because they don’t involve the verb ”Avoir” in French.
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Faire (fèr) - To Do, to make - Past participle : Avoir fait (avwar fè) - To have done

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Fais Fais Fait Faisons Fâıtes Font

je fè tu fè il fè nũ fezõ vũ fèt il fõ
Imp. Past Faisais Faisais Faisait Faisions Faisiez Faisaient

je fezè tu fezè il fezè nũ fezyõ vũ fezyé il fezè
Future Ferai Feras Fera Ferons Ferez Feront

je ferè tu fera il fera nũ ferõ vũ feré il ferõ

The verb ”Faire” is used like ”To do” to describe a lot of vague actions Je fais la vaisselle (I
clean dishes), Je fais du sport (I do sport), Je fais les courses (I do shopping), or also Faire
des bêtises, une erreur, de la musique,. . . (do stupid things, make mistakes, play music,. . . ).
The verb ”Faire” can also be used like ”To make” to describe the creation Je fais un gâteau (I
cook a cake) or manufacture of objects Je fais un meuble (I create a piece of furniture), but
sometimes other verbs are more appropriate. The expression Je fais l’amour (I have sex) is like
in English. The structure Je fais manger le chien (I feed the dog) means that the subject of
”Faire” forces the dog to accomplish the verb’s action.

Unlike ”To do” in English, the expressions of negation I don’t ... or yes-no question Do you
... ?, don’t involve the verb ”Faire” in French.

Dire (dir) - To say, to tell - Past participle : Avoir dit (avwar di) - To have said

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Dis Dis Dit Disons Dı̂tes Disent

je di tu di il di nũ dizõ vũ dit il diz
Imp. Past Disais Disais Disait Disions Disiez Disaient

je dizè tu dizè il dizè nũ dizyõ vũ dizyé il dizè
Future Dirai Diras Dira Dirons Direz Diront

je dirè tu dira il dira nũ dirõ vũ diré il dirõ

The conjugation of ”Dire” looks like the conjugation of ”Faire”. This verb has two complements,
accusative and dative Je dis tout à Maman (I say all to Mom).

Aller* (alé) - To go - Past participle : Être allé (ètr alé ) - To have gone

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Vais Vas Va Allons Allez Vont

je vè tu va il va nũ-z-alõ vũ-z-alé il võ
Imp. Past Allais Allais Allait Allions Alliez Allaient

jalè tu alè il alè nũ-z-alyõ vũ-z-alyé il-z-alè
Future Irai Iras Ira Irons Irez Iront

jirè tu ira il ira nũ-z-irõ vũ-z-iré il-z-irõ

The verb ”Aller” is the only irregular verb finishing with ”-ER”. It is used like ”To go” to
describe movements Je vais chez moi (I go to my home). Its auxiliary for past is ”Être” and
not ”Avoir”. Unlike English, ”Aller” has always a place complement, that can be introduced by
a space preposition Je vais à Paris, Je vais en France, . . . (I go to Paris, to France) or the
demonstrative pronoun Y : J’y vais (I go there). The expressions Vas-y (Go), Allons-y (Let’s
go), Allez-y (Go) look like the English ones. The expression Je m’en vais (I leave), Je vais
bien (I’m fine), Je vais mal (I feel bad) involve the verb ”Aller” in French. The verb ”Aller” is
also a modal for future, like ”Will” in English Je vais manger (I will eat).
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Pouvoir (pũvwar) - Can - Past part. : Avoir pu (avwar pu) - To have been able to

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Peux Peux Peut Pouvons Pouvez Peuvent

je pẽ tu pẽ il pẽ nũ pũvõ vũ pũvé il pev
Imp. Past Pouvais Pouvais Pouvait Pouvions Pouviez Pouvaient

je pũvè tu pũvè il pũvè nũ pũvyõ vũ pũvyé il pũvè
Future Pourrai Pourras Pourra Pourrons Pourrez Pourront

je pũrè tu pũra il pũra nũ pũrõ vũ pũré il pũrõ

The verb ”Pouvoir” is used like ”Can” in English as a modal to describe a faculty Je peux y
arriver (I can reach it), possibility On peut se voir (We can meet) or authorization Ici on
peut fumer (Here it is allowed to smoke).

Be careful with the expressions to describe abilities you have learnt, I can swim, play music,
speak French,. . . , rather use the verb ”Savoir” (To know) instead of ”Pouvoir”.

Vouloir (vũlwar) - To want - Past participle : Avoir voulu (avwar vũlu ) - To have wanted

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Veux Veux Veut Voulons Voulez Veulent

je vẽ tu vẽ il vẽ nũ vũlõ vũ vũlé il vel
Imp. Past Voulais Voulais Voulait Voulions Vouliez Voulaient

je vũlè tu vũlè il vũlè nũ vũlyõ vũ vũlyé il vũlè
Future Voudrai Voudras Voudra Voudrons Voudrez Voudront

je vũdrè tu vũdra il vũdra nũ vũdrõ vũdré il vũdrõ

This verb is a modal Je veux manger (I want to eat) or a transitive verb Je veux ta voiture
(I want your car) to describe desires like ”Want” in English.

Devoir (devwar) - Must - Past part. : Avoir du (avwar du) - To have had to

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Dois Dois Doit Devons Devez Doivent

je dwa tu dwa il dwa nũ devõ vũ devé il dwav
Imp. Past Devais Devais Devait Devions Deviez Devaient

je devè tu devè il devè nũ devyõ vũ devyé il devè
Future Devrai Devras Devra Devrons Devrez Devront

je devrè tu devra il devra nũ devrõ vũ devré il devrõ

This verb is a modal to describe duties like in English Je dois manger (I must eat) or likely
events Tu dois avoir froid (You must be cold).

Voir (vwar) - To see - Past participle : Avoir vu (avwar vu) - To have seen

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Vois Vois Voit Voyons Voyez Voient

je vwa tu vwa il vwa nũ vwayõ vũ vwayé il vwa
Imp. Past Voyais Voyais Voyait Voyions Voyiez Voyaient

je vwayè tu vwayè il vwayè nũ vwayõ vũ vwayé il vwayè
Future Verrai Verras Verra Verrons Verrez Verront

je vèrè tu vèra il vèra nũ vèrõ vũ vèré il vèrõ

The verb ”Voir” describes visual perceptions Je vois le pont (I see the bridge), or meeting Je
verrai mes parents demain (I’ll meet my parents tomorrow).
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Venir* (venir) - To come - Past participle : Être venu (ètr venu ) - To have come

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Viens Viens Vient Venons Venez Viennent

je vỹı tu vỹı il vỹı nũ venõ vũ vené il vyèn
Imp. Past Venais Venais Venait Venions Veniez Venaient

je venè tu venè il venè nũ venyõ vũ venyé il venè
Future Viendrai Viendras Viendra Viendrons Viendrez Viendront

je vỹıdrè tu vỹıdra il vỹıdra nũ vỹıdrõ vũ vỹıdré il vỹıdrõ

The verb ”Venir” is used like ”To come” in English, when the subject is moving from elsewhere
to the listener Je viens (I’m coming to you). Its past auxiliary is ”Être” and not ”Avoir”. The
verb ”Venir de” can be used as a modal to express close past : Je viens de manger (I finished
eating just now) means that the action of the verb took place in the very near past.

Prendre (prãdr) - To take - Past participle : Avoir pris (avwar pri) - To have taken

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Prends Prends Prend Prenons Prenez Prennent

je prã tu prã il prã nũ prenõ vũ prené il prèn
Imp. Past Prenais Prenais Prenait Prenions Preniez Prenaient

je prenè tu prenè il prenè nũ prenyõ vũ prenyé il prenè
Future Prendrai Prendras Prendra Prendrons Prendrez Prendront

je prãdrè tu prãdra il prãdra nũ prãdrõ vũ prãdré il prãdrõ

The verb ”Prendre” is used like ”To take” in English when the subject grabs a thing Je prends
le chèque (I’ll take the check), or takes a thing away Je prends mes affaires (I take my stuff),
or uses a vehicle Je prends le bus (I use the bus). It is also used when the subject obtains
something in purpose Je prends une pause, un café, un verre, un moment (I have a break,
a coffee, a drink, a moment) or undergoes a sudden thing J’ai pris une amende (I was fined),
j’ai pris un coup de poing (I was punched).

Trouver (trũvé) - To find - Past participle : Avoir trouvé (avwar trũvé) - To have found

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Trouve Trouves Trouve Trouvons Trouvez Trouvent

je trũv tu trũv il trũv nũ trũvõ vũ trũvé il trũv
Imp. Past Trouvais Trouvais Trouvait Trouvions Trouviez Trouvaient

je trũvè tu trũvè il trũvè nũ trũvyõ vũ trũvyé il trũvè
Future Trouverai Trouveras Trouvera Trouverons Trouverez Trouveront

je trũverè tu trũvera il trũvera nũ trũverõ vũ trũveré il trũverõ

This verb is regular ! It is used when the subject discovers something hidden J’ai trouvé mes clés
(I found my keys), or when he gives his opinion Je te trouve magnifique (I find you gorgeous).
The expression Je me trouve en France (I’m located in France) means a static location almost
like ”To be”.
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1.4 Basic grammatical structures and tenses

We illustrate some frequent grammatical structures with the following four sentences.

Affirmation : (Subject) (Verb) (Complement)
Intransitive Joe nage. (djô naj) Joe swims.
Accusative Ana voit Joe. (ana vwa djô) Ana sees Joe

Dative Joe parle à Ana (djô parl a ana) Joe talks to Ana.
Prepositional Ana va à Paris. (ana va a pari) Ana goes to Paris.

To read correctly the symbol . at the end of a sentence, you need to decrease the volume, duration
and frequency of your voice for the last vowel sound of the sentence.

Negation : (Subject) ne (Verb) pas (Complement)
Joe ne nage pas. (djô ne naj pa) Joe doesn’t swim.

Ana ne voit pas Joe. (ana ne vwa pa djô) Ana doesn’t see Joe.
Joe ne parle pas à Ana. (djô ne parl-e-pa-z-a ana) Joe doesn’t talk to Ana.

Ana ne va pas à Paris. (ana ne va pa-z-a pari) Ana doesn’t go to Paris.

French negation is formulated by the adverbs Ne ... pas around the verb (details p.33).

Question : (Est-ce que) (Subject) (Verb) (Complement) ?
Est-ce que Joe nage ? (èske djô naj ?) Does Joe swim ?

Est-ce que Ana voit Joe ? (èske ana vwa djô ?) Does Ana see Joe ?
Est-ce que Joe parle à Ana ? (èske djô parl a ana ?) Does Joe talk to Ana ?
Est-ce que Ana va à Paris ? (èske ana va a pari ?) Does Ana go to Paris ?

The structure Est-ce que ... ? around the whole sentence makes it interrogative, in all tenses.
This is the way to ask ”yes-no” questions. To ask other kind of questions, see also p.28.

Present continuous : (Subject) (Être en train de) (Verb in infinitive) (Complement)
Joe est en train de nager. (djô è-t-ã tr̃ı de najé) Joe is swimming.

Ana est en train de voir Joe. (ana è-t-ã tr̃ı de vwar djô) Ana is seeing Joe.
Joe est en train de parler à Ana. (djô è-t-ã tr̃ı de parlé a ana) Joe is talking to Ana.

Ana est en train d’aller à Paris. (ana è-t-ã tr̃ı dalé a pari) Ana is going to Paris.

This structure for present continuous also works for future continuous if you conjugate ”Être” to
the future tense Je serai en train de ... (I will be ...ing), or past continuous if you conjugate
the ”Être” to the imperfective past tense J’étais en train de ... (I was ....ing).

Habit in present : (Subject) (Avoir l’habitude de) (Verb in infinitive) (Complement)
Joe a l’habitude de nager. (djô a labitud de najé) Joe usually swims.

Ana a l’habitude de voir Joe. (ana a labitud de vwar djô) Ana usually sees Joe.
Joe a l’habitude de parler à Ana. (djô a labitud de parlé a ana) Joe usually talks to Ana.

Ana a l’habitude d’aller à Paris. (ana a labitud dalé a pari) Ana usually goes to Paris.

This structure for habit in the present also works for a habit in past if you conjugate ”Avoir” to
the imperfective past tense J’avais l’habitude de ... (I used to ...).
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Imperative : (Verb) (Complement)

Nage ! (naj) (Joe,) Swim !
Regarde Joe ! (regard djô) (Ana,) Look at Joe !
Parle à Ana ! (parl a ana) (Joe,) Talk to Ana !

Va à Paris ! (va a pari) (Ana,) Go to Paris !

For imperative, just remove the subject Tu, Nous, Vous and sound the verb normally (except
for the verbs Être, Avoir see p.45). The imperative exists only in present tense.

Standard future tense (Subject) (Verb in future) (Complement)
Joe nagera. (djô najera) Joe will swim.

Ana verra Joe. (ana vèra djô) Ana will see Joe.
Joe parlera à Ana. (djô parlera a ana) Joe will talk to Ana.

Ana ira à Paris. (ana ira a pari) Ana will go to Paris.

The standard future tense can be used to be formal, or to describe a far away future.

Composed future tense : (Subject) (Aller) (Verb in infinitive) (Complement)
Joe va nager. (djô va najé) Joe’s going to swim.

Ana va voir Joe. (ana va vwar djô) Ana’s going to see Joe.
Joe va parler à Ana. (djô va parlé a ana) Joe’s going to talk to Ana.
Ana va aller à Paris. (ana va alé a pari) Ana’s going to go to Paris.

The composed future tense is more informal, more certain, or closer in the future (see also p.48).

Composed past tense : (Subject) (Avoir or Être) (Verb in participle) (Complement)
Joe a nagé. (djô a najé) Joe swam.

Ana a vu Joe. (ana a vu djô) Ana saw Joe.
Joe a parlé à Ana. (djô a parlé a ana) Joe talked to Ana.

Ana est allée à Paris. (ana è-t-alé a pari) Ana went to Paris.

The composed past tense is the main perfective past (like English preterite). It describes the
accomplishment of an action, or an isolated point in the past (see also p.47).

Imperfective Past tense : (Subject) (Verb in past) (Complement)
Joe nageait. (djô najè) Joe (used to swim/was swimming).

Ana voyait Joe. (ana vwayè djô) Ana (used to see/was seeing) Joe.
Joe parlait à Ana. (djô parlè a ana) Joe (used to talk/was talking) to Ana.
Ana allait à Paris. (ana alè-t-a pari) Ana (used to go/was going) to Paris.

The imperfective past tense is imperfective, used to describe the unfolding of an action or an habit
in the past. It can be mixed with the composed past J’avais vu.. (I had seen ..), J’étais allé..
(I was gone...) to describe a moment before the past (see p.46).

Past very close : (Subject) (Venir) de (Verb in infinitive) (Complement)
Joe vient de nager. (djô vỹı de najé) Joe just swam.

Ana vient de voir Joe. (ana vỹı de vwar djô) Ana just saw Joe.
Joe vient de parler à Ana. (djô vỹı de parlé a ana) Joe just talked to Ana.

Ana vient d’aller à Paris. (ana vỹı dalé a pari) Ana just went to Paris.

With this structure, you can in insist on the proximity of the action in the past.
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1.5 Time

Here are all the common nouns to speak about time locations and durations.

Le temps (le tã) - The time
Un jour (jũr) - Day Un mois (mwa) - Month Une durée (duré) - Duration

Le lundi (l̃ıdi) (Le mois de) Janvier (jãvyé) Une seconde (segõd) - Second
Le mardi (mardi) Février (févriyé) Une minute (minut) - Minute

Le mercredi (mèrkredi) Mars (mars) Une heure (er) - Hour
Le jeudi (jẽdi) Avril (avril) Un jour (jũr) - Day

Le vendredi (vãdredi) Mai (mè) Une journée (jũrné) - Day
Le samedi (samedi) Juin (jw̃ı) Une semaine (semèn) - Week

Le dimanche (dimãs̃) Juillet (juiyè) Un mois (mwa) - Month
Une saison (sèzõ) - Season Août (ũt) Un an (ã) - Year

L(e)’été (été) - Summer Septembre (sèptãbr) Une année (ané) - Year
L(e)’hiver (ivèr) - Winter Octobre (oktobr) Une décénie (déséni) - Decade

Le printemps (pr̃ıtã) - Spring Novembre (nôvãbr) Un siècle (syèkl) - Century
L(e)’automne (ôton) - Autumn Décembre (désãbr) Un millénaire - Millennium

Le matin (mat̃ı) 5h-12h Le jour (jũr) - Sunlight Le passé (pasé) - Past
Midi (midi) 12h La nuit (nui) - Night Le présent (prézã) - Present

L(e)’après-midi 12h-18h La veille - Previous day Le futur, L(e)’avenir - Future
Le soir (swar) 18h-24h Le lendemain - Next day Le début (débu) - Beginning
Minuit (minui) 00h La suite (suit) - Sequel La fin (f̃ı) - End

Une fois (fwa) - A time Un instant (̃ıstã) - A moment Une époque (épok) - An era
Deux fois - Two times Un moment (mômã) - A moment Une période (péryod) - Period

If you want to describe the present moment, these are the useful expressions.

Quelle heure est-il ? (kèl er è-t-il) - What time is it ?
08 : 00 Il est huit heures pile (pil) Huit heures du matin (uit er du mat̃ı)
08 : 15 Huit heures et quart (è kar) Huit heures quinze (uit er k̃ız)
08 : 30 Huit heures et demi (è demi) Huit heures trente (uit er trãt)
08 : 45 Neuf heures moins quart (mw̃ı kar) Huit heures quarante cinq (uit er karãt s̃ık)
08 : 50 Neuf heures moins dix (mw̃ı dis) Huit heures cinquante (uit er s̃ıkãt)

Quel jour sommes-nous ? (kèl jũr som nũ) - Which day is it today ?
Sun. 01/01/23 C’est le premier janvier (premyé jãvyé) On est dimanche.
Mon. 02/01/23 On est le deux janvier (dẽ jãvyé) On est en janvier.
Tue. 03/01/23 Nous sommes le trois janvier (trwa jãvyé) On est en hiver.
Wed. 04/01/23 On est le quatre (katr jãvyé) On est en 2023.

If you want to describe a non-present moment, add À for hours.

À quelle heure ... ? (a kèl er) À 17h. (a disèter) What time ... ? At 5 p.m.
Quel jour ... ? (kèl jũr) Mardi. (mardi) On which day ... ? On Tuesday.

En quelle année ... ? (ã kèl ané) En 2000. (ã dẽ mil) Which year ... ? In 2000.

À quel moment ... ? (a kèl mômã) Maintenant. (mı̃tenã) At which moment ... ? Now.
Quand ... ? (kã) Hier, demain (iyèr, demı̃) When ... ? Yesterday, tomorrow.

Depuis quand ... ? Depuis hier. (depui iyèr) Since when ... ? Since yesterday.
Jusqu’à quand ... ? Jusqu’à demain. (juska demı̃) Until when ... ? Until tomorrow.

The expression Depuis + moment (Since) refers to the period from the moment (in past) until
now, and Jusqu’à + moment (Until) refers to the period from now to the moment (in future).
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Here we list different adverb-type words to describe instants and periods around the present.

Le passé (pasé) Le présent (prézã) Le futur (futur)
Avant (avã) - Before Maintenant (mı̃tenã) - Now Après (aprè) - After

D’abord (dabor) - First Tout de suite - Right now Ensuite (ãsuit) - Then

Il y a 2h (il i ya dẽ-z-er) (- 2h ago) (In 2h +) Dans 2h (dã dẽ-z-er)
Tout à l’heure (- A short time ago) (In a short time +) Tout à l’heure

Hier (iyèr) (- 1 day) −→ Aujourd’hui (ôjũrdui) −→ (1 day +) Demain (demı̃)
Avant-hier (- 2 days) (2 days +) Après-demain

La sem. dernière (-1 w.k) → Cette semaine (sèt semèn) → (1 w.k +) La sem. prochaine
Il y a 10 jours (- 10 days ago) (In 10 days +) Dans 10 jours

Le mois dernier (- 1 mon.) → Ce mois-ci (se mwa si) → (1 mon. +) Le mois prochain
Il y a 3 mois (- 3 months ago) (In 3 months +) Dans 3 mois

L’année dernière (-1 year) −→ Cette année (sèt ané) −→ (1 year +) L’année prochaine
Il y a longtemps (- A long time ago) (In a long time +) Dans longtemps

To ask a duration, we use the next expressions :

Duration Combien de temps dure le film ? How long is the movie ?
Till now Depuis combien de temps tu es malade ? How long have you been sick ?

From now Pendant combien de temps tu vas mentir ? How long will you still lie ?

To describe a period, you can use the following prepositions :

Depuis 2 ans (For) - The last two years À partir de mardi (From) - Starting Tuesday
Pendant encore 2 ans (For) - The next... Jusqu’à mardi (To) - Ending Tuesday

The other pronoun-type words to describe time are :

Negative Je ne te prêterai jamais (jamè) ma voiture. I’ll never lend you my car.
Total Je t’aimerai pour toujours (tũjũr). I’ll always love you.

Unknown À un moment (a ı̃ mômã) j’ai perdu mes clés. At a moment, I lost my keys.
Indefinite Je peux partir n’importe quand (ñıport-e-kã) - I can leave at any moment.
Relative Viens quand (kã) tu veux. Come when you want
Relative Tu pars au moment où (ô mômã ũ) j’arrive. You leave when I arrive.

The conjunctions to describe the chronology between (1 : I eat) and (2 : I clean dish) are :

(1) = (2) Je mange quand / pendant que / lorsque je fais la vaisselle (weird).
(1) < (2) Je mange puis / et ensuite / et après je fais la vaisselle.
(2) > (1) Je fais la vaisselle après que j’ai mangé.

The following adverbs specify the timing of actions :

Tôt (tô) - Early Encore (ãkor) - Still Déjà (déja) - Already
Tard (tar) - Late Ne ... pas encore - Not yet Ne ... plus - Not anymore

À nouveau (a nũvô) - Again Bientôt (bỹıtô) - Soon Désormais - From now
Soudain (sũd̃ı) - Suddenly Enfin (ãf̃ı) - At last Autrefois - A long time ago

The exact frequencies are described with the expression Je fais du sport cinq fois par an
(I do sport five times a year), and for vague frequencies you can use the following adverbs :

Ne ... Jamais < Rarement < Parfois < Souvent < Tout le temps
Never Rarely Sometimes Often Very often
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2 French grammar

2.1 Articles and determiners

In both French and English, every noun must be preceded by a determiner or article. The
articles agree in gender (m,f) and number (s,p). Here are the most important articles.

Un (ms), Une (fs), Des (p) : a (s), some (p) (indefinite articles)

M : Un homme (̃ı-n-om), Un mari (̃ı mari) - A man, A husband
F : Une femme (un fam), Une épouse (un-épũz) - A woman, A wife.

P : Des hommes (dé-z-om), Des femmes (dé fam) - Men, Women

Le, L’ (ms), La, L’ (fs), Les (p) : the (definite articles)

M : L’homme (lom), Le mari (le mari) - The man, The husband
F : La femme (la fam), L’épouse (lépũz) - The woman, The wife.

P : Les hommes (lé-z-om), Les femmes (lé fam) - The men, The women

Du*, De l’ (ms), De la, De l’(fs) : some (uncountable articles, always singular)

M : Du vin (du ṽı), De l’alcool (de lalkol) - Wine, alcohol
F : De la bière (de la byèr), De l’eau (de lô) - Beer, water

After the preposition À (To, In, details p.30) the articles ”le” and ”les” are contracted with
the preposition : we write Au instead of À le and Aux instead of À les.

Retournez au travail. (retũrné ô travay) - Go back to work.
Je suis aux toilettes. (je sui ô twalèt) - I am in the bathroom.

Viens à la maison. (vỹı a la mèzõ) - Come to my house.

After the preposition De (Of, From, uncountable quantity, details p.30) the articles ”le”, ”les”
and ”des” are contracted with the preposition too. We say Du instead of De le, Des instead of
De les, and De, d’ instead of De des.

J’ai les clés du camion. (jè lé klé du kamyõ) - I have the truck’s keys.
Il rentre des États-Unis. (il rãtr-e-dé-z-éta-z-uni) - He comes back from U.S.A.
Il y a des merdes de chiens. (il i ya dé mèrd-e-de s̃ỹı) - There are dogs’ shits.

Possessive and demonstrative articles

Mon (ms), Ma, Mon* (fs), Mes (p) : My - Ma mère (ma mèr) - My mother.
When the next feminine noun begins with a vowel, we use Mon (mõ-n-) instead of ”Ma”.

Ton (ms), Ta, Ton* (fs), Tes (p) : Your - Ton père (tõ pèr) - Your father.
Again, we use Ton (tõ-n-) before a vowel even feminine, instead of ”Ta”.

Son (ms), Sa, Son* (fs), Ses (p) : His/her - Ses enfants (sé-z-ãfã) - His/Her children.
Unlike in English, the third-person possessive article doesn’t agree with the owner.

Notre (s), Nos (p) : Our - Notre mère (nôtr-e-mèr) - Our mother.
Votre (s), Vos (p) : Your - Votre père (vôtr-e-pèr) - Your father.
Leur (s), Leurs (p) : Their - Leurs enfants (ler-z-ãfã) - Their children.
Ce, Cet* (m), Cette (f), Ces (p) : This, These - Cette famille (sèt-e-famiy) - This family.

When the next masculine noun begins with a vowel, we use Cet (sè-t-) instead of ”Ce”. Moreover,
these demonstrative articles can also be translated as That, Those.
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Countable determiners

Here we list other determiners from the lowest to the biggest number.
— Ne ... Pas de, Ne ... Pas d’ (s or p) : negation of a transitive verb

Je n’ai pas d’enfants. (je nè pa dãfã). I don’t have children.
Je ne vois pas de voiture. (je ne vwa pa de vwatur). I don’t see any car.

— Ne ... Aucun (ms), Ne ... Aucune (fs) : no, none of
Il n’y a aucune issue. (il ni ya ôkun isu) - There is no way out

— N’importe quel (ms), N’importe quelle (fs) : any
J’accepterai n’importe quel travail. (jaksèpterè ñıport-e-kèl travay) - I’ll accept any job.

— Peu de, Peu d’ (p) : few
J’ai peu d’amis. (jè pẽ dami) - I have few friends.

— Certains (mp), certaines (fp) : some
Certaines personnes m’ont trahi. (sèrtèn pèrson mõ trai) - Some people betrayed me.

— Quelques (p) : some, a few
Revenez dans quelques jours. (revené dã kèlke jũr) - Come back in a few days.

— Plusieurs (p) : several
Il y a plusieurs solutions. (il ya pluzyer sôlusyõ) - There are several solutions.

— Beaucoup de, Beaucoup d’ (p) : many, lot of
Beaucoup de choses ont changé. (bôkũ de s̃ôz õ s̃ãjé) - Many things have changed.

— Chaque (s) : each (always singular)
Je viens ici chaque jour. (je vỹı-z-isi s̃ak jũr) - I come here everyday.

— Tous les (mp), Toutes les (fp) : each, every
Il a tous les droits. (il a tũ lé drwa) - He thinks he can do whatever he wants.

Uncountable determiners

The previous countable determiners Peu de, Beaucoup de, Tous les, become uncountable
if they are made singular.

— Peu de, Peu d’ (s) : little
J’ai peu de temps libre. (jè pẽ de tã libr) - I have little free time.

— Beaucoup de, Beaucoup d’ (s) : plenty of
Il faut boire beaucoup d’eau. (il fô bwar bôkũ dô) - You need to drink plenty of water.

— Tout le (ms), Toute la (fs) : the whole
Nous avons bu toute la bouteille. (nũ-z-avõ bu tũt la bũtèy) - We drank the whole bottle.

Interrogative determiners

— Combien de, Combien d’ (p) ? : How many ?
Combien de jours tu restes ? (kõbỹı de jũr tu rèst) - How many days will you stay ?

— Combien de, Combien d’ (s) ? : How much ?
Combien d’argent tu veux ? (kõbỹı darjã tu vẽ) - How much money do you want ?

— Combien de temps ? : How long ?
Combien de temps ça prend ? (kõbỹı de tã sa prã) - How long does it take ?

— Quel (ms), Quelle (fs), Quels (mp), Quelles (fp) ? : which ? what ?
Quel temps il fait ? (kèl tã il fè) - What is the weather like ?

Quel âge tu as ? (kèl aj tu a) - How old are you ?
Quels jours tu travailles ? (kèl jũr tu travay) - On which days do you work ?

À quelle distance est le centre ? (a kèl distãs è le sãtr) - How far is the center ?
The ”how-adjective” questions in English can often be translated as ”Quel-noun” questions.
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2.2 Nouns

Gender of the nouns

In French, each noun has a gender, masculine or feminine. Its determiner or article agrees with
it, hence it can show the noun’s gender :

Masculine nouns Feminine nouns
Un homme (̃ı-n-om) - A man Une femme (un fam) - A woman
Le temps (le tã) - The time La vie (la vi) - The life
De l’argent (de larjã) - Money De l’eau (de lô) - Water
. . . . . .

The singular articles Un, Le, Du, Au (indefinite, definite, genitive, dative) show the noun
is masculine. The articles Une, La, De la, À la show the noun is feminine. The plural articles
Des, Les or the contracted articles L’, De l’, À l’ can work for the both genders.

Most of the nouns describing a person or an animal have the same gender as the sex (masculine
for male, feminine for female) : Un papa, Une maman. Moreover, there are terminations that
show the gender of a noun :

Feminine termination eté esse itude euse tion sion ure ance ence ette ie
Sound eté ès itud ẽz syõ zyõ ur ãs ãs èt i

Masculine termination ment age al eau ent isme
Sound mã aj al ô ã ism

Otherwise, it can be difficult to guess the gender of a noun. You can’t always tell the gender of a
word by its ending. You have to learn the gender at the same time as you learn the noun.

Plural form of the nouns

All the nouns agree in number : they all have a singular and a plural form introduced by Des,
Les, Des, Aux (or other determiners) : Des hommes, des femmes (Men, women).

Regular plural forms
Singular end d,e,. . . s x z eu eau al
Plural end ds,es,. . . s* x* z* eux* eaux* aux*

Most of the plural forms of nouns are obtained by adding a silent letter + s to the singular form :
Un jour→Des jours (Day-s). When the noun already finishes with a s, x or z, it is invariant
in plural : Une fois→Deux fois (One time, two times). When a noun finishes with eu, or eau,
its plural form takes a + x : Un dieu → Des dieux (God-s). Finally, when a masculine noun
finishes with al, its plural form ends in aux : Un cheval → des chevaux (Horse-s).

All the irregular plural forms
Word Wrong plural Good plural form
Un bijou (̃ı bijũ) - A jewel Des bijous Des bijoux (dé bijũ)
Un caillou (̃ı kayũ) - A pebble Des caillous Des cailloux (dé kayũ)
Un chou (̃ı s̃ũ) - A cabbage Des chous Des choux (dé s̃ũ)
Un genou (̃ı jenũ) - A knee Les genous Les genoux (lé jenũ)
Un festival (̃ı fèstival) - A festival Des festivaux Des festivals (dé fèstival)
Un bal (̃ı bal) - A dance party Des baux Des bals (dé bal)
Un chacal (̃ı s̃akal) - A jackal Des chacaux Des chacals (dé s̃akal)
Du travail (du travay) - Work Des travails Des travaux (dé travô)
Un oeil (̃ı-n-ey) - An eye Des oeils Des yeux (dé-z-yẽ)
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2.3 Adjectives

In French, the adjectives have four forms : masculine (ms), feminine (fs), masculine plural
(mp), and feminine plural (fp). They agree with the noun they specify, in gender and in number.

Feminine form of adjectives

Most of the time, to agree into feminine gender, you need to add a + e in the end of the
masculine form and it sounds differently : Petit (peti)→Petite (petit) (Small). Here we recall all
the regular agreements in feminine with * when it’s different :

Regular feminine forms :
ms end d, i, l, n, r, s, t, u e f g il-el ien er eau eux
fs end de, ie, le, ne . . . e* ve* gue* ille-elle* ienne* ère* elle* euse*

There are examples p.66. Some adjectives (not many) have an irregular feminine form :

All the irregular feminine forms.
Blanc6→ Blance → Blanche* - White Fou 6→ Foue →Folle* - Crazy

Sec6→ Sece →Sèche* - Dry Vieux 6→ Vieuse →Vielle* - Old
Public6→ Publice →Publique* - Public Faux 6→ Fause →Fausse* - False

Bon6→ Bone →Bonne* - Good Doux 6→ Douse →Douce* - Sweet
Bas 6→ Base →Basse* - Low Frais 6→ Fraise →Frâıche* - Fresh

Gros 6→ Grose →Grosse* - Fat Secret 6→ Secrete →Secrète* - Secret

Plural forms of adjectives

To agree in feminine plural, always add a silent + s to the feminine form : Vieille→Vieilles.
This rule is also true for masculine gender most of the time : Petit→Petits (Small). But when the
adjective finishes with eau, its masculine plural takes a + x : Beau→Beaux (Beautiful). When
the masculine form already finishes with s or x, it is invariant in plural : Mauvais→Mauvais
(Bad), Faux→Faux (False). Finally, when an adjective finishes with al, its plural form is in aux
instead of als (like for nouns) : Final→Finaux (Final).

Plural forms
ms end d,e,. . . al eau s x fs end e
mp end ds,es,. . . aux* eaux* s* x* fp end es

Order of the words

Normally, the adjective in French are placed after the noun they specify. But there is a well-
defined list of adjectives that must be placed before the noun they specify.

All the adjectives before the noun
Grand-e (grã-d) - Big Vieux-vieille (vyẽ-vyèy) - Old Même (mèm) - Same
Petit-e (peti-t) - Small Jeune (jen) - Young Autre (ôtr) - Other

Bon-Bonne (bõ-bon) - Good Beau-Belle (bô-bèl) - Beautiful Ancien-nne - Ancient
Mauvais-e (môvè-z) - Bad Joli-e (jôli) - Pretty Nouveau-elle - New

Premier-ère - First Cher-chère (s̃èr) - Dear Long-longue (lõ-g) - Long
Deuxième - Second Pauvre (pôvr) - Unfortunate Court-e (cũr-t) - Short

. . . Vrai-e (vrè) - True Haut-e (ô-t) - Important
Dernier-ère - Last Faux-fausse (fô-s) - Untrue Gros-Grosse (grô-s) - Huge
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2.4 Pronouns

Personal pronouns

The personal pronouns can represent the subject of a verb.

Pronoun English Example
Je, j’ I Je t’aime. (je tèm) - I love you.

J’aime mon fils. (jèm mõ fis) - I love my son.
Tu You (sing.) Tu veux rester ? (tu vẽ rèsté) - Do you want to stay ?
Il He Il arrive bientôt. (il ariv bỹıtô) - He is coming soon.

It Il (le café) est froid. (il è frwa) - It (the coffee) is cold.
Elle She Elle m’attend. (èl matã) - She is waiting for me.

It Elle (la voiture) va vite. (èl va vit) - It (the car) is fast.
On We On est chez toi. (õ-n-è s̃é twa) - We are at your home.

They (imp.) On m’a déjà dit ça. (õ ma déja di sa) - They already told me.
Nous We Nous sommes chez toi (nũ som s̃é twa) - We are at your home.
Vous You (plur.) Vous voulez rester ? (vũ vũlé rèsté) - Do you want to stay ?

You (formal) Que voulez-vous ? (ke vũlé vũ) - What do you want ?
Ils They (masc.) Ils arrivent bientôt. (il-z-ariv bỹıtô) - They are coming soon.

Elles They (fem.) Elles arrivent bientôt. (èl-z-ariv bỹıtô) - They are coming soon.

As usual, Je (je) is abbreviated to J’ (j) when the next verb begins with a vowel. The pro-
noun Tu refers to a single person. Only use Tu with people you know, otherwise, Vous is more
appropriate. The pronouns Il, Elle, can mean ”It” when they refer to a noun of the same gender.
The pronoun On means ”They” (indefinite subject), but in informal French it means ”We”. The
pronoun Vous can refer to several people, or it can also be a mark of respect for one person.

There are four declension cases for personal pronouns in French (only two in English).

Declensions of personal pronouns
N (Subject) A (Accusative) D (Dative) P (Prepositional)

(Pronoun) swims Joe sees (Pronoun) Joe talks to (Pronoun) For (Pronoun)
Je (je) nage Joe me (me) voit Joe me (me) parle pour moi (mwa)

Tu (tu) nages Joe te (te) voit Joe te (te) parle pour toi (twa)
Il (il) nage Joe le (le) voit Joe lui (lui) parle pour lui (lui)

Elle (èl) nage Joe la (la) voit Joe lui (lui) parle pour elle (èl)
On (õ) nage - - -

Nous (nũ) nageons Joe nous (nũ) voit Joe nous (nũ) parle pour nous (nũ)
Vous (vũ) nagez Joe vous (vũ) voit Joe vous (vũ) parle pour vous (vũ)
Ils (il) nagent Joe les (lé) voit Joe leur (ler) parle pour eux (ẽ)

Elles (èl) nagent Joe les (lé) voit Joe leur (ler) parle pour elles (èl)

— N : nominative (subject). When the pronoun is the subject of the next verb.
— A : accusative complement. When the pronoun is the direct object of the verb action.
— D : dative complement. When the pronoun refers to the recipient of the action of the verb.
— P : prepositional form. When the pronoun is after a preposition. This case is also used when

the pronoun is after the verb, or to insist on the pronoun, or in demonstrative situations.

Tu fais les travaux toi-même ? (tu fè lé travô twa mèm) - You do the works by yourself ?
Toi, je vais te péter la gueule. (twa, je vè te pété la gel) - You, I’ll punch you in the face.

Joe l’a dit à toi, personne d’autre. (djô la di a twa pèrson dôtr) - Joe told you, no one else.
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The reflexive pronoun

In French, a reflexive verb is preceded by the reflexive pronoun se. This can happen when the
subject is also the A or D complement of the verb (and Se means ”Oneself” or ”To oneself”) or
when the subjects are plural, and each subject is another one’s A or D complement (and in this
case Se means ”Each other”, ”To each other”).

Il se regarde. (il se regard) - He looks at himself.
Ils se regardent. (il se regard) - They look at each other.

Sometimes, the verbs are reflexive for no reason : ”Se souvenir” (se sũvenir) means ”To remember”,
but it does not exist in a non-reflexive form. The reflexive pronoun agrees in person.

Personal Reflexive Se baigner Se lever S’appeler
Pronoun Pronoun (se bènyé) (se levé) (sapelé)

To Have a bath To Stand up To be called
Je Me, m’ Je me baigne Je me lève Je m’appelle
Tu Te, t’ Tu te baignes Tu te lèves Tu t’appelles

Il, Elle,. . . Se, s’ Il se baigne Il se lève Il s’appelle
Nous Nous Nous nous baignons Nous nous levons Nous nous appelons
Vous Vous Vous vous baignez Vous vous levez Vous vous appelez

Ils, Elles,. . . Se, s’ Ils se baignent Ils se lèvent Ils s’appellent

Demonstrative pronouns

The prepositional (P) form of the personal pronouns can be used in a demonstrative way.

Qui a pété ? C’est moi. (ki a pété ? sè mwa) - Who farted ? I did.

Here are other important demonstrative pronouns :

Pronoun English Example
Cela, ça This Prends ça. (prã sa) - Take this.

C’est This is C’est ma voiture. (sè ma vwatur) - This is my car.
Y (à ça) To this J’y pense. (ji pãs) - I’m thinking about it.

En (de ça) Of this J’en ai besoin. (jã-n-è bezw̃ı) - I need this.
Celui là This one (ms) Celui là est bien. (selui la è trô peti) - This one is fine.
Celle là This one (fs) Celle là me plâıt. (sèl la me plè) - I like this one.
Ceux là Those one (mp) Je veux ceux là. (je vẽ sẽ la) - I want those one.
Celles là Those one (fp) Il a celles là. (il a sèl la) - He’s got those one.

Voici, voilà Take it Voici les clés. (vwasi lé clé) - Here are the keys.
Ici, Là Here (close) Reviens ici. (revỹı isi) - Come back here.
Là bas There (far) Il est là bas. (il è la ba) - He is there.

Y In there, To there J’y vais. (ji vè) - I’m going there.
En From there J’en viens. (jã vỹı) - I just came from there.

Comme ça This way Il faut faire comme ça. (kom sa) - This is how to do it.
Pour ça For this Je l’ai fait pour ça. (je lè fè pũr sa) - This is why I did it.

The expressions Voilà or Et voilà can also mean ”And that’s it”. The pronouns Cela (formal)
and ça (informal) mean ”It” (impersonal subject). We use the abbreviation C’est, c’était, ce
sera (sè, sétè, se sera) instead of ça est, ça était, ça sera (It is, it was, it will be).

The pronouns Y and En are prepositional declensions of Cela and are placed before the verb.
Indeed, Y means ”À cela” (To-About smth) or ”À un endroit” (At-To a place) and is a kind of
prepositional declension (with À). And En means ”De cela” (Of this) or ”D’un endroit” (From a
place) and is a kind of prepositional declension (with De, like genitive).
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Questions and interrogative pronouns

Most of the time, there are four ways to ask a French question.

What are you thinking about ? What is Joe thinking about ?

Normal À quoi est-ce que tu penses ? À quoi est-ce qu’il pense, Joe ?

Colloquial but ok À quoi tu penses ? À quoi il pense, Joe ?
Very colloquial Tu penses à quoi ? Il pense à quoi, Joe ?

Very formal À quoi penses-tu ? À quoi Joe pense-t-il ?

The standard way to ask any question is to place an interrogative pronoun (here À quoi -
About what) in the beginning of the sentence, with or without est-ce que after it, and the other
words of the sentence are in the usual order.

When the interrogative pronoun is the N (nominative) subject we write est-ce qui instead
of est-ce que and there is no other way to ask the question. This can happen with What, Who,
Which only (see examples in the sequel).

When the interrogative pronoun is the A (accusative) or D-P (dative-prepositional) comple-
ment (like À quoi in the top of this page), you can also move it after the verb, very colloquial,
or you can reverse the verb and the subject, very formal. In both cases, don’t repeat est-ce que.
If the subject is not a personal pronoun (Joe), you need to repeat his name and his pronoun.

All the interrogative pronouns

Yes-no Est-ce que (Est-ce que) tu aimes les frites ? Do you like fries ?
(form.) Aimes-tu les frites ?

What N Qu’est-ce qui Qu’est ce qui ne va pas ? What’s wrong ?
What A Qu’est ce que Qu’est ce que tu veux ? What do you want ?

Quoi (coll.) Tu veux quoi ?
Que (form.) Que veux-tu ?

What P Quoi À quoi (est-ce que) tu penses ? (see upper)

Who N Qui (est-ce qui) Qui (est-ce qui) arrive ? Who is coming ?
Who A Qui (est-ce que) Qui (est-ce que) tu vois ? Who are you seeing ?

Who P Qui (est-ce que) À qui (e-c q) tu l’as dit ? Who did you say it to ?
Which N Quel-lle Quelle date te convient ? Which date would you like ?

Lequel-Laquelle Laquelle te convient ? Which one would you like ?
Which A Quel-lle Quel jour (e-c q) tu viens ? Which day will you come ?

Lequel-Laquelle Lequel (e-c q) tu viens ? Which one will you come ?
Which P Quel-lle En quelle année ... ? During which year ... ?

Lequel-Laquelle Pendant laquelle ... ? During which one ... ?
How much Combien de (s) Combien de temps ... ? How long ... ?

Combien Combien (e-c q) ça coûte ? How much does it cost ?
How many Combien de (p) Combien de jours ... ? How many days ... ?

Combien Combien (e-c q) il t’en faut ? How many do you need ?
When A, P Quand Quand (e-c q) tu reviens ? When will you come back ?
Where A, P Où Où (e-c q) tu vas ? Where are you going ?

How A Comment Comment (e-c q) tu as trouvé ? How did you find ?
Why A Pourquoi Pourquoi (e-c q) tu fais ça ? Why are you doing this ?

The pronoun Quoi has four declension forms, the others are case-invariant. The words Quel
(det) and Lequel (pronoun) agree in gender and number (see p.23). Moreover, the part ”Le” in
Lequel can be contracted with a previous preposition À or De like the article Le (see p.22).
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Definite and indefinite pronouns

These pronouns can represent the subject or the complement of a verb :

No Some (unknown) Any (indefinite) Every
-thing Ne ... Rien Quelque chose N’importe quoi Tout (tũ)
-body Ne ... Personne Quelqu’un N’importe qui Tout le monde

-moment Ne ... Jamais À un moment N’importe quand Toujours
-where Ne ... Nulle part Quelque part N’importe où Partout
-how - D’une manière N’importe comment -

- Ne ... Aucun Certains-Certaines N’importe quel-lle Tous-Toutes

Relative pronouns

The relative pronouns refer to a thing, person, . . . and introduce a non-subjunctive relative
sentence. This can happen when the relative specifies a noun (and behaves like an adjective).

C’est la fille Que j’ai vue hier. She is the girl (that) I met yesterday.

The word Que refers to ”La fille”, which is the A complement (accusative) of the relative sentence.

All the relative pronouns in this case
Pronoun Case English Example

Qui N Who Le chien qui mord ... - The dog who bites
Que A (That) Le chien que je vois ... - The dog I see
Dont G (That) Le chien dont je parle ... - The dog I talk about

Lequel P Which Le chien pour lequel je viens ... - The dog for which I come
Où - Where L’endroit où je vais ... - The place where I’m going
Où - When Le jour où tu viendras ... - The day when you will come

In the following different situation, where the relative sentence replaces the subject or the
complement of a verb :

Ce que tu m’as donné ne suffit pas. What you gave me is not enough.
Je vais te raconter Ce qui est arrivé. I’ll tell you What happened.

The pronouns Ce que and Ce que both mean ”What”. The pronoun Ce que it is the A
complement (accusative) of the relative Ce que tu m’as donné, and the pronoun Ce qui is the N
subject (nominative) ot the relative Ce qui est arrivé.

Possible relative pronouns in this case
Pronoun Case English Example
Ce qui N What Ce qui m’inquiète... - What worries me...
Ce que A Ce que je vois... - What I see...
Ce dont G Ce dont j’ai besoin ... - What I need ...

Ce ... quoi P Ce à quoi je pense ... - What I think about ...
Celui qui N Who Celui qui conduit ... - The one who drives ...
Celui que A Celui que je vois ... - The one I see ...

. . . . . . . . . . . .
Quand - When Quand le film sera fini ... - When the film will end ...
Là où - Where Là où la voiture s’arrête ... - Where the car stops ...

Comment - How Dis-moi Comment ... - Tell me how ...
Pourquoi - Why Dis-moi Pourquoi ... - Tell me why ...

. . . . . . . . . . . .

The word Celui agrees in gender and number, Celui (selui), Celle (sèl), Ceux (sẽ), Celles (sèl).
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2.5 Invariants (prepositions, conjunctions, adverbs)

Prepositions

A preposition in French is before a pronoun, a determiner-noun, a name or a place name. It
sometimes specifies the nature, the location, of the following expression.

Elle part avec Joe. (èl par avèk djô) - She leaves with Joe.
Elle part à cause de Joe. (èl par a kôz de djô) - She leaves because of Joe.

Sometimes, a verb or expression must be used with the right preposition to have the right meaning.

Elle parle de Joe. (èl parl-e-de djô) - She speaks about Joe.
Elle parle à Joe. (èl parl a djô) - She talks to Joe.

The most frequent prepositions are De (of, from), À (to, in), En (in), Dans (in), Pour (for).

De (de) - Of - Genitive preposition :

Ce sont les clefs de la voiture. (se sõ lé clé de la vwatur) - Those are the car’s key.
Le fils de Joe est arrivé. (le fis de djô è-t-arivé) - Joe’s son arrived.

De - From (provenance) : Il vient de l’ouest. (il vỹı de lwèst) - He comes from the west.
De - From (temporal) : Du lundi au jeudi. (du l̃ıdi ô jẽdi) - from Monday to Thursday.
De - in prepositional verbs : Avoir besoin de (To need), Parler de (To talk about), S’agir de (To
turn out to be), S’occuper de (To take care of), Se servir de (To Use) . . .

À (a) - To - Dative preposition : it describe the recipient of the verb’s action.

Je donne des fleurs à ma copine. (je don dé fler a ma kôpin) - I give flowers to my girlfriend.
J’envoie une lettre à mon copain. (jãvwa un lètr a mõ kôp̃ı) - I send a letter to my boyfriend.

À - Belonging to : Cette voiture est à moi. (sèt vwatur è-t-a mwa) - This car is mine.
À - In (location not for countries) : Je suis à la maison. (je sui-z-a la mèzõ) - I’m at home.
À - To (direction not for countries) : Je vais à Paris. (je vè-z-a pari) - I go to Paris.
À - To (temporal) : Du vendredi au dimanche. (du vãdredi ô dimãs̃) - from Friday to Sunday.
À - At (hours) : À midi (a midi) - At twelve. À minuit (a minui) - At midnight.
À - in dative verbs : Donner à (To give to), Envoyer à (To send to), Dire à (To say to), Prendre
à (To take to), Demander à (To ask to), Répondre à (To answer to), Parler à (To talk to),. . . .
À - in prepositional verbs : Arriver à (To manage), S’attendre à (To expect), Penser à (To think
about), Avoir quelque chose à (To have something to),. . .

En (ã) - In, to. Global location or direction in space (country) or in time (month, year).

J’étais en France en 1990. (jétè ã frãs ã mil nef sã katr-e-ṽı dis) - I was in France in 1990.
Je vais aller en Angleterre. (je vè-z-alé ã ãgletèr) - I’ll go to England.

En - Made of : Une châıne en argent (un-e-s̃èn ã arjã) - A chain made of silver.
En - By (vehicle) : Je viens en vélo. (je vỹı-zã vélo) - I come by bike.
En - While : Je parle en marchant. (je parl ã mars̃ã) - I speak while I’m walking.
En - On the : En marche (ã mars̃) - Working (for a machine), En route (ã rũt) - On the road,
En effet (ã-n-èfè) - Indeed, En avant (ã-n-avã) - Let’s go.
En - in prepositional verbs : Avoir confiance en (To trust in), Croire en (To believe in), Être en
avance/retard (To be early/late), Être en vacances (To be in vacation), Être en forme (To be in
a good health).
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Dans (dã) - Inside, Into. Preposition for location or direction :

Les clés sont dans la voiture. (lé clé sõ dã la vwatur) - The keys are inside the car.
J’ai mis les graines dans la terre. (jè mi lé grèn dã la tèr) - I set the seeds into the ground.

Dans - In (duration in future) : Viens dans deux heures. (vỹı dã dẽ-z-er) - Come in two hours.
Dans - In (abstract concept) : Dans ce cas (In this case), Dans quel but ? (For which purpose ?),
Dans tes rêves (It will never happen - lit. ”In your dreams”), Viens dans mes bras (Hug me -
lit. ”Come in my arms”), Je suis dans la merde (It sucks for me - lit. I’m in the shit), Regarder
dans les yeux (To look in the eyes).
Dans - in prepositional verbs : Entrer dans ... (To enter inside ...)

Pour (pũr) - For - Preposition which describes the receiver of an action :

J’ai un cadeau pour toi (jè ı̃ kadô pũr twa) - I have a gift for you.
J’ai fait ça pour toi (jè fè sa pũr twa) - I did it for you.

Pour - To (destination of a travel) : Le train pour Paris. (le tr̃ı pũr pari) - The train to Paris.
Pour - In favour of : Je suis pour la paix. (je sui pũr la pè) - I’m in favour of peace.
Pour - In order to : Je cours pour aller plus vite. (je kũr pũr alé plu vit) - I run to go faster.
Pour - in prepositional verbs : Passer pour (To seem like), Parler pour (To speak instead of),
Compter pour qun (To matter to smdy), Partir pour (To go to).

The other prepositions need less explanations, they are quite similar to their English analogues.

Pour (pũr) For Avec (avèk) With
Contre (kõtr) Against Sans (sã) Without

Grâce à (gras a) Thanks to Par (par) By

À cause de (a côz de) Because of Selon (selõ) According to
Malgré (malgré), Quant à (kã-t-a) Despite Comme (kom) Like

À propos de (a prôpô de ) About Au contraire de (ô kõtrèr de) Unlike

Here are the most important prepositions to specify spatial locations or directions.

Dans (dã) In Par (par) By, through
Hors de (or de) Out of Chez (s̃é) At the place of

Sur (sur) On (in contact) Au dessus de (ô desu de) Over, above
Sous (sũ) Under (just under) En dessous de (ã desũ de) Under, beneath

Entre (ãtr) ... et ... Between ... and ... Vers (vèr), Près de (prè de) Nearby

À travers (a travèr) Accross Loin de (lw̃ı de) Far from

Devant (devã) In front of À droite de (a drwat de) On the right of

Derrière (dèryèr) Behind À gauche de (a gôs̃ de) On the left of

À côté de (a kôté de) Next to En face de (ã fas de) Opposite to

Here are the most important prepositions to specify location in time, durations or chronology.

Prepositions + moment or period
Après (aprè) la fête After (party) Durant (durã) la guerre During (war)
Avant (avã) la fin Before (end) Dès (dè) le début Just after (start)

Depuis (depui) hier Since (yesterday) De (de) lundi From (monday)

Jusqu’à (juska) demain Until (tomorrow) À (a) jeudi Until, to (thirsday)
Prepositions + duration

Depuis (depui) 1 an For (1 year) Il y a (il i a) 1 heure (1 hour) Ago
Pendant (pãdã) 1 mois During (1 month) Dans (dã) 1 semaine In (1 week)
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Conjunctions

A conjunction is a link between two sentences : (1) Conjunction (2)

Et (è), De plus (de plus) - And : (1) and (2) are complementary.

Je vais venir et je vais t’aider. (je vè venir è je vè tèdé) - I’ll come and I’ll help you.
Toi et moi, nous devons parler. (twa è mwa, nũ devõ parlé) - You and I, we need to talk.

Ou (ũ) - Or : (1) and (2) cannot happen both.

C’est maintenant ou jamais. (sè mı̃tenã ũ jamè) - It’s now or never.

Soit . . . Soit (swa - swa) - Either . . . Or : exactly one of (1) or (2) can happen.

Soit tu paies, soit tu pars. (swa tu pèy, swa tu par) - Either you pay, or you leave.

Si (si) - If : (1) happens if (2) does.

Je viendrai si tu fais des frites. (je vỹıdrè si tu fè dé frit) - I’ll come if you cook fries.

Si . . . Alors (si - alor) - If . . . Then : (2) happens if (1) does.

Si tu cuisines, alors je viendrai. (si tu kuizin alor je vỹıdrè) - If you cook, then I’ll come.

Sinon (sinõ) - Otherwise : (2) happens if (1) doesn’t.

Aide-moi, sinon je démissionne. (èd-e-mwa sinõ je démisyon) - Help me, otherwise I’ll quit.

Ni (ni) - Neither : (1 Negative) and (2 Affirmative) both won’t happen.

Je n’ai pas de chance, ni d’argent. (je nè pa de s̃ãs ni darjã) - I’ve no luck, and neither money.

Quand (kã), Lorsque (lorsk) - When : (1) and (2) are simultaneous.

Je n’écoute pas quand tu parles. (je nékũt pa kã tu parl) - I don’t listen when you talk.

Puis (pui), Et ensuite (è ãsuit) - Then : (2) happens after (1).

Je l’ai embrassé-e, puis je l’ai baisé-e. - I kissed him-her, and then I fucked him-her.

Car (kar), Parce que (parske) - Because : (2) explains why (1).

Je mange parce que j’ai faim. (je mãj parske jè f̃ı) - I eat because I’m hungry.

Donc (dõk), Alors (alor), Ainsi (̃ısi) - Hence, Therefore : (1) explains why (2).

J’ai faim, donc je vais manger. (jè f̃ı dõk je vè mãjé) - I’m hungry, therefore I’ll eat.

Mais (mè), Cependant (sepãdã), Pourtant (pũrtã) - But : (2) happens in spite of (1).

J’ai picolé, mais je conduis. (jè pikôlé mè je kõdui) - I drank alcohol, but I drive anyway.

Alors que (alor ke), Même si (mèm si) - Despite : (1) happens in spite of (2).

Je conduis alors que j’ai picolé. (alor ke jè pikolé) - I drive despite the fact that I drank.
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Answers to yes-no questions

The most important affirmative answer is Oui (wi) - Yes.

Est-ce que tu sais nager ? Oui. (èske tu sè najé ? wi) - Can you swim ? Yes.

Insist on affirmation Moderate affirmation
Bien sûr (bỹı sur) - Of course Un peu (̃ı pẽ) - A bit

Absolument (absôlumã) - Absolutely Ouais (wè) - Yeah
Exactement (ègzaktemã) - Exactly Moyennement (mwayènemã) - Not really

The most important negative answer is Non (nõ) - No.

Est-ce que tu as faim ? Non. (èske tu a f̃ı ? nõ) - Are you hungry ? No.

Insist on negation Moderate negation
Pas du tout (pa du tũ) - Not at all Pas trop (pa trô) - Not too much

Absolument pas (absôlumã pa) - Absolutely not Pas vraiment (pa vrèmã) - Not really

The most important uncertain answer is Peut-être (pẽ-t-ètr) - Maybe.

Est-ce qu’il va pleuvoir ? Peut-être. (èskil va plẽvwar ? pẽ-t-ètr) - Will it rain ? Maybe.

Certainement > Sûrement > Probablement > Peut-être
(sèrtènemã) (suremã) (prôbablemã) (pẽ-t-ètr)

Certainly Surely Probably Maybe

Negative words

The general negation is built with Ne ... Negative adverb around the verb. The most
common and neutral negative adverb is Pas (pa) - Not :

Je ne sais pas. (je ne sè pa) - I don’t know.

You can also use other negative adverbs to be more specific (some are pronouns).

All the negative words
Pas (pa) - Not Je ne veux pas te voir. I don’t wanna see you.
Plus (plu) - Not anymore Je n’ai plus soif. I’m not thirsty anymore.
Pas encore - Not yet Je n’ai pas encore mangé. I didn’t eat yet.
Pas - Non plus - Neither Je ne veux pas la voir non plus. I don’t wanna see her either.
Rien (rỹı) - Nothing Je n’ai rien compris. I didn’t understand anything.
Que (ke) - Nothing but Je ne mange que des pâtes. I eat nothing but pasta.
Personne - Nobody Personne ne m’a attendu. Nobody waited for me.
Aucun (ôk̃ı) - Not any Je n’ai pêché aucun poisson. I didn’t catch any fish.
Nulle part - Nowhere Il n’y a d’essence nulle part. There’s nowhere to find gas.
Jamais (jamè) - Never Je ne reviendrai jamais. I will never come back.

Sometimes, French people remove Ne when they talk. But this is grammatically incorrect.

Je sais pas. (je sè pa) - I don’t know.
J’sais pas. (jsè pa) - I don’t know.
Chai pa. (s̃èpa) - I don’t know.

Unfortunately this happens a lot in France.
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Nature adverbs

In general, the adverbs specify the way how a verbal action happens.

J’ai bien mangé. (jè bỹı mãjé) - I ate well.

Bien (bỹı) Well Ensemble (ãsãbl) Together Vite (vit) Rapidly
Mieux (myẽ) Better Tout(e) seul(e) (sel) Lonely Rapidement (rapidemã) Rapidly

Mal (mal) Badly Aussi (ôsi) Also Lentement (lãtemã) Slowly

Many adverbs are built with the feminine form of an adjective + suffix ment (mã) - ly :

Également (égalemã) Also Parfaitement (parfètemã) Perfectly
Doucement (dũsemã) Quietly Autrement (ôtremã) Differently
Simplement (s̃ıplemã) Simply Naturellement (naturèlemã) Of course

. . . . . . . . . . . .

Quantity adverbs

The following adverbs of quantity can specify a verb, an adjective, an adverb, or they can be
used as determiners to specify a noun when you add ”De” after it.

J’ai trop mangé. (jè trô mãjé) - I ate too much.
Il y a trop de nourriture. (il i ya trô de nũritur) - There’s too much food.

Plus (plus/plu) - More Trop (trô) - Too much/many Beaucoup (bôkũ) - A lot
Moins (mw̃ı) - Less Assez (asé) - Enough Un peu (̃ı pẽ) - A few

Autant (ôtã) - As much as Encore (ãkor) - Still Tellement (tèlemã) - So much

The adverb Plus sounds (plu) or (plu-z-) when it specifies an adjective or an adverb, and it
sounds (plus) when it specifies a verb or a noun.

The adverbs Plus, Moins, Autant are comparison adverbs (see the next page), but they can
be used as quantity adverbs. In this case, they mean like ”More than usual, Less than usual, As
much as usual”. The adverb Trop (Too) can insist on the excess of any other adverb or adjective :
Trop vite, Trop tard, Trop chaud, (Too fast, too late, too warm). We never say Trop beaucoup
(Too many) but just Trop instead. We never say Plus beaucoup but just Plus (More) instead.

Other adverbs of quantity
Tout (tũ) All Au moins (ô mw̃ı) At least Environ (ãvirõ) Approximately
Peu (̃ı pẽ) Few Seulement (selemã) Only Exactement (egzaktemã) Exactly

Insistence adverbs

The insistence adverbs are used to specify adjectives or other adverbs.

C’est très important. (sè trè-z-̃ıportã) - It’s very important.
Il marche très lentement. (il mars̃ trè lãtemã) - He walks very slowly.

Très (trè) Very Plutôt (plutô) Quite Presque (prèsk) Almost
Vraiment (vrèmã) Really Assez (asé) Quite Surtout (surtũ) Mostly
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Comparison adverbs

To compare the value of an adjective or adverb between two persons, we use :

Plus ... que > Tu es plus riche que moi. You are richer than I am.
Moins ... que < Tu cours moins vite que lui. You run slower than he does.
Aussi ... que = Il est aussi con que son père. He is as dumb as his dad.

To compare the value of a noun (for verbs, remove ”De”) between two persons, we use :

Plus de ... que > Tu as plus de chance que moi. You are luckier than I am.
Moins de ... que < Tu as moins d’ argent que lui. You have less money than he does.
Autant de ... que = Il a autant de dettes que son père. He has as much debts as his dad.

We never say Plus bon (more good) but Meilleur (mèyer) (better, best) instead. We never
say Plus bien (more well) but Mieux (myẽ) (better, best) instead. We never say Aussi beaucoup
(as much as) but Autant (ôtã) instead. We can say ”Plus mauvais” (more bad) but Pire (pir)
(worse, worst) is more correct.

Comme (kom) - Like/As Même (mèm) - Even
Aussi (ôsi) - Also/Too Surtout (surtũ) - Especially

Position adverbs

These position adverbs can specify positions or directions.

Ici (isi) Here Près (prè) Close Ailleurs (ayer) Somewhere else
Là (la) There Loin (lw̃ı) Far Partout (partũ) Everywhere

Dedans (dedã) Inside Au delà Further Au dessus (ô desu) Over
Dehors (deor) Outside Autour (ôtũr) Around En dessous (ã desũ) Under

Devant (devã) In front En avant (ã-n-avã) Forward
Derrière (dèryèr) Behind En arrière (ã-n-aryèr) Backward

À gauche (a gôs̃) To the left En haut (ã ô) Up

À droite (a drwat) To the right En bas (ã ba) Down
Tout droit (tũ drwa) Straight Debout (debũ) Standing

Time adverbs

Adverbs of chronology
Maintenant (mı̃tenã) Now Avant (avã) Before Après (aprè) After
Aujourd’hui (ôjũrdui) Today Hier (iyèr) Yesterday Demain (demı̃) Tomorrow

À nouveau (a nũvô) Again Encore (ãkor) Still Déjà (déja) Already
Enfin (ãf̃ı) At last D’abord (dabor) At first Ensuite (ãsuit) Then

Soudain (sũd̃ı) Suddenly Tôt (tô) Early Tard (tar) Late

Adverbs describing periods
Longtemps (lõtã) A long time Bientôt (bỹıtô) Soon (future)

Désormais (dézormè) From now Autrefois (ôtrefwa) In the past
Tant que (tã ke) As long as Aussitôt (ôsitô) Immediately

Adverbs describing frequencies
Toujours (tũjũr) Always Ne ... Jamais (jamè) Never

Tout le temps (tũ le tã) Very often Rarement (raremã) Rarely
Souvent (sũvã) Often Parfois (parfwa) Sometimes
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2.6 Verbs

The verbs, tenses and conjugations is the really difficult part of French grammar. Any verb
is made of Stem + Suffix, the verb stem can change (or not) when you change the tense, and
the suffix always changes for each tense and each person. Only half of the verbs are regular in
French. All along this section, we shall point with * the verbs whose past participle is Être and
the irregular terminations of verbs.

First regular conjugation : verbs in -ER

All verbs ending in ”er” (except Aller - To go) follow the first regular conjugation rule. One of
the most frequent verbs like this is Donner :

Donner (dôné) - To give - Past participle : Avoir Donné (avwar dôné) - To have given

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Pres Donne Donnes Donne Donnons Donnez Donnent

je don tu don il don nũ dônõ vũ dôné il don
Past Donnais Donnais Donnait Donnions Donniez Donnaient

je dônè tu dônè il dônè nũ dônyõ vũ dônyé il dônè
Fut Donnerai Donneras Donnera Donnerons Donnerez Donneront

je donerè tu donera il donera nũ donerõ vũ doneré il donerõ

The stem is constant, and the suffixes are are (er) in infinitive, (é) in participle, (e, es, e, ons,
ez, ent) in present, (ais, ais, ait, ions, iez, aient) in past and (erai, eras, era, erons, erez,
eront) in future. We summarise the previous table as :

The verbs Donner, Trouver, Parler, Regarder, . . . , regular [R1]

Donner, Avoir donné - To give donne-es-e, donnons-ez-ent, je donnais-donnerai
dôné, avwar dôné je-tu-il don, . . . , nũ dônõ-é, il don, je donè, je donerè

Donner qch à qun - To give Il donne (don) un os au chien. - He gives a bone to the dog.
Trouver qch - To find Je trouverai (je trũverè) mes clés. - I will find my keys.
Trouver que ... - To consider Je trouve qu’il est con. (kil è kõ) - I find him stupid.
Parler - To speak Nous parlons français. (nũ parlõ frãsè) - We speak French.

Parler à qun - To talk to À qui vous parlez ? (vũ parlé) - Who are you talking to ?
Parler de qch - To speak about Ils parlent d’eux. (il parl-e-dẽ) - They speak of themselves.
Passer* - To pass Je suis passé (je sui pasé) par Paris. I passed by Paris.
Se passer* - To happen Qu’est-ce qui s’est passé (sè pasé) ? - What happened ?
Arriver* - To arrive Ils sont arrivés ici. (il sõ-t-arivé isi) - They arrived here.
Arriver* - To happen Qu’est-ce qui est arrivé (è-t-arivé) ? - What happened ?
Aimer - To love, like Vous aimez (vũ-z-èmé) vos enfants. - You love your children.
Aimer vrb - To like to vrb Ils aimaient (il-z-èmè) voyager. - They used to like travelling.
Penser à - To think about Nous penserons (nũ pãserõ) à toi. - We will think about you.
Penser que - To think that Vous pensez (vũ pãsé) que c’est fini ? Do you think it’s over ?
Regarder qch - To look at Elle me regarde. (èl me regard) - She is looking at me.
Demander qch à qun - To ask Je te demande (je te demãd) pourquoi. - I’m asking you why.
Rester* - To stay Il restera (il rèstera) au travail. - He will stay at work.
Sembler - To seem Cela semble (sela sãbl) impossible. - This seems impossible.
Entrer* - To come in Je suis entré (sui-z-ãtré) chez toi. - I came into your home.
Porter - To carry Tu portes un sac. (tu port ı̃ sak) - You carry a bag.
Chercher - To look for Elle cherche le vélo. (èl s̃èrs̃ le vélo) - She looks for the bike.
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Irregular stems : verbs in -GER, -CER, -YER

When the stem ends with g, c, y, the conjugation sounds regular but the writing is not.

The verbs Manger, Charger, Ranger, Juger : +e with ”nous” and in past [R1g]

Manger, Avoir mangé mange-es-e, mangeons*,mang-ez-ent, je mangeais*-mangerai
mãjé, avwar mãjé - To eat je-tu-il mãj, . . . , nũ mãjõ-é, il mãj, je mãjè, je mãjerè
Manger - To eat Nous mangeons ensemble. (nũ mãjõ ãsãbl) - We eat together.
Manger qch - To eat smth Ils mangeront du pain. (il mãjerõ du p̃ı) - They will eat bread.
Charger qch - To load Je chargeais le coffre. (je s̃arjè le kofr) - I was loading the trunk.
Ranger qch - To tidy Ils rangent la cuisine. (il rãj la kuizin) - They tidy the kitchen.
Juger qun - To judge Arrête de me juger. (arèt de me jujé) - Stop judging me.

The verbs Placer, Commencer, Annoncer, Forcer : ç with ”nous” and in past [R1c]

Placer, Avoir placé - To place place-es-e, plaçons*,plac-ez-ent, je plaçais*-placerai
plasé, avwar plasé je-tu-il plas, . . . , nũ plasõ-é, il plas, je plasè-erè
Déplacer qch - To move smth Elle déplace la table. (èl déplas la tabl) - She moves the table.
Remplacer qun - To replace Je te remplaçais. (je te rãplasè) - I was replacing you.
Commencer à vrb - To start Il commence à manger. (il kômãs a mãjé) - He starts to eat.
Annoncer qch - To announce Tu as annoncé ton départ. - You announced your departure.

The verbs Payer, Envoyer, Essayer, Appuyer : i in present and future [R1y]

Payer, Avoir payé - To Pay paie-es-e*, payons-ez,pai-ent*, je payais, je paierai*
pèyé, avwar pèyé je-tu-il pèy, . . . , nũ pèyõ-é, il pèy, je pèyè, je pèyerè
Payer qch - To pay smth Vous n’avez pas payé. (vũ navé pa pèyé) - You didn’t pay.
Essayer de vrb - To try to J’essaierai de venir. (jésèrè de venir) - I’ll try to come.
Envoyer qch à qun - To send Envoie-moi le papier. (ãvwa mwa le papyé) - Send me the paper.

In the previous three cases, the pronunciation of the stem is constant.

Irregular stems : verbs in -ELER, -ETER, -ENER, -EVER, . . .

When the stem ends with e + consonant, the last e sounds (è) in present and future.

The verbs Jeter and Appeler : ll or tt in present and future [R1e]

Jeter, Avoir jeté - To throw jette-es-e*, jetons-ez,jett-ent*, je jetais, je jetterai*
jeté, avwar jeté je-tu-il jèt, . . . , nũ jetõ-é, il jèt, je jetè, je jèterè
Appeler qun - To call smdy Tu m’appelleras ? (tu mapèlera) - Will you call me ?
S’appeler* qch - To be called Je m’appelle Löıc. (je mapèl loik) - My name is Löıc.
Se rappeler* de - To remember Il ne se rappelait plus. (rapelè plu) - He didn’t remember.

The verbs Mener, Lever, Espérer, Acheter, . . . : è in present and future [R1è]

Mener, Avoir mené - To lead mène-es-e*, menons-ez,mèn-ent*, je menais, je mènerai*
mené, avwar mené je-tu-il mèn, . . . , nũ menõ-é, il mèn, je menè, je mènerè
Amener qch - To bring Ils amènent le vin. (il-z-amène le ṽı) - They bring the wine.
Se lever* - To stand up Levez vous ! (levé vũ) - Stand up !
Acheter qch - To buy smth J’ai acheté des patates. (jè as̃eté dé patat) - I bought potatoes.
Espérer qch - To hope J’espère que c’est bon. (jèspèr ke sè bõ) - I hope it’s good.
Posséder qch - To own Il possédait (il pôsédè) la maison. - He used to own the house.

In the previous two cases, the last e of the stem sounds (e) in past and with the persons nous,
vous in present, or (è) with the other persons in present and future.
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Second regular conjugation : some verbs in -IR

A small part of the verbs in ”-ir” belongs to the second group of regular conjugations. They are
quite regular, but also quite rare : most of the ”-ir” verbs in French don’t follow this conjugation
rule. One of the most common of these verbes is Agir (To act) :

Agir (ajir) - To Act - Past participle : Avoir Agi (avwar aji) - To have Acted

Je Tu Il Nous Vous Ils
Present Agis Agis Agit Agissons Agissez Agissent

(jaji) (tu aji) (il aji) (nũ-z-ajisõ) (vũ-z-ajisé) (il-z-ajis)
Imp. Past Agissais Agissais Agissait Agissions Agissiez Agissaient

(jajisè) (tu ajisè) (il ajisè) (nũ-z-ajisyõ) (vũ-z-ajisyé) (il-z-ajisè)
Future Agirai Agiras Agira Agirons Agirez Agiront

(jajirè) (tu ajira) (il ajira) (nũ-z-ajirõ) (vũ-z-ajiré) (il-z-ajirõ)

The stem is Ag in infinitive, participle, present-singular and future. The stem is Agiss in
present-plural and past. The termination suffixes are (ir) in infinitive, (i) in participle, (is, is, it,
ons, ez, ent) in present, (ais, ais, ait, ions, iez, aient) in past, and (irai, iras, ira, irons,
irez, iront) in future. We summarise the previous table as :

The stem gets a + iss in plural and past : [R2]

Agir, Avoir agi - To act Agis-is-it, Agissons-ez-ent, j’Agissais, j’Agirai
ajir, avwar aji je-tu-il aji, . . . , nũ-z-ajis-õ-é, il-z-ajis, jajisè, jajirè
Agir - To act Elle agit au hasard. (èl aji ô azar) - She acts randomly.
S’agir* de qch - To be Il s’agissait (il sajisè) d’une erreur. - It was a mistake.
Finir qch - To end Je finirai le travail. (je finirè le travay) - I’ll finish the job.
Finir de vrb - To finish to Tu as fini (tu a fini) de manger ? - Have you finished eating ?
Choisir qch - To choose Nous choisirons (s̃wazirõ) ensemble. - We’ll choose together.
Choisir de vrb - To decide to Vous avez choisi (s̃wazi) la couleur ? Did you choose the color ?
Réussir qch - To succeed Ils réussiront (réusirõ) l’examen. - They will succeed the test.
Réussir à vrb - To manage to Je réussirai à venir. (je réusirè a venir) - I’ll be able to come.
Unir - To unify Vous êtes unis (vũ-z-èt-z-uni) par le mariage. You are married.
Réunir - To reunite Tu as réuni (tu a réuni) la famille. - You’ve reunited the family.
Saisir qch - To catch Nous avons saisi (sèzi) l’occasion. We seized the opportunity.
Subir qch - To suffer Vous subirez le même sort. You will suffer the same fate.
Réféchir - To think Ils ne réfléchissent pas. (il ne réflés̃is pa) - They don’t think.
Accomplir qch - To achieve J’accomplis ma tâche. (jakõpli ma tas̃) - I accomplish my task.
Obéir - To obey Tu obéis ou tu pars. (tu obéi ũ tu par) - You obey or you leave.
Nourrir qun - To feed Elle nourrit son chien. (èl nũri sõ s̃ỹı) - She feeds her dog.
Franchir qch - To cross Nous franchissons (frãs̃isõ) la frontière. We cross the boarder.
Définir qch - To define Vous définirez (vũ définiré) l’objectif. You will define the goal.
Grandir - To grow up Ils ont bien grandi. (il-z-õ bỹı grãdi) - They grew up a lot.
Agrandir qch - To enlarge J’agrandis (jagrãdi) ma maison. - I’m enlarging my home.
Rétrécir qch - To shrunk Ils rétréciront le couloir. - They will narrow the corridor.

Unfortunately, these verbs are very rare : Sortir (Go out), Partir (Leave), Venir (Come),
Ouvrir (Open), Mourir (Die), Courir (Run),. . . are all important verbs ending in ”-ir” which
don’t follow this conjugation rule.
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The most frequent irregular verbs classified by similar conjugation

We point with * the verbs whose past auxiliary is Être and the irregular suffixes.

The verb Être : the most irregular [T1] p.39

Être, Avoir été - To be suis, es, est, sommes*, êtes*, sont*, j’étais, je serai
ètr, avwar été je sui, tu è, il è, nũ som, vũ-z-èt, il sõ, jétè, je serè

Être - To be Avant, j’étais riche. (avã jétè ris̃) - I used to be rich.

Être vrb (part.) - Passive aux. Ceci est dit. (sesi è di) - This is said. (Passive)

Être vrb* (part.) - Past aux. Il est parti. (il è parti) - He is gone. (Past : see p.47)

The verbs Avoir, Savoir : -v in present +u in future [T2] p.39

Avoir, Avoir eu - To have ai*, as, a*, avons, avez, ont*, j’avais, j’aurai
avwar, avwar u jè, tu a, il a, nũ-z-avõ, vũ-z-avé, il-z-õ, javè, jôrè
Avoir qch - To own Nous avions le temps. (nũ-z-avyõ le tã) - We had time.
Avoir besoin de qch - To need J’ai besoin de toi. (jè bezw̃ı de twa) - I need you.
Avoir besoin de vrb - To need to Il a besoin de dormir. (dormir) - He needs to sleep.
Avoir qch à vrb - Have .. to Je n’ai rien à manger. (a mãjé) - I have nothing to eat.
Avoir confiance en - To trust Tu as confiance (tu a kõfyãs) en moi ? - Do you trust me ?
Y avoir qch - To be there Il y a un arbre. (il i ya ı̃-n-arbr) - There’s a tree.
Avoir vrb (part.) - Past aux. Je t’ai parlé. (je tè parlé) - I spoke to you. (Past : see p.47)
Savoir, Avoir su - To know sais-s-t, savons-ez, savent, je savais, je saurai
savwar, avwar su je sè, tu sè, il sè, nũ savõ, vũ savé, il sav, je savè, je sôrè
Savoir vrb - To have learnt to Vous savez nager ? (vũ savé najé) - Can you swim ?

The verbs Faire, Dire, with + s in past, irregular with ”vous” [T3] p.39

Faire, Avoir fait - To do fais, fais, fait, faisons, fâıtes*, font*, je faisais, je ferai
fèr, avwar fè je fè, tu fè, il fè, nũ fezõ, vũ fèt, il fõ, je fezè, je ferè
Faire qch - To do Nous faisons les courses. (lé kũrs) - We do the shopping.
Faire vrb à qun - To make .. vrb Ils me font travailler. (travayé) - They make me work.
Refaire qch - To do again Nous refaisons les calculs. (lé kalkul) - We calculate again.
Défaire qch - To undo Défâıtes vos bagages. (vô bagaj) - Unpack your bags.

Dire, Avoir dit - To say dis, dis, dit, disons, d̂ıtes*, disent, je disais, je dirai
dir, avwar di je di, tu di, il di, nũ dizõ, vũ dit, il diz, je dizè, je dirè
Dire qch à qun - To tell, To say Tu ne m’as rien dit. (rỹı di) - You told me nothing.
Dire à qun que ... - To tell that Il m’a dit qu’il viendra. (vỹıdra) - He told me he will come.
Dire à qun de vrb - To tell .. to Ils me disent de partir. (de partir) - They tell me to leave.
Redire qch à qun - To tell again Je ne te le redirai pas. I won’t tell you this again.

The verbs Vouloir, Pouvoir, Falloir : eu / au in present, -l+d / -v+r in future [T4] p.39

Vouloir, Avoir voulu - To want veux-x-t, voulons-ez, veulent, je voulais, je voudrai
vũlwar, avwar vũlu je vẽ, tu vẽ, il vẽ, nũ vũlõ, vũ vũlé, il vel, je vũlè, je vũdrè
Vouloir qch - To want smth Ils veulent de l’eau. (il vel de lô) - They want water.
Vouloir vrb - To want to verb Il veut venir. (il vẽ venir) - He wants to come.

Pouvoir, Avoir pu - Can peux-x-t, pouvons-ez, peuvent, je pouvais, je pourrai
pũvwar, avwar pu je pẽ, tu pẽ, il pẽ, nũ pũvõ, vũ pũvé, il pev, je pũvè, je pũrè
Pouvoir vrb - Be able/allowed to Il ne peut pas venir. (il ne pẽ pa venir) - He can’t come.

Falloir, Avoir fallu (impersonal) Il faut, Il fallait, Il faudra
falwar, avwar falu il fô, il falè, il fôdra
Falloir vrb - To be required Il faut partir. (il fô partir) - We need to leave.
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The verb Aller, 3 stems v, all, ir [T1] p.40

Aller*, Être allé - To go vais, vas, va, allons-ez, vont*, j’allais, j’irai
alé, ètr alé je vè, tu va, il va, nũ-z-alõ, vũ-z-alé, il võ, jalè, jirè
Aller* qprt - To go smwhere Elle va au travail. (èl va ô travay) - She goes to work.
Aller* bien (mal) - To be (un)fine Vous allez bien ? (vũ-z-alé bỹı) - Are you ok ?
S’en aller* - To leave Ils s’en vont. (il sã võ) - They are leaving.
Aller vrb - Future modal Nous allons t’écrire. (nũ-z-alõ tékrir) - We will write to you.

The verbs Venir, Tenir : + i in singular and future [T2] p.40

Venir*, Être venu - To come viens-s-t, venons-ez, viennent, je venais, je viendrai
venir, ètr venu je vỹı,. . . , nũ venõ-é, il vyèn, je venè, je vỹıdrè
Venir* qprt - To come smwhere Je viens chez toi. (je vỹı s̃é twa) - I come to your home.
Venir* de vrb - Past close modal Tu viens de manger. (tu vỹı de mãjé) - You just ate.
Revenir* - To come back Il reviendra (il revỹıdra) bientôt. - He will come back soon.
Devenir* adj - To become Nous sommes devenus (devenu) riches. - We became rich.
Se souvenir* de - To remember Vous vous souvenez de moi ? Do you remember me ?
Tenir qch - To hold Ils tenaient (tenè) la porte. - They were holding the door.
Tenir à qun - To care for Je tiens à toi. (je tỹı a twa) - I care for you.
Tenir à vrb - To want Tu tiens à payer ? (tu tỹı a pèyé) - Do you insist to pay ?
Détenir qch - To own Il détient la réponse. (il détỹı la répõs) - He has the answer.
Obtenir qch - To obtain Nous avons obtenu (ôbtenu) justice. - We obtained justice.
Appartenir à qun - To belong Ils m’appartiennent. (il mapartyèn) - They belong to me.

The verbs Partir, Sortir, Sentir, -t in singular [T3] p.40

Partir*, Être parti - To leave pars-s-t, partons-ez, partent, je partais, je partirai
partir, ètr parti je par,. . . , nũ partõ-é, il part, je partè, je partirè
Partir* de - To leave from Il part (il par) de chez moi. - He is leaving my home.
Partir* à/en - To go to Nous partons à Paris. (nũ partõ-z-a pari) - We go to Paris.
Sortir* - To get out Sortez de chez moi. (sorté de s̃é mwa) - Get out of my home.
Sentir qch - To smell Ça sent la merde. (sa sã la mèrd) - It smells like shit.
Se sentir* - To feel oneself Je me sentais bien. (je me sãtè bỹı) - I felt good.
Ressentir pour - To feel Je ressens de l’amour pour toi. - I feel love for you.
Sentir que - To have the feeling Je sens que c’est raté. - I’ve the feeling that I failed it.

The verb Voir, S’assoir, +y in past, +e in future [T4] p.40

Voir, Avoir vu - To see vois-s-t, voyons-yez, voient, je voyais, je verrai
vwar, avwar vu je vwa,. . . , nũ vwayõ-yé, il vwa, je vwayè, je vèrè
Voir qch/qun - To see Ils me voient. (il me vwa) - They see me.
Voir qun - To meet Je veux te voir. (je vẽ te vwar) - I want to meet you.
Revoir qun - To see again Au revoir. (ô revwar) - Good bye.
Prévoir - To foresee / To plan On prévoit (prévwa) de la pluie ? - Do they announce the rain ?

S’assoir, s’asseoir : two possible (both used) conjugations

S’asseoir*, Être assis - To sit assieds-s-d, asseyons-ez-ent, je m’asseyais, je m’assiérai
saswar, ètr asi je masiè,. . . , nũ nũ-z-asèyõ-yé, il sasèy, je masèyè-siérè

S’assoir*, Être assis - To sit assois-s-t, assoyons-ez-ent, je m’assoyais, je m’assoirai
saswar, ètr asi je maswa,. . . , nũ nũ-z-aswayõ-yé, il saswa, je maswayè-swarè
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The verbs Répondre, Entendre, Rendre, Attendre, regular [T1] p.41

Répondre, Avoir répondu réponds-ds-d, répondons-ez-ent, je répondais-rai
répõdr, avwar répõdu je répõ, . . . , nũ répõdõ-é, il répõd, je répõdè-drè
Répondre qch - To answer Répond au téléphone ! (répõ ô téléfon) - Take the call !
Entendre qch - To hear Tu entends le train ? (tu ãtã le tr̃ı) - Do you hear the train ?
Entendre que - To hear that Il a entendu (ãtãdu) que tu es là. - He heard you are here.
S’entendre - To get along well Nous nous entendons (ãtãdõ) bien. - We get along well.
Rendre qch - To give back Rendez-moi mon argent. - Give me my money back.
Se rendre* qpt - To go to Ils se rendent à la gare. They go to the trainstation.
Attendre qch - To wait for J’attends le bus. (jatã le bus) - I’m waiting for the bus.

S’attendre* à qch - To expect À quoi tu t’attendais ? (tatãdè) - What did you expect ?
S’attendre* à vrb - To expect to Il s’attendait à payer cher. - He expected to pay a lot.
Descendre* - To get down Nous sommes descendus vite. - We got down quickly.
Vendre qch - To sell Ils ont vendu leur maison. - They sold their house.
Tendre qch - To tighten Il faut tendre la corde. - You have to stretch the rope.
S’étendre sur - To lie on Je m’étends sur le canapé. - I lie down on the sofa.
Défendre - To defend Tu défends tes intérêts. - You care for your own interests.
Défendre de vrb - To forbid Il me défend (défã) de venir. - He forbids me to come.
Se défendre* - To defend oneself Nous nous défendons. (défãdõ) - We defend ourselves.
Perdre qqch - To lose Ils perdront (il pèrdrõ) la guerre. - They will lose the war.

Battre, Avoir battu - To hit bats-ts-t, battons-ez, battent, je battais, je battrai
batr, avwar batu je ba-ba-ba, nũ batõ-baté, il bat, je batè, je batrè
Battre qun - To beat Je t’ai battu (je tè batu) aux échecs. - I beat you at chess.
Se battre* - To fight Ne vous battez pas. (ne vũ baté pa) - Don’t fight together.

The verbs Devoir, Apercevoir, Recevoir, - v in singular, irregular participle [T2] p.41

Devoir, Avoir du - Must dois-s-t, devons-ez, doivent je devais, je devrai
devwar, avwar du je dwa,. . . nũ devõ, vũ devé, il dwav, je devè, je devrè
Devoir vrb - Have to Il doit travailler. (il dwa travayé) - He has to work.
Devoir qqch - To owe Nous devons de l’argent. (nũ devõ de l’arjã) - We owe money.
Apercevoir qch - To see briefly Ils m’aperçoivent. (il mapèrswav) - They hardly see me.
Recevoir qch - To get Vous recevrez (resevré) la lettre. - You will receive the letter.
Pleuvoir, Avoir plu - To rain Il pleut, il pleuvait, il pleuvra (impersonal)

The verb Prendre, - d in past, + n in plural, irregular participle [T3] p.41

Prendre, Avoir pris - To take prends-s-d, prenons-ez, prennent, je prenais, je prendrai
prãdr, avwar pri je prã, . . . nũ prenõ, vũ prené, il prèn, je prenè, je prãdrè
Prendre qch - To take smth Il prend le sel. (il prã le sèl) - He takes the salt.
Prendre qch - To have a .. Elle prend un verre. (èl prã ı̃ vèr) - She has a drink.
Prendre qch - To pick up Nous venons vous prendre. (vũ prãdr) - We’ll pick you up.
Prendre qun - To fuck smbdy Prend-moi (prã mwa) sur le canapé. - Fuck me on the couch.
Reprendre qch - To take again Vous reprendrez un verre ? - Do you want another drink ?
Reprendre qun - To correct Arrête de (arèt de) me reprendre. - Stop correcting me.
Comprendre - To understand Ils ont compris. (il-z-õ kõpri) - They understood.
Apprendre - To learn J’apprends le piano. (japrã le pyano) - I learn piano.
Apprendre à vrb - To learn J’apprends à nager. (japrã a najé) - I learn how to swim.
Apprendre à qun - To teach J’apprends le piano à Joe. - I teach Joe how to play piano.
Apprendre que ... - To hear J’ai appris qu’il est mort. (kil è mor) - I heard he’s dead.
Surprendre qun - To surprise Tu m’as surpris. (tu ma surpri) - You surprised me.
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The verb Mettre, -t in singular, irregular participle [T1] p.42

Mettre, Avoir mis - To set mets-s-t, mettons-ez, mettent, je mettais, je mettrai
mèr, avwar mi je mè,. . . nũ mètõ, vũ mèté, il mèt, je mètè, je mètrè
Mettre qch - To insert Il met la voiture au garage. - He puts the car in the garage.
Se mettre* à vrb - To begin to Nous nous mettons (mètõ) à manger. - We begin to eat.
Remettre - To put back Je remets la bière au frigo. - I put the beer in the fridge.
Remettre à - To give Ils me remettent (remèt) les clés. - They give me the keys.
Permettre de vrb - To allow Il n’est pas permis de fumer. - It is not allowed to smoke.
Permettre de vrb - To enable Le gaz permet de chauffer. - Gas is used for heating.
Promettre que - To swear that Je te promets (prômè) que je serai là. - I swear I’ll be here.
Promettre de vrb - To promise Je te promets de t’aimer (de tèmé). - I promise to love you.

Émettre qch - To emit L’antenne émet des ondes. - The antenna emits waves.
Commettre qch - To commit Il a commis (il a kômi) un crime. - He commited a crime.

The verbs Ouvrir, Offrir, Souffrir, Couvrir, regular, irregular participle [T2] p.42

Ouvrir, Avoir ouvert - To open ouvre-es-e, ouvrons-ez, ouvrent, j’ouvrais, j’ouvrirai
ũvrir, avwar ũvèr jũvr,. . . , nũ-z-ũvrõ-é, il-z-ũvr, jũvrè, jũvrirè
Ouvrir qch - To open J’ai ouvert (jè ũvèr) le magasin. - I opened the store.
Rouvrir qch - To open again Il faut rouvrir la voiture. - You need to open the car again.
Offrir qch - To offer Nous offrons (nũ-z-ofrõ) des cadeaux. - We offer gifts.
Souffrir - To suffer Vous souffrez ? (vũ sũfré) - Do you suffer ?
Couvrir qun - To cover Je te couvre. (je te kũvr) - I’ll cover you.
Découvrir qch - To find out Tu as tout découvert. (dékũvèr) - You found out it all.

The verbs Connâıtre, Parâıtre, Nâıtre, with + aiss in plural and past [T3] p.42

Parâıtre, Avoir paru - To seem parais-is-̂ıt, paraissons-ez, paraissent, je paraissais-âıtrai
parètr, avwar paru je parè,. . . nũ parèsõ-é, il parès, je parèsè, je parètrè
Parâıtre adj - To seem adj Ça me parâıt bien. (sa me parè bỹı) - It seems good to me.
Disparâıtre - To disappear Tu as disparu hier. - You vanished yesterday.
Apparâıtre* - To appear Tu es réapparu aujourd’hui. - And you reappeared today.
Connâıtre qun - To know smbdy Ils me connâıtront bientôt. - They will know me soon.
Reconnâıtre - To recognize Vous le reconnaissez ? - Do you recognize him ?
Reconnâıtre que - To admit that Il reconnâıt ses erreurs. - He admits his mistakes.

Nâıtre*, Être né - To be born Quand nâıtra votre bébé ? - When will your baby be born ?

The verbs Croire, Rire, Courir, almost regular [T4] p.42

Croire, Avoir cru - To believe crois-s-t, croyons,ez*, croient, je croyais*, je croirai
krwar, avwar kru je krwa, . . . nũ krwayõ-yé, il krwa, je krwayè, je krwarè
Croire en - To believe in Nous croyons (nũ crwayõ) en Dieu. - We believe in God.
Croire qun - To believe smbdy Vous me croyez ? (vũ me crwayé) - Do you believe me ?

Rire, Avoir ri - To laugh ris,ris,rit, rions,riez, rient, je riais, je rirai
rir, avwar ri je ri, tu ri, il ri, nũ riyõ, vũ riyé, il ri, je riyè, je rirè
Rire - To laugh J’ai ri pendant le spectacle. I laughed during the show.
Sourire - To smile Le bébé souriait. (le bébé sũriyè) - The baby was smiling.
Se sourire* - To smile On s’est souris. (õ sè sũri) - We smiled to each other.

Courir, Avoir couru - To run cours-s-t, courons-ez, courent, je courais, je courirai
kũrir, avwar kũru je kũr,. . . , nũ kũrõ, vũ kũré, il kũr, je kũrè, je kũrirè
Courir - To run Elle court plus vite que moi. - She runs faster than I do.
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Verbs Lire, Plaire, + s in plural and past (like Faire) [T1] p.43

Lire, Avoir lu - To read lis,lis,lit, lisons, lisez, lisent, je lisais, je lirai
lir, avwar lu je li, tu li, il li, nũ lizõ, vũ lizé, il liz
Lire qqch - To read smth Tu lisais tout le temps. - You used to read all the time.
Relire qqch - To read again Je n’ai pas relu mon livre. - I didn’t read my book again.
Plaire à qun - To please smbdy Le livre m’a plu. (le livr-e-ma plu) - I enjoyed the book.
Se plaire* qpt - To enjoy swhr Elle se plâıt à Tahiti. - She’s having a good time in Tahiti.
Se taire* - To keep silent Tais-toi ! (tè twa) - Keep silent !

Conduire, A. conduit - To drive conduis-s-t, conduisons-ez-ent, conduisais, conduirai.
kõduir, avwar kõdui je kõdui,. . . , nũ kõduizõ-é, il kõduiz, je kõduizè-rè
Conduire qprt - To lead Conduisez-moi à la gare. - Take me to the trainstation.
Se conduire* - To behave Ils se conduisent mal. (il se kõduiz mal) - They misbehave.
Produire qqch - To product Je produis des pièces en métal. - I produce metal pieces.
Suffire - To be enough Ces frites ne suffiront pas. - There won’t be enough fries.
Suffire de vrb - Impersonal Il suffit de traverser la rue. You just need to cross the street.

Verbs Suivre, Vivre, - v in singular (like Devoir) [T2] p.43

Suivre, Avoir suivi - To follow suis,suis,suit, suivons-ez, suivent, je suivais, je suivrai
suivr, avwar suivi je sui, tu sui, il sui, nũ suivõ, vũ suivé, je suivè, je suivrè
Suivre qqch - To be focused Nous suivons (nũ suivõ) l’actualité. - We follow the news.
Poursuivre - To purchase Ils nous poursuivent. (il nũ pũrsuiv) - They are chasing us.

Servir, Avoir servi - To serve sers,sers,sert, servons-ez,servent, je servais, je servirai
sèrvir, avwar sèrvi je sèr, . . . nũ sèrvõ, vũ sèrvé, il sèrv, je sèrvè, je sèrvirè
Servir à - To be useful to Vous ne servez à rien. (vũ ne sèrvé a rỹı) - You are useless.
Se servir* de - To use Ils se servent (il se sèrv) de leur tête. - They think.

Vivre, Avoir vécu - To live vis,vis,vit, vivons,vivez, vivent, je vivais, je vivrai
vivr, avwar véku je vi, tu vi, il vi, nũ vivõ, vũ vivé, il viv, je vivè, je vivrè
Vivre qprt - To be living smwhr Ils vivent en France. (il viv-t-ã frãs) - They live in France.
Survivre - To survive Je survivrai. (je survivrè) - I will survive.

Verbs Écrire, Boire, + v in plural and past [T3] p.43

Écrire, Avoir écrit - To write écris-s-t, écrivons-vez, écrivent, j’écrivais, j’écrirai
ékrir, avwar ékri jékri,. . . nũ-z-ékrivõ-vé, il-z-ékriv, jékrivè, jékrirè

Boire, Avoir bu - To drink bois-s-t, buvons,buvez, boivent, je buvais, je boirai
bwar, avwar bu je bwa,. . . , nũ buvõ, vũ buvé, il bwav, je buvè, je bwarè

Verbs Craindre, Atteindre with + gn in plural and past [T4] p.43

Craindre, Avoir craint - To fear crains-s-t, craignons-ez-ent, je craignais, je craindrai
kr̃ıdr, avwar kr̃ı je kr̃ı,. . . , nũ krènyõ-é, il krèny, je krènyè, je kr̃ıdrè
Atteindre qch - To reach Il a atteint son but. (il a at̃ı sõ but) - He achieved his goal.
Se plaindre* - To complain Arrête de te plaindre. - Stop complaining all the time.

The verb Dormir, - m in singular [T5] p.43

Dormir, Avoir dormi - To sleep dors-s-t, dormons-ez, dorment, je dormais, je dormirai
dormir, avwar dormi je dor,. . . , nũ dormõ-é, il dorm, je dormè, je dormirè
S’endormir* - To fall asleep Le bébé s’est endormi. (sè-t-ãdormi) - The baby fell asleep.

The verb Mourir, eu in present [T6] p.43

Mourir*, Être mort - To die meurs-s-t, mourons-ez, meurent, je mourais, je mourrai
mũrir, ètr mor je mer,. . . , nũ mũrõ, vũ mũré, il mer, je mũrè, je mũr-rè
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The present tense conjugations

We enumerate again here how to use the present tense. We point here with * the forms where
there is a non-infinitive stem, or when the termination is not the one it should be.

Je Tu Il, Elle Nous Vous Ils, Elles
Donner, Trouver Donne Donnes Donne Donnons Donnez Donnent
Manger, Charger Mange Manges Mange Mangeons* Mangez Mangent

Placer, Commencer Place Places Place Plaçons* Placez Placent
Payer, Essayer Paie* Paies* Paie* Payons Payez Paient*
Appeler, Jeter Appelle* Appelles* Appelle* Appelons Appelez Appellent*
Mener, Acheter Mène* Mènes* Mène* Menons Menez Mènent*

Agir Agis Agis Agit Agissons Agissez Agissent
Finir Finis Finis Finit Finissons Finissez Finissent

The irregular verbs, have several variations in present.

Je Tu Il, Elle Nous Vous Ils, Elles

Être Suis* Es Est Sommes** Êtes** Sont**
Avoir Ai** As* A* Avons Avez Ont**
Savoir Sais* Sais* Sait* Savons Savez Savent
Faire Fais Fais Fait Faisons* Fâıtes** Font**
Dire Dis Dis Dit Disons* D̂ıtes** Disent*

Pouvoir Peux* Peux* Peut* Pouvons Pouvez Peuvent*
Vouloir Veux* Veux* Veut* Voulons Voulez Veulent*
Falloir Faut*

Aller Vais* Vas* Va* Allons Allez Vont**
Venir, Tenir Viens* Viens* Vient* Venons Venez Viennent*
Partir, Sortir Pars* Pars* Part* Partons Partez Partent

Voir Vois Vois Voit Voyons* Voyez* Voient

Rendre, Répondre Rends Rends Rend- Rendons Rendez Rendent
Devoir, recevoir Dois* Dois* Doit* Devons Devez Doivent*

Prendre, Apprendre Prends Prends Prend- Prenons* Prenez* Prennent*

Mettre, Permettre Mets Mets Met- Mettons* Mettez* Mettent*
Nâıtre, Connâıtre Nais Nais Nait Naissons* Naissez* Naissent*

Croire, Rire Crois Crois Croit Croyons* Croyez* Croient

Lire, Plaire Lis Lis Lit Lisons* Lisez* Lisent*
Vivre, Suivre Vis* Vis* Vit* Vivons Vivez Vivent

Écrire Écris Écris Écrit Écrivons* Écrivez* Écrivent*
Boire Bois Bois Boit Buvons* Buvez* Boivent*

Craindre, éteindre Crains Crains Craint Craignons* Craignez* Craignent*
Dormir Dors* Dors* Dort* Dormons Dormez Dorment
Mourir Meurs* Meurs* Meurt* Mourons Mourez Meurent*
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Present tense situations

The present tense, is normally used to describe the present instant. Hence it means most of the
time the unfolding of a present action, or a habit in the present. You can also use it to describe
other moments around the present (future, close future, past, close past) by using tense structures.

Unfolding Direct Je mange. (I am eating.)

Unfolding Être en train de (modal) Je suis en train de manger.
Habit Direct Je mange à midi. (I usually eat at 12.)
Habit Direct + souvent (often) Je mange souvent à midi.
Habit Avoir l’habitude de (modal) J’ai l’habitude de manger à midi.
Future Aller (modal) Je vais manger. (I am going to eat.)

Close future Être sur le point de (modal) Je suis sur le point de manger.
Past Avoir (auxiliary) J’ai déjà mangé. (I have already eaten.)
Close past Venir de (modal) Je viens de manger (I just ate).

To use the modal structures, you need to conjugate the modal verbs in present, and Manger
is in infinitive form. The auxiliary structure is the composed past (more details p.47), here the
auxiliary is Avoir conjugated in the present tense, and Manger is in the participle form Mangé.

Imperative tense

The imperative tense means that the speaker requires the listener to perform an action. The
verb has no subject. The possible listeners are Tu, Nous, Vous. The modal verbs Pouvoir,
Vouloir, Devoir, Falloir have no imperative form, Être and Avoir are irregular in imperative :

Tu (singular) Nous (Let’s) Vous (plural)

Être Sois* (swa) Soyons* (swayõ) Soyez* (swayé)
Avoir Aie* (è) Ayons* (èyõ) Ayez* (èyé)

Other verbs Present of Tu Present of Nous Present of Vous
Faire Fais (fè) Faisons (fezõ) Fâıtes (fèt)
Dire Dis (di) Disons (dizõ) Dı̂tes (dit)
Aller Va (va) Allons (alõ) Allez (alé)

Trouver Trouve* (trũv) Trouvons (trũvõ) Trouvez (trũvé)
Agir Agis* (aji) Agissons (ajisõ) Agissez (ajisé)
. . . . . . . . . . . .

For almost all the verbs, the imperative forms are identical to the present forms. Only the verbs
of the first group differ in writing, on the form of Tu (but sound the same as the present form).
The imperative form with Nous can be translated as Let’s ....

Examples in phrases
Sois-à l’heure (swa-z-a ler) - Be punctual Ayez confiance (èyé kõfyãs) en moi - Trust me

Faisons ça (fezõ sa) - Let’s do it Ne dis rien (ne di rỹı) - Don’t tell anything
Allez-vous en (alé vũ-zã) - Get away Viens chez moi (vỹı s̃é mwa) - Come home.
Trouve tout seul - Find by yourself. Donnez-moi les clés - Give me the keys

In imperative, the dative and accusative pronouns are after the verb. Moreover, the dative
declension of Je and Tu are Moi and Toi instead of Me and Te.
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Imperfective past tense conjugations

We enumerate again here how to use the past tense. In general, the stem of past is the same
(or almost the same) as the infinitive stem.

Je Tu Il, Elle, On Nous Vous Ils, Elles
Trouver Trouvais Trouvais Trouvait Trouvions Trouviez Trouvaient
Manger Mangeais* Mangeais* Mangeait* Mangions Mangiez Mangeaient*
Placer Plaçais* Plaçais* Plaçait* Placions Placiez Plaçaient*

Appeler Appelais Appelais Appelait Appelions Appeliez Appelaient

The verbs of the second regular conjugation in ”-IR” take the +iss :

Je Tu Il, Elle, On Nous Vous Ils, Elles
Agir Agissais Agissais Agissait Agissions Agissiez Agissaient
Finir Finissais Finissais Finissait Finissions Finissiez Finissaient

The irregular verbs, have regular terminations, and most of the time the stem of the infinitive.
We point here with * the forms where there is a non-infinitive stem.

Je Tu Il, Elle Nous Vous Ils, Elles

Être - Ét* Étais Étais Était Étions Étiez Étaient
Avoir - Av Avais Avais Avait Avions Aviez Avaient

Savoir - Sav Savais Savais Savait Savions Saviez Savaient
Faire - Fais* Faisais Faisais Faisait Faisions Faisiez Faisaient
Dire - Dis* Disais Disais Disait Disions Disiez Disaient

Pouvoir - Pouv Pouvais Pouvais Pouvait Pouvions Pouviez Pouvaient
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

We just need to give the past stem corresponding to each verb, and the terminations are regular.

Être - Ét* Pouvoir - Pouv Partir - Part Mettre - Mett Écrire - Écriv*
Avoir - Av Vouloir - Voul Voir - Voy* Nâıtre - Naiss Boire - Buv*

Savoir - Sav Falloir - Fall Rendre - Rend Croire - Croy* Craindre - Craign*
Faire - Fais* Aller - All Devoir - Dev Lire - Lis* Dormir - Dorm
Dire - Dis* Venir - Ven Prendre - Pren* Vivre - Viv Mourir - Mour

Imperfective past situations

Just like the present tense, the imperfective past tense is used to describe unfolding or habits
in the past. But you can also describe other moments around the underlying past (future in the
past, past in the past, . . . ) by conjugating the tense structures of the previous page in past.

Unfolding Direct Je mangeais. (I was eating.)

Unfolding Être en train de (modal) J’étais en train de manger.
Habit Direct Je mangeais à midi. (I used to eat at 12.)
Habit Direct + souvent (often) Je mangeais souvent à midi.
Habit Avoir l’habitude de (modal) J’avais l’habitude de manger à midi.
Future Aller (modal) J’allais manger. (I was going to eat.)

Close future Être sur le point de (modal) J’étais sur le point de manger.
Past Avoir (auxiliary) J’avais déjà mangé. (I had already eaten.)
Close past Venir de (modal) Je venais de manger. (I had just eaten.)
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Composed (perfective) past tense

The composed past tense is built like the English Perfect tense : Avoir / Être + Verb in
participle form. It is used to describe accomplishment of actions in the past, like English preterite.
Hence, it describes short, punctual actions in the past, it is the most important perfective past.

To use it, you need to know if the auxiliary of the verb is Être (with *) or Avoir, and you
need to know the participle form of the verb. In the next list, there are almost all the verbs whose
auxiliary is Être :

Aller* - To go Arriver* - To arrive Monter* - To go up
Venir* - To come Sortir* - To go out Descendre* - To go down
Devenir* - To become Entrer* - To go in Tomber* - To fall
Revenir* - To come back Rentrer* - To come back home Rester* - To Stay
Partir* - To leave Retourner* - To go back Mourir* - To die
Repartir* - To leave again Passer* - To pass Nâıtre* - To be born

All the reflexive verbs (beginning with Se) also have Être as a past auxiliary :

Se lever* - To stand up S’habiller* - To get dressed Se baigner* - To have a bath
S’asseoir* - To sit Se reposer* - To rest Se souvenir* - To remember
. . . . . . . . .

When the auxiliary is Être, the past participle agrees with the subject in gender and number :
+ e in feminine, + s in plural, + es in feminine plural.

Aller*, Être allé : Ils sont allés au cinéma. (They went to the cinema).

For all the many other verbs, the past auxiliary is Avoir and the past participle doesn’t agree
with the subject.

Faire, Avoir fait : Elle a fait son travail. (She found her keys).

Here is the table of the participles :

Regular in ”ER” Trouver −→ Trouvé Donner −→ Donné Chercher −→ Cherché
Irregular in ”ER” Mener −→ Mené Lever −→ Levé Appeler −→ Appelé
Regular in ”IR” Agir −→ Agi Finir −→ Fini Réussir −→ Réussi

Irregular 1 Être −→ Été Avoir −→ Eu Savoir −→ Su
Faire −→ Fait Dire −→ Dit

Pouvoir −→ Pu Vouloir −→ Voulu Falloir −→ Fallu
Irregular 2 Aller* −→ Allé Venir* −→ Venu Tenir −→ Tenu

Partir* −→ Parti Sortir* −→ Sorti Voir −→ Vu
Irregular 3 Rendre −→ Rendu Devoir −→ Du Prendre −→ Pris
Irregular 4 Mettre −→ Mis Ouvrir −→ Ouvert Nâıtre* −→ Né

Croire −→ Cru Rire −→ Ri Courir −→ Couru
Irregular 5 Lire −→ Lu Vivre −→ Vécu Suivre −→ Suivi

Écrire −→ Écrit Boire −→ Bu Craindre −→ Craint
Dormir −→ Dormi Mourir* −→ Mort

For the verbs of the first regular conjugation in ”-ER”, the participle has always the same
stem as the infinitive, and the termination is always é. The participles of the verbs of the second
regular conjugation in ”-IR” have the same stem as infinitive, and the termination is always i.

For the irregular verbs, the stem can change, and the terminations can be é, u, i, is, t, . . .
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The two future tenses

The composed future tense is build with the verb Aller as a future modal (like ”will”). The
conjugated verb appears in infinitive form. Here we present the future conjugation of Manger :

Je Tu Il, Elle Nous Vous Ils, Elles
Vais manger Vas manger Va manger Allons manger Allez manger Vont manger

The composed future is the most common future tense. It expresses a close or a certain future.
The direct future means a far away, uncertain, or indefinite future. There is a new stem always
finishing with the letter r, and the terminations are always the same. We point with * the verbs
whose future stem isn’t the infinitive stem.

Je Tu Il, Elle Nous Vous Ils, Elles
Trouver Trouverai Trouveras Trouvera Trouverons Trouverez Trouveront
Manger Mangerai Mangeras Mangera Mangerons Mangerez Mangeront
Placer Placerai Placeras Placera Placerons Placerez Placeront

Payer - Paier* Paierai Paieras Paiera Paierons Paierez Paieront
Jeter - Jetter* Jetterai Jetteras Jettera Jetterons Jetterez Jetteront

Mener - Mèner* Mènerai Mèneras Mènera Mènerons Mènerez Mèneront

For the verbs of the second regular conjugation in ”-IR” the stem is the infinitive form, and
the terminations are the same :

Je Tu Il, Elle, On Nous Vous Ils, Elles
Agir Agirai Agiras Agira Agirons Agirez Agiront
Finir Finirai Finiras Finira Finirons Finirez Finiront

The irregular verbs also have regular terminations, but many stems are irregular.

Je Tu Il, Elle Nous Vous Ils, Elles

Être - Ser* Serai Seras Sera Serons Serez Seront
Avoir - Aur* Aurai Auras Aura Aurons Aurez Auront

Savoir - Saur* Saurai Sauras Saura Saurons Saurez Sauront
Faire - Fer* Ferai Feras Fera Ferons Ferez Feront
Dire - Dir Dirai Diras Dira Dirons Direz Diront

Pouvoir - Pourr* Pourrai Pourras Pourra Pourrons Pourrez Pourront
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

We only give the future stems corresponding to each verb, and the terminations are as above.

Être - Ser* Vouloir - Voudr* Rendre - Rendr Vivre - Vivr

Avoir - Aur* Falloir - Faudr* Devoir - Devr Écrire - Écrir
Savoir - Saur* Aller - Ir* Prendre - Prendr Boire - Boir

Faire - Fer* Venir - Viendr* Mettre - Mettr Craindre - Craindr
Dire - Dir Partir - Partir Nâıtre - Nâıtr Dormir - Dormir

Pouvoir - Pourr* Voir - Verr* Croire - Croir Mourir - Mourr*

If somebody owes you money, rather hear Je vais te payer (I will pay you, close, certain)
than Je te paierai (I will pay you, far away, uncertain). The expressions described in present
tense Être en train de (simultaneity), Avoir l’habitude de (habit), Être sur le point de
(close future),. . . are possible to use in future, but they are not very common.
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Conditional conjugations

The conditional tense is built with the future stem of verbs, and the terminations differ.

Je Tu Il, Elle, On Nous Vous Ils, Elles
Trouver Trouverais Trouverais Trouverait Trouverions Trouveriez Trouveraient
Manger Mangerais Mangerais Mangerait Mangerions Mangeriez Mangeraient
Placer Placerais Placerais Placerait Placerions Placeriez Placeraient
Payer* Paierais Paierais Paierait Paierions Paieriez Paieraient
Jeter* Jetterais Jetterais Jetterait Jetterions Jetteriez Jetteraient

Mener* Mènerais Mènerais Mènerait Mènerions Mèneriez Mèneraient
Agir Agirais Agirais Agirait Agirions Agiriez Agiraient
Finir Finirais Finirais Finirait Finirions Finiriez Finiraient

As you can see, the terminations are regular. The terminations also work with irregular verbs.

Je Tu Il, Elle, On Nous Vous Ils, Elles

Être - Ser* Serais Serais Serait Serions Seriez Seraient
Avoir - Aur* Aurais Aurais Aurait Aurions Auriez Auraient

Savoir - Saur* Saurais Saurais Saurait Saurions Sauriez Sauraient
Faire - Fer* Ferais Ferais Ferait Ferions Feriez Feraient
Dire - Dir Dirais Dirais Dirait Dirions Diriez Diraient

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Conditional situations

The structure Si (Present) Alors (Future) expresses a certain assertion.

Si il a faim, (alors) il mangera - If he is hungry, (then) he will eat.

The structure Si (Imperfective past) Alors (Conditional) expresses a hypothetical assertion.

Si il avait faim, (alors) il mangerait - If he was hungry, (then) he would eat.

Sometimes, you can use the conditional form of a verb without saying the underlying condition,
because it is obvious :

J’aimerais te parler - (If it was possible for you,) I would like to speak with you.
Ce serait mieux de partir - (If we wanted to do for the best,) It would be better to leave.

Je te donnerais n’importe quoi - (If you asked me to,) I would give you anything.

The past conditional tense is built with the composed past structure ”Avoir, Être + Verb
(participle)”, where the auxiliary is in conditional tense.

Tu aurais pu m’appeler - Past conditional of Pouvoir.
Il serait venu tout de suite - Past conditional of Venir.

As in English, there are several expressions were the conditional tense is almost necessary.

Wishes J’aimerais avoir un café. I’d like to have a coffee.
Preferences Je préférerais partir. I’d rather leave.
Advices Tu devrais demander une augmentation. You should ask for a raise.

Tu ferais mieux de rester You’d better to stay
Likely things Il devrait y avoir assez de riz There should be enough rice.
Possible things Je pourrais venir plus tôt. I could come earlier.
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Subjunctive conjugations

The subjunctive mode is a different conjugation tense. For the verbs of the first regular conju-
gation in ”-ER”, the conjugation is as follows :

Que je Que tu Qu’il Que nous Que vous Qu’ils
Trouver Trouve Trouves Trouve Trouvions Trouviez Trouvent
Manger Mange Manges Mange Mangions Mangiez Mangent
Placer Place Places Place Placions Placiez Placent

Payer (Pay-Pai) Paie* Paies* Paie* Payions Payiez Paient*
Jeter (Jet-Jett) Jette* Jettes* Jette* Jetions Jetiez Jettent*

Mener (Men-Mèn) Mène* Mènes* Mène* Menions Meniez Mènent*

The verbs of the second regular conjugation in ”-IR” in subjunctive take the +iss :

Que je Que tu Qu’il Que nous Que vous Qu’ils
Agir Agisse Agisses Agisse Agissions Agissiez Agissent
Finir Finisse Finisses Finisse Finissions Finissiez Finissent

For the irregular verbs, you need to learn new stems for some of them.

Que je Que tu Qu’il Que nous Que vous Qu’ils

Être (Soi-Soy) Sois Sois Soit Soyons* Soyez* Soient
Avoir (Ai-Ay) Aie Aies Ait Ayons* Ayez* Aient
Savoir (Sach) Sache Saches Sache Sachions Sachiez Sachent
Faire (Fass) Fasse Fasses Fasse Fassions Fassiez Fassent
Dire (Dis) Dise Dises Dise Disions Disiez Disent

Pouvoir (Puiss) Puisse Puisses Puisse Puissions Puissiez Puissent
Vouloir (Veuill) Veuille* Veuilles* Veuille* Voulions Vouliez Veuillent*

Falloir (Faill) Faille

Aller (All-Aill) Aille* Ailles* Aille* Allions Alliez Aillent*
Venir (Ven-Vienn) Vienne* Viennes* Vienne* Venions Veniez Viennent*

Partir, Sortir Parte Partes Parte Partions Partiez Partent
Voir (Voi-Voy) Voie Voies Voie Voyions* Voyiez* Voient

Rendre, Répondre Rende Rendes Rende Rendions Rendiez Rendent
Devoir (Dev-Doiv) Doive* Doives* Doive* Devions Deviez Doivent*

Prendre (Prenn) Prenne* Prennes* Prenne* Prenions Preniez Prennent

Mettre, Permettre Mette Mettes Mette Mettions Mettiez Mettent
Nâıtre (Naiss) Naisse Naisses Naisse Naissions Naissiez Naissent

Croire, Rire Croie Croies Croie Croyions* Croyiez* Croient

Lire (Lis) Lise Lises Lise Lisions Lisiez Lisent
Vivre, Suivre Vive Vives Vive Vivions Viviez Vivent

Écrire (Écriv) Écrive Écrives Écrive Écrivions Écriviez Écrivent
Boire (Boiv-Buv) Boive Boives Boive Buvions* Buviez* Boivent
Craindre (Craign) Craigne Craignes Craigne Craignions Craigniez Craignent

Dormir Dorme Dormes Dorme Dormions Dormiez Dorment
Mourir (Meur) Meure* Meures* Meure* Mourions Mouriez Meurent*

You can conjugate to the past subjunctive with the structure of composed past tense ”Avoir/Être
+ Verb (participle)”, where the auxiliary is in the subjunctive mode.

Que j’aie mangé - Past subjunctive of Manger
Que je sois parti - Past subjunctive of Partir
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Subjunctive situations

The subjunctive mode doesn’t exist in English. It is used after some modal verbs of emotions,
intentions, thoughts when the subject of the modal is not the same as the subject of the verb.
For a verb without preposition (like Vouloir), the subjunctive sentence is introduced by que.
Otherwise, replace de → que or à → à ce que.

Infinitive Modal (obvious subject) Subjunctive (non-obvious subject)

Être content de Je suis content de venir. Je suis content que tu viennes.
To be happy I’m happy to come. I’m happy that you will come.
Avoir peur de J’ai peur de tomber. J’ai peur que tu tombes.
To be afraid I’m afraid to fall. I’m afraid that you fell.

Avoir besoin de J’ai besoin de partir. J’ai besoin que tu partes.
To need I need to leave. I need you to leave.

Faire en sorte de Je ferai en sorte de venir. Je ferai en sorte qu’il vienne.
To make sure I’ll make sure to come. I’ll make sure he will come.

Vouloir Je veux venir. Je veux que tu viennes.
To want I want to come. I want you to come.
Aimer J’aimerais manger. J’aimerais que tu manges.
To love I’d like to eat. I’d like you to eat.

Attendre de J’attends de pouvoir. J’attends que tu puisses.
To wait for I wait to be able. I wait for you to be able.
S’attendre à Il s’attend à venir. Il s’attend à ce que je vienne.
To expect He expects to come. He expects me to come.
Refuser de Je refuse de partir. Je refuse que tu partes.
To refuse I refuse to leave. I refuse that you leave.

Il faut Il faut partir. Il faut qu’il parte.
It is required Leaving is required. He needs to leave.
Il arrive de Il m’arrive d’oublier. Il arrive que j’oublie.

It happens sometimes I sometimes forget. I sometimes forget.
Il suffit de Il suffit d’essayer. Il suffit que tu essaies.

It is enough Trying will be enough. You just need to try.
Il vaut mieux Il vaut mieux partir. Il vaut mieux que tu partes.

It is better Leaving would be better. You’d better to leave.

The subjunctive can also happen after the conjunction Que or a variant, when the assertion is
hypothetical, or when the subject of the second assertion is non-obvious.

Conjunction Subjunctive (hypothetical) English
Que. . . ou - Whether Que tu le veuilles ou pas, Whether you like it or not,
Quoi que - Whatever Quoi que tu fasses, Whatever you do,
Qui que - Whoever Qui que ce soit, Whoever it is,
Où que - Wherever Où que tu ailles, Wherever you go,

Quand que - Whenever Quand que ce soit, Whenever it is,
Conjunction Subjunctive (non-obvious subject) English

Pour que - For Je viens pour que tu partes. I come for you to leave.

À moins que - Unless Je viens à moins que tu partes. I come unless you leave.
Sans que - Without Je viens sans que tu partes. I come without you leaving.
Bien que - Despite Je viens bien que tu partes. I come despite you leave.

Jusqu’à ce que - Until Je viens jusqu’à ce que tu partes. I come until you leave.
Avant que - Before Je viens avant que tu ne partes. I come before you leave.
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Order of the words : the easy case

Here, we will explain the order of the words in complex verbal structures : when there are
complements, complements as pronouns, composed tenses, and modal structures. The easiest
verbs are the intransitive verbs (no complement like Partir - To go), the state verbs (adjective for
complement like Devenir vieux - To become old) and the modal verbs (a verb as complement,
like Finir de manger - To finish eating).

Partir* (intransitive) ; Devenir* (state verb) ; Finir de (modal verb)
Direct Je (ne) pars (pas). I’m (not) leaving.

Je (ne) deviens (pas) vieux-vieille. I (don’t) become old. (m-f)
Je (ne) finis (pas) de manger. I (don’t) finish eating.

Modal Je (ne) peux (pas) partir. I can(’t) leave.
Je (ne) peux (pas) devenir vieux-vieille. I can(’t) become old. (m-f)
Je (ne) peux (pas) finir de manger. I can(’t) finish eating.

Past Je (ne) suis (pas) parti-e. I did(n’t) leave.
Je (ne) suis (pas) devenu-e vieux-vieille. I did(n’t) become old (m-f)
Je (ne) ai (pas) fini de manger. I did(n’t) finish eating.

Modal Je (n’) ai (pas) pu partir. I could(n’t) leave.
and Je (n’) ai (pas) pu devenir vieux-vieille. I could(n’t) become old. (m-f)
Past Je (n’) ai (pas) pu finir de manger. I could(n’t) finish eating.

The marks of negations Ne ... pas are always around the first verb of the sentence. In the
third line, we can see that in the prepositional verb Finir de, the mark of negation pas is between
the verb and the preposition. In lines 2, 5, 8, 11, we can see that the adjective Vieux can agree
in feminine Vieille if Je represents a woman. In line 7, 8, 9 (past) we can see that the participles
Parti, Devenu can agree in feminine Partie, Devenue if Je is a woman because their past
auxiliary is Être, and the participles Fini, Pu don’t agree because their past auxiliary is Avoir.

We can complicate a bit by choosing reflexive verbs : Se baigner (To have a bath), S’avérer
(To turn out to be), S’attendre à (To expect) for the same three roles.

Se baigner* (intransitive) ; S’avérer* (state verb) ; S’attendre* à (modal verb)
Direct Il (ne) se baigne (pas). He is (not) having a bath.

Cela (ne) s’avère (pas) vrai. This is (not) true.
Elle (ne) s’attend (pas) à perdre. She does(n’t) expect to lose.

Modal Il (ne) peut (pas) se baigner. I can(’t) have a bath.
Cela (ne) peut (pas) s’avérer vrai. It can(’t) be true.
Elle (ne) peut (pas) s’attendre à perdre. She can(’t) expect to lose.

Past Il (ne) s’est (pas) baigné. He did(n’t) have a bath.
Cela (ne) s’est (pas) avéré vrai. It finally was(n’t) true.
Elle (ne) s’est (pas) attendue à perdre. She did(n’t) expect to lose.

Modal Il (n’) a (pas) pu se baigner. He could(n’t) have a bath.
and Cela (n’) a (pas) pu s’avérer vrai. It could(n’t) finally be true.
Past Elle (n’) a (pas) pu s’attendre à perdre. She could(n’t) expect to lose.

The reflexive pronoun Se is stuck before its verb when the verb is conjugated (lines 1, 2, 3)
or when the verb is in infinitive form (lines 4, 5, 6 and 10, 11, 12). When the verb is in participle
form (lines 7, 8, 9) the reflexive pronoun is stuck before the auxiliary, which is always Être for
reflexive verbs. Line 8, the participle Avéré is in masculine form because Cela is considered as
masculine. Line 9, Attendue is in feminine form because it agrees with Elle.
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Order of the words : accusative pronouns

The accusative verbs have one direct complement, the object of the verb’s action :

J’ai une voiture. I have a car.

This complement can be represented by a personal pronoun, and it changes the order of the words.
We illustrate the different situations with the verbs Trouver le chemin (To find the way), Voir
Maman (To see mom), S’offrir* des chaussures (To pay shoes for oneself).

We can represent ”Le chemin” with the A-pronoun Le, l’, ”Maman” with the A-pronoun La,
l’, and ”Les chaussures” the A-pronoun Les (see the declensions of pronouns p.26).

Trouver qch (standard) ; Voir qun (standard) ; S’offrir* qch (reflexive)
Direct Tu (ne) trouves (pas) le chemin. You do (not) find the way.

Tu (ne) vois (pas) Maman. You do (not) see mom.
Tu (ne) t’offres (pas) des chaussures. You do (not) pay shoes for yourself.

Pronouns Tu (ne) le trouves (pas). You do (not) find it.
Tu (ne) la vois (pas). You do (not) see her.
Tu (ne) te les offres (pas). You do (not) pay it to yourself.

Modal Tu (ne) peux (pas) trouver le chemin. You can(’t) find the way.
Tu (ne) peux (pas) voir Maman. You can(’t) see Mom.
Tu (ne) peux (pas) t’offrir des chaussures. You can(’t) pay new shoes.

Pronouns Tu (ne) peux (pas) le trouver. You can(’t) find it.
Tu (ne) peux (pas) la voir. You can(’t) see her.
Tu (ne) peux (pas) te les offrir. You can(’t) pay it.

Past Tu (n’) as (pas) trouvé le chemin. You did(n’t) find the way.
Tu (n’) as (pas) vu Maman. You did(n’t) see Mom.
Tu (ne) t’es (pas) offert des chaussures. You did(n’t) pay shoes for yourself.

Pronouns Tu (ne) l’as (pas) trouvé. You did(n’t) find it.
Tu (ne) l’as (pas) vue. You did(n’t) see her.
Tu (ne) te les es (pas) offertes. You did(n’t) pay it for yourself.

Modal Tu (n’) as (pas) pu trouver le chemin. You could(n’t) find the way.
and Tu (n’) as (pas) pu voir Maman. You could(n’t) see Mom.
Past Tu (n’) as (pas) pu t’offrir des chauss... You could(n’t) buy shoes for yourself.

Pronouns Tu (n’) as (pas) pu le trouver. You could(n’t) find it.
Tu (n’) as (pas) pu la voir. You could(n’t) see her.
Tu (n’) as (pas) pu te les offrir. You could(n’t) buy it for yourself.

Like the reflexive pronoun, the accusative pronoun is stuck to its verb if it is conjugated (lines
4-6) or in infinitive form (lines 10-12, 22-24), and when the verb is in participle form, the pronoun
is stuck to the auxiliary (lines 16-18).

The past participles Trouvé, Vu, Offert can agree with the accusative complement (see lines
16-18) as Trouvé, Vue, Offertes and not with the subject. This happens when the accusative
complement is mentioned (as a pronoun) before the auxiliary. The non-reflexive accusative verbs
have always Avoir for a past auxiliary.

In lines 6, 12, 18, 24, the accusative pronoun les is between the reflexive pronoun te and the
verb Offrir, Être. This rule would remain true with other persons or other accusative pronouns :
the accusative pronoun is closer to the verb than the reflexive pronoun.
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Order of the words : accusative and dative pronouns

The dative verbs have two complements : the first one is for the accusative object of the verb,
and the second one is a person, introduced by the preposition À.

Je raconte l’histoire à mon frère - I tell the story to my brother.

All the dative verbs are non-reflexive and have Avoir as past participle. We illustrate the modal
and past situations with Donner les clés à maman (To give the key to mom), T’envoyer un colis
(To send you a package) and Dire aux enfants de partir (To ask the children to leave).

We can represent ”Les clés” with the A-pronoun Les, ”Maman” with the D-pronoun Lui,
”You” is represented as the D-pronoun T’, ”Un colis” with the A-pronoun Le, L’, and ”Aux
enfants” with the D-pronoun Leur (see the declensions of pronouns p.26).

Donner qch à qun (standard) ; Envoyer qch à qun (standard) ; Dire* à qun de (modal)
Dir. Nous (ne) donnons (pas) les clés à maman. We do(n’t) give the keys to mom.

Nous (ne) t’envoyons (pas) le colis. We do(n’t) send you the package.
Nous (ne) disons (pas) aux enfants de partir. We do(n’t) ask the children to leave.

Pr. Nous (ne) les donnons (pas) à maman. We do(n’t) give it to mom.
Nous (ne) lui donnons (pas) les clés. We do(n’t) give her the keys.
Nous (ne) les lui donnons (pas). We do(n’t) give it to her.
Nous (ne) te l’envoyons (pas). We do(n’t) send it to you.
Nous (ne) leur disons (pas) de partir. We do(n’t) ask them to leave.

Mod. Nous (ne) pouvons (pas) donner... We ca(n’t) give the keys to mom.
Nous (ne) pouvons (pas) t’envoyer le colis. We ca(n’t) send you the package.
Nous (ne) pouvons (pas) dire ... We ca(n’t) ask the children to leave.

Pr. Nous (ne) pouvons (pas) les donner à maman. We ca(n’t) give it to mom.
Nous (ne) pouvons (pas) lui donner les clés. We ca(n’t) give her the keys.
Nous (ne) pouvons (pas) les lui donner . We ca(n’t) give it to her.
Nous (ne) pouvons (pas) te l’envoyer. We ca(n’t) send it to you.
Nous (ne) pouvons (pas) leur dire de partir. We ca(n’t) ask them to leave.

Past. Nous (n’) avons (pas) donné ... We did(n’t) give the keys to mom.
Nous (ne) t’avons (pas) envoyé le colis. We did(n’t) send you the package.
Nous (n’) avons (pas) dit ... We did(n’t) ask the children to leave.

Pr. Nous (ne) les avons (pas) données à maman. We did(n’t) give it to mom.
Nous (ne) lui avons (pas) donné les clés. We did(n’t) give her the keys.
Nous (ne) les lui avons (pas) données . We did(n’t) give it to her.
Nous (ne) te l’avons (pas) envoyé. We did(n’t) send it to you.
Nous (ne) leur avons (pas) dit de partir. We did(n’t) ask them to leave.

The dative and accusative pronouns are stuck with the verb conjugated or infinitive (lines 2,
4-8 and 10, 12-16) and the pronouns are stuck with the auxiliary otherwise (lines 18, 20-24).

When there are two pronouns (lines 6-7, 14-15, 22-23), the closer to the verb is the dative one
lui, leur when it represents the third person ”Il, Elle, Ils, Elles” (see lines 6, 14, 22) and the closer
to the verb is the accusative one le, l’, la, l’, les if the dative pronoun is Me, Te, Nous, Vous
which represents the first or second person ”Je, Tu, Nous, Vous” (see lines 7, 15, 23).

The past participles Donné, Envoyé agree with the accusative complement Données, En-
voyé when it is mentioned (as a pronoun) before the auxiliary (see lines 20, 22, 23) and the past
participle Dit doesn’t agree because it has no accusative complement.
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Order of the words : prepositional complements and pronouns

The prepositional verbs have a required preposition before their complement.

Voulez-vous coucher avec moi ? Do you want to have sex with me ?

Sometimes, the preposition is À but the verb is not dative. When the preposition is À or De
the pronouns Y, En can represent the complement, if it doesn’t refer to a person. Here we shall
present the verbs Penser au travail (To think about work), Avoir besoin de la voiture (To need
the car), Avoir confiance en Papa (To trust dad).

Penser à qch (prep. à) ; Avoir besoin de qch (prep. de) ; Avoir confiance en qun (prep. en)
Direct Vous (ne) pensez (pas) au travail. You do(n’t) think about work.

Vous (n’) avez (pas) besoin de la voiture. You do(n’t) need the car.
Vous (n’) avez (pas) confiance en Papa. You do(n’t) trust dad.

Pronouns Vous (ne) pensez (pas) à ça. You do(n’t) think about it.
Vous (n’) y pensez (pas).
Vous (n’) avez (pas) besoin de ça. You do(n’t) need it.
Vous (n’) en avez (pas) besoin.
Vous (n’) avez (pas) confiance en lui. You do(n’t) trust him.

Modal Vous (ne) pouvez (pas) penser au travail. You ca(n’t) think about work.
Vous (ne) pouvez (pas) avoir besoin de ... You ca(n’t) need the car.
Vous (ne) pouvez (pas) avoir confiance ... You ca(n’t) trust dad.

Pronouns Vous (ne) pouvez (pas) y penser. You ca(n’t) think about it.
Vous (ne) pouvez (pas) en avez besoin. You ca(n’t) need it.
Vous (ne) pouvez (pas) avoir confiance en lui. You ca(n’t) trust him.

Past Vous (n’) avez (pas) pensé au travail. You did(n’t) think about work.
Vous (n’) avez (pas) eu besoin de la voiture. You did(n’t) need the car.
Vous (n’) avez (pas) eu confiance en Papa. You did(n’t) trust dad.

Pronouns Vous (n’) y avez (pas) pensé. You did(n’t) think about it.
Vous (n’) en avez (pas) eu besoin. You did(n’t) need it.
Vous (n’) avez (pas) eu confiance en lui. You did(n’t) trust him.

The pronouns Y, En are placed like accusative pronouns (see lines 5-7, 13-15, 21-23). For any
other prepositional complements en lui that cannot be represented as Y, En, it is always placed
after the verb. The complements à ça, de ça are also after the verb. We complicate with reflexive
prepositional verbs.

S’opposer à qch (prep. à) ; Se souvenir de qch (prep. de)
Direct Ils (ne) s’opposent (pas) à la guerre. They do(n’t) oppose to war.

Ils (ne) se souviennent (pas) de ça. They do(n’t) remember it.
Pronouns Ils (ne) s’y opposent (pas). They do(n’t) oppose to it.

Ils (ne) s’en souviennent (pas). They do(n’t) remember it.
Modal Ils (ne) peuvent (pas) s’opposer à la guerre. They ca(n’t) oppose to war.

Ils (ne) peuvent (pas) se souvenir de ça. They ca(n’t) remember it.
Pronouns Ils (ne) peuvent (pas) s’y opposer. They ca(n’t) oppose to it.

Ils (ne) peuvent (pas) s’en souvenir. They ca(n’t) remember it.
Past Ils (ne) se sont (pas) opposés à la guerre. They did(n’t) oppose to war.

Ils (ne) se sont (pas) souvenus de ça. They did(n’t) remember it.
Pronoun Ils (ne) s’y sont (pas) opposés. They did(n’t) oppose to it.

Ils (ne) s’en sont (pas) souvenus. They did(n’t) remember it.

In past forms (lines 9-12) the participles agree with Ils in plural because the auxiliary is Être.
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3 French vocabulary

3.1 Nouns classified by similar senses

Humans and human things

Une personne (un pèrson) - A person
Un homme (om) - Man Un garçon (garsõ) - Boy Monsieur (mẽsyẽ) - Mister

Une femme (fam) - Woman Une fille (fiy) - Girl Madame (madam) - Miss

Un bébé (bébé) - Baby Un-e adolescent-e (adôlèsã-t) - Teenager
Un-e enfant (ãfã) - Kid Un-e adulte (adult) - Adult

Un-e ami-e (ami) - Friend Un-e camarade - Classmate Un-e voisin-e - Neighbour
Un-e ennemi-e - Enemy Un-e collègue - Co-worker Un compagnon - Lover

Des gens (dé jã) - People Un-e habitant-e - Liver Une compagne - Lover

Un membre de la famille (̃ı mãbr-e-de la famiy) - A family member
Le mari (mari), L’époux (épũ) - Husband Le père (pèr), Papa - Father
La femme (fam), L’épouse (épũz) - Wife La mère (mèr), Maman - Mother

Les enfants (ãfã) - Children Les parents (parã) - Parents
Le grand-père (grã pèr), Papy - Grand-father Le fils (fis) - Son

La grand-mère (grã mèr), Mamie - Grand mother La fille (fiy) - Daughter
L’oncle (õkl), Tonton - Uncle Le frère (frèr) - Brother
La tante (tãt), Tata - Aunt La soeur (ser) - Sister

Beau-père (bô pèr) - Stepfather, or in-law Beau-frère (bô frèr) - Brother-in-law
Belle-mère (bèl mèr) - Stepmother, or in-law Belle-soeur (bèl ser) - Sister-in-law

Une partie du corps humain (un parti du cor umı̃) - A part of the human body
La tête (tèt) - Head Un bras (bra) - Arm Une jambe (jãb) - Leg

Le ventre (vãtr) - Belly Une main (mı̃) - Hand Un pied (pyé) - Foot
Le dos (dô) - Back Un doigt (dwa) - Finger Un orteil (ortèy) - Toe

Une fesse (fès) - Buttock Une épaule (épôl) - Shoulder Une cuisse (kuis) - Thigh
La poitrine (pwatrin) - Chest Un genou (jenũ) - Knee Un coude (kũd) - Elbow

Le visage (vizaj) - Face La bouche (bũs̃) - Mouth Une dent (dã) - Tooth
La figure (figur) - Face Le nez (né) - Nose Une narine (narin) - Nostril

La face (fas) - Face Un oeil, yeux (ey, yẽ) - Eye Une paupière (pôpyèr) - Eyelid
Le front (frõ) - Forehead Une oreille (ôrèy) - Ear La peau (pô) - Skin
Un cheveu (s̃evẽ) - A hair Une joue (jũ) - Cheek La barbe (barb) - Beard

Le coeur (ker) - Heart Du sang (sã) - Blood Le pénis - Penis
Un poumon (pũmõ) - Lung De la chair (s̃èr) - Flesh Un testicule - Testicle

Le foie (fwa) - Liver Une larme (larm) - Tear Du sperme (spèrm) - Sperm
L’estomac (èstôma) - Stomach Un os, des os (os, ô) - Bone Le vagin (vaj̃ı) - Vagina

Le cerveau (sèrvô) - Brain Un ligament - Ligament Un ovaire (ôvèr) - Ovary
Le cou (le kũ) - Neck Un nerf (nèr) - A nerve Les règles (règl) - Period

Une caractéristique humaine (un karaktéristik umèn) - A human characteristic
Le nom (nõ) - Name L(e)’âge (aj) - Age L(a)’apparence (aparãs) - Look
La taille (tay) - Size La force (fors) - Force L(a)’expérience (ekspéryãs)

Le poids (pwa) - Weight La santé (sãté) - Health Le caractère - Character

Une relation humaine (un relasyõ humèn) - A human relationship
Le mariage (maryaj) - Wedding Une fête (fèt) - Party La compagnie - Company

Une amitié (amityé) - Friendship Un groupe (grũp) - Group Une rencontre - Encounter
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Human mind

Les cinq sens (lé s̃ık sãs) - The five senses - Les besoins (lé bezw̃ı) - The needs
La vue (vu) - Sight Un bruit (brui) - Noise Une odeur (ôder) - Smell

Un regard (regar) - Look Un son (sõ) - Sound La douleur (dũler) - Pain
La faim (f̃ı) - Hunger La fatigue (fatig) - Tiredness Le froid (frwa) - Cold
La soif (swaf) - Thirst Le sommeil (sômèy) - Sleep La chaleur (s̃aler) - Heat

La parole (la parol) - The talking
La voix (vwa) - Voice Une lettre (lètr) - Letter Un conseil (kõsèy) - Advice

Un ton (tõ) - Tone Un mot (mô) - Word Un accord (akor) - Agreement
Le chant (s̃ã) - Singing Une phrase (fraz) - Sentence Un avis (avi) - Opinion
Un cri (kri) - Scream Une conversation - Talk Un ordre (ordr) - Order

Un discours (diskũr) - Speech Un appel (apèl) - Call La vérité (vérité) - Truth
Une question - Question Une langue (lãg) - Language Un mensonge (mãsõj) - Lie

Une réponse (répõs) - Answer Un propos - Statement Un secret (sekrè) - Secret

La pensée (la pãsé) - The thinking
La raison (rèzõ) - Mind L(a)’attention (atãsyõ) - Attention

La volonté (vôlõté) - Will La confiance (kõfyãs) - Trust
L(e)’intérêt (̃ıtérè) - Interest La conscience (kõsyãs) - Consciousness

L(e)’esprit (èspri) - Spirit La mémoire (mémwar) - The memory
La réflexion (réflèksyõ) - Thinking L(e)’instinct (̃ıst̃ı) - Instinct
L(a)’attitude (atitud) - Behaviour Le respect (rèspè) - Respect

L(a)’intelligence (̃ıtèlijãs) - Intelligence La bonté (bõté) - Kindness

Une idée (idé) - Idea Un avis (avi) - Opinion Un souvenir (sũvenir) - Memory
Un rêve (rèv) - Dream Un doute (dũt) - Doubt Une impression (̃ıprèsyõ) - Feeling

Un choix (s̃wa) - Choice Une envie (ãvi) - Desire Une certitude (sèrtitud) - Certainty

Une émotion (un émosyõ), Un sentiment (̃ı sãtimã) - A feeling
L’amour (amũr) - Love La joie (jwa) - Joy La fierté (fyèrté) - Proudness

La haine (èn) - Hate La peine (pèn) - Sorrow La honte (õt) - Shame
Le désir (dézir) - Desire La peur (per) - Fear Le courage (kũraj) - Courage

Le bonheur (bôner) - Happyness La crainte (kr̃ıt) - Fear La curiosité - Curiosity
La passion (pasyõ) - Passion L(a)’inquiétude - Worry La pitié (pityé) - Pity

La colère (kôlèr) - Anger L(a)’angoisse - Anxiety La folie (fôli) - Madness
La confiance (kõfyãs) - Trust La terreur (tèrer) - Terror L(e)’espoir (èspwar) - Hope

Le plaisir (plèzir) - Pleasure La chance (s̃ãs) - Luck
La souffrance (sũfrãs) - Suffering Le malheur (maler) - Misfortune

Une action humaine (un aksyõ umèn) - A human action
Un pas (pa) - Step Une expression (èksprèsyõ) Le rire (rir) - Laughter

La marche (mars̃) - Walking Un geste (jèst) - Move Un sourire (sũrir) - Smile
Une erreur (èrer)- Mistake Un acte (akt) - Action Un effort (èfor) - Effort

Une faute (fôt) - Fault Un coup (kũ) - Action Un changement - Change
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Nature and trees

La nature (la natur) - The nature
L(e)’univers - Universe Le monde (mõd) - World La réalité - Reality

Le soleil (sôlèy) - Sun Le ciel (syèl) - Sky La matière (matyèr) - Material
La Terre (tèr) - Earth La terre (tèr) - Ground L(a)’énergie (énèrji) - Energy
La lune (lun) - Moon La mer (mèr) - Sea Une force (fors) - Force

Une planète (planèt) - Planet Le jour (jũr) - Day La lumière (lumyèr) - Light
Une étoile (étwal) - Star La nuit (nui) - Night La vie (vi) - Life

Un élément (élémã) - Element Le temps (tã) - Weather Une sensation - Feeling
L(e)’air (èr) - Air Le vent (vã) - Wind La chaleur (s̃aler) - Heat

L(a)’eau (ô) - Water Un nuage (nuaj) - Cloud Le froid (frwa) - Cold
Le feu (fẽ) - Fire La pluie (plui) - Rain Le gel (jèl) - Frost

Une flamme (flam) - Flame Le ciel bleu - Blue sky Le bruit (brui) - Noise
La fumée (fumé) - Smoke La neige (nèj) - Snow Le silence (silãs) - Silence

Le sol (sol) - Ground La glace (glas) - Ice L(a)’obscurité - Darkness
La poussière (pũsyèr) - Dust Un éclair (éklèr) - Lightning L(a)’ombre (õbr) - Shadow

Le paysage (pèizaj) - Landscape La montagne - Mountain La côte (kôt) - Coast
La campagne (kãpany) - Country Un sommet (sômè) - Peak L(e)’océan (ôséã) - Ocean

Une colline (kôlin) - Hill Un rocher (rôs̃é) - Rock L(e)’horizon - Horizon
Une forêt (fôrè) - Forest Une vallée (valé) - Valley Une ı̂le (il) - Island

Un fleuve (flev) - Big river Un col (col) - Pass Un détroit (détrwa) - Strait
Une rivière (rivyèr) - River Un torrent (tôrã) - Torrent La tempête (tãpèt) - Storm
Le désert (dézèr) - Desert Une crête (krèt) - Crest Une vague (vag) - Wave

Une plante (un plãt) - A plant Un arbre (arbr) - Tree Une plantation (plãtasyõ)
Une feuille (fey) - Leaf Le tronc (trõ) - Trunk Un jardin (jard̃ı) - Garden
Une tige (tij) - Stem Une branche (brãs̃) - Branch Un verger (vèrjé) - Orchard

Une racine (rasin) - Root L(a)’écorce (ékors) - Bark Un champs (s̃ã) - Field

Une espèce végétale (un èspès véjétal) - A plant species
En forêt - In forest Un fruit (frui) - Fruit Un légume (légum) - Vegetable

Un sapin (sap̃ı) - Fir tree Une pomme (pom) - Apple Une patate (patat) - Potatoe
Un pin (p̃ı) - Pine Une poire (pwar) - Pear Un oignon (ônyõ) - Onion

Un mélèze (mélèz) - Larch Une prune (prun) - Plum Un poireau (pwarô) - Leak
Un chêne (s̃èn) - Oak Une cerise (seriz) - Cherry Une courgette - Zucchini

Un frêne (frèn) - Ash tree Une pêche (pès̃) - Peach Une courge (kũrj) - Pumpkin
Un bouleau (bũlô) - Birch Un raisin (rèz̃ı) - Grape Une tomate (tômat) - Tomatoe
Un platane - Plane tree Une olive (ôliv) - Olive Une salade (salad) - Salad

Un érable (érabl) - Maple Une orange (ôrãj) - Orange Un chou (s̃ũ) - Cabbage
Un saule (sôl) - Willow Un citron (sitrõ) - Lemon Un haricot (arikô) - Bean

The tree that grows a fruit is often obtained with the suffix ier : Une pomme→ Un pommier.

Exceptions for names of trees
Word Wrong plural Good plural form
Une pêche (un pès̃) - A peach Un pêchier Un pêcher (̃ı pès̃é)
Une orange (un ôrãj) - An orange Un orangier Un oranger (̃ı-n-ôrãjé)
Un raisin (̃ı rèz̃ı) - A grape Un raisinier Un pied de vigne (pyé de viny)
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Animals and food

Une espèce animale (un èspès animal) - An animal species
Un élevage - Farming Une viande (vyãd) - Meat Un produit - Product
Une vache (vas̃) - Cow Du boeuf (bef) - Beef Du lait (lè) - Milk

Un mouton (mũtõ) - Sheep De l’agneau (anyô) - Lamb De la laine (lèn) - Wool
Une poule (pũl) - Chicken Du poulet (pũlè) - Chicken Un oeuf (̃ı-n-ef, dé-z-ẽ) - Egg

Un cochon (kôs̃õ) - Pig Du porc (por) - Pork Du cuir (cuir) - Leather
Un cheval (s̃eval) - Horse Du cheval (s̃eval) - Horse Du crin (kr̃ı) - Horsehair
Un lapin (lap̃ı) - Rabbit Du lapin (lap̃ı) - Rabbit Une peau (pô) - A skin

En forêt - In forest Un oiseau (wasô) - Bird À la maison - In house
Un sanglier (sãgliyé) - Boar Un corbeau (korbô) - Crow Un chien (s̃ỹı) - Dog

Un cerf (sèr) - Stag Un aigle (ègl) - Eagle Un chat (s̃a) - Cat
Un chevreuil (s̃evrey) - Deer Un pigeon (pijõ) - Pigeon Un poisson (pwasõ) - Fish

Un renard (renar) - Fox Une mouette (mwèt) - Seagull Une souris (sũri) - Mouse
Un loup (lũ) - Wolf Un moineau (mwanô) - Sparrow Une tortue (tortu) - Turtle
Un ours (ũrs) - Bear Une pie (pi) - Magpie Un serpent (sèrpã) - Snake

Un insecte (̃ısèkt) - Insect Dans la mer - In the sea Un micro-organisme
Une mouche (mũs̃) - Fly Un thon (tõ) - Tuna Une bactérie - Bacteria
Une abeille (abèy) - Bee Une baleine (balèn) - Whale Le cancer (kãsèr) - Cancer
Une guêpe (gèp) - Wasp Un requin (rek̃ı) - Shark Une infection - Infection

Une fourmi (fũrmi) - Ant Une sardine (sardin) - Sardine Un parasite - Parasite
Une araignée - Spider Un dauphin (dôf̃ı) - Dolphin Un virus (virus) - Virus

En Afrique - In Africa En Asie - In Asia En Amérique - In America
Un lion (lyõ) - Lion Un tigre (tigr) - Tiger Un jaguar (jagwar) - Jaguar

Un éléphant (éléfã) - Elephant Un panda (pãda) - Panda Un bison (bizõ) - Bison
Un zèbre (zèbr) - Zebra Un Yack (yak) - Yack Un chacal (s̃akal) - Jackal

For each European animal, there are different words to designate the male, female and baby :

Male Female Baby Male Female Baby
Chien (s̃ỹı) Chienne (s̃yèn) Chiot (s̃yô) Taureau (tôrô) Vache (vas̃) Veau (vô)
Chat (s̃a) Chatte (s̃at) Chaton (s̃atõ) Bélier (bélyé) Brebis (brebi) Agneau
Coq (kok) Poule (pũl) Poussin (pũs̃ı) Cochon (kôs̃õ) Truie (trui) Porcelet

Renard Renarde Renardeau Cheval (s̃eval) Jument (jumã) Poulain
Loup (lũ) Louve (lũv) Louveteau Sanglier Laie (lè) Marcassin

De la nourriture (de la nũritur) - Food - Un repas (̃ı repa) - A meal
Une céréale - Cereal Une boisson (bwasõ) - Drink Un ingrédient - Ingredient
Du pain (p̃ı) - Bread De l(a)’eau (ô) - Water Du sel (sèl) - Salt

Du riz (ri) - Rice Du café (kafé) - Coffee Du poivre (pwavr) - Pepper
Des pâtes (pat) - Pasta Du thé (té) - Tea Du fromage - Cheese

De la semoule - Semolina Du jus (ju) - Juice Du sucre (sukr) - Sugar
De la purée - Mashed potatoes Du sirop (sirô) - Syrup De la sauce (sôs) - Sauce

De la farine (farin) - Flour De la bière (byèr) - Beer De l(a)’huile (uil) - Oil
Du mäıs (mais) - Corn Du vin (ṽı) - Wine Du beurre (ber) - Butter
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Space and geography

La division de l’espace (la divizyõ de lèspas) - The division of space
L’univers (univèr) - Universe Un endroit (ãdrwa) - Place
L(e)’espace (èspas) - Space Un lieu (lyẽ) - Place

La voie lactée (vwa lakté) - Milky way Un côté (kôté) - Side
Le système solaire (sistèm sôlèr) - Solar system Le centre (sãtr) - Center

La planète Terre (planèt tèr) - Planet earth Le milieu (milyẽ) - Middle
Un continent (kõtinã) - Continent Une place (plas) - Square

Un pays (pèi) - Country Une entrée (ãtré) - Entrance
Un état (éta) - State Une sortie (sorti) - Exit

Une région (réjyõ) - Region Une rue (ru) - A street
Un département (départemã) - Department Une route (rũt) - Road

Une ville (vil) - City Un chemin (s̃emı̃) - Path
Un quartier (kartyé) - District Un pont (põ) - Brdge

Un village (vilaj) - Village Un tunnel (tunèl) - Tunnel

Une direction (un dirèksyõ) - A direction
Le nord (nor) - North La droite (drwat) - Right Le haut (ô) - Top
Le sud (sud) - South La gauche (gôs̃) - Left Le bas (ba) - Bottom
L(e)’est (èst) - East L(e)’avant (avã) - Front L(a)’altitude (altitud) - Highness

L(e)’ouest (wèst) - West L(e)’arrière (aryèr) - Back La profondeur (prôfõder) - Deepness

Un pays du monde (̃ı pèi du mõd) - A country in the world
L(a)’Europe (ẽrop) L(a)’ Asie (azi) L(a)’Afrique (afrik)

La France (frãs) La Chine (s̃in) Le Nigeria (nijèrya)

L(a)’Angleterre (ãgletèr) L(a)’Inde (̃ıd) L(a)’Éthiopie (étyôpi)

L(a)’Allemagne (alemany) L’Indonésie (̃ıdônézi) L(a)’Égypte (éjipt)
L(a)’Espagne (èspany) Le Pakistan (pakistã) Le Congo (kõgô)

L(a)’Italie (itali) Le Japon (japõ) L’afrique du sud
La Pologne (pôlony) La Corée (kôré) L(a)’Algérie (aljéri)

La Roumanie (rũmani) Le Vietnam (vyètnam) Le Maroc (marok)
L(a)’Eurasie L(a)’Amérique (amérik) L(a)’Océanie (ôséani)

La Russie (rusi) Les États-unis (éta-z-uni) L(a)’Australie (ôstrali)
La Turquie (turki) Le Canada (kanada) La Nouvelle-Zélande

Le Kazakhstan Le Brésil (brézil) La Papouaisie (papwèzi)

Most of the countries have the feminine gender : La France→En France. When a country has
the masculine gender, In is translated by Au instead of En. Most of the cities have no gender.

Une ville du monde (un vil du mõd) - A city in the world
Paris (pari), Lyon (lyõ) Pékin (pék̃ı) Lagos (lagôs)

Londres (lõdr) New Dehli (nyũ dèli) Addis-Abeba (adis abèda)
Berlin (bèrl̃ı) Jakarta (djakarta) Le Caire (kèr)

Madrid Islamabad Kinshasa (kins̃asa)
Rome, Milan (milã) Tokyo (tôkyô) Pretoria (prètorya)
Varsosie (varsôvi) Séoul (séũl) Alger (aljé)

Bucarest (bukarèst) Hô Chi Minh (ô-s̃i-min) Casablanca (kazablãka)
Moscou(môskũ) New York (nyũ-york) Sydney (sidnè)
Ankara (ãkara) Montréal (mõréal) Wellington (wèlington)

Astana Rio (riyo) Port Moresby (môrèsbi)
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State and institutions

La politique (la pôlitik) - Politics
Le gouvernement - Government Un parti (parti) - Party Un droit (drwa) - Right

Le peuple (pepl) - People Un membre (mãbr) - Member Un devoir (devwar) - Duty
La société (sôsyété) - Society La gauche (gôs̃) - Socialists Une règle (règl) - Rule
Le système (sistèm) - System La droite - Republicans Liberté - Liberty

L(e)’état (éta) - State Le centre (sãtr) - Moderates Égalité - Equality
La nation (nasyõ) - Nation Les extrêmes - Extremists Fraternité - Brotherhood

Une institution d’état (un ı̃stitusyõ déta) - A state institution
L(a)’école (ékol) - School L(e)’hôpital (ôpital) - Hospital La police (pôlis) - Police

La SNCF (èsènséèf) - Trains La poste (post) - Post office La prison (prizõ) - Jail
La justice (justis) - Justice La monnaie (mônè) - Currency Le pouvoir (pũvwar) - Power

Une armée (un armé) - An army
La guerre (gèr) - War Un char d’assaut (s̃ar) - Tank La frontière - Border
La paix (pè) - Peace Un fusil (fuzi) - Rifle Le front (frõ) - Front

Une guerre civile - Civil war Une mitrailleuse - Machine gun Un combat (kõba) - Fight
Une révolution - Revolution Un missile (misil) - Missile Une bataille (batay) - Battle

La monnaie (la mônè) - The currency
L(e)’argent (arjã) - Money Une somme (som) - Amount L(a)’économie - Economics

Une pièce (pyès) - Coin Une fortune - Big amount Une banque (bãk) - Bank
Un billet (biyè) - Banknote La valeur (valer) - Value Le marché (mars̃é) - Market

Un euro (ẽrô) - Euro Le prix (pri) - Price Une crise (kriz) - Crisis
Un dollar (dôlar) - Dollar Le salaire (salèr) - Wage La croissance - Growth
Un centime (sãtim) - Cent Un compte (kõt) - Account Les affaires - Business

La santé (la sãté) - The health
La naissance (nèsãs) - Birth Le médecin (médes̃ı) - Doctor Les soins (sw̃ı) - Care

La mort (mor) - Death L(a)’infirmière - Nurse Un traitement - Treatment
La vie (vi) - Life Le-La dentiste - Teeth doctor Une maladie - Disease

Une blessure - Injury Une MST (èmèsté) - STD La migraine - Headache
Une fracture - Fracture Un champignon (s̃ãpinyõ) - Fungus La chiasse (s̃yas) - Crap

Une entorse - Sprain Des poux (pũ) - Head lice La nausée (nôzé) - Nausea

Le droit (le drwa) - The legal institution - La justice (justis) - Justice
La loi (lwa) - Law Le tribunal - Court Un accusé (akuzé) - Defendant

Un délit (déli) - Offence Le cabinet - Lawyer’s office Une victime (viktim) - Victime
Un crime (krim) - Crime Un procès (prôsè) - Trial Un témoin (témw̃ı) - Witness

La religion (la relijyõ) - Religion
Dieu (dyẽ) - God Un ange (ãj) - Angel Le paradis - Heaven

Le diable (dyabl) - Devil Un démon (démõ) - Demon L’enfer (ãfèr) - Hell
Un prophète (prôfèt) - Prophet Une église - Church L(a)’âme (am) - Soul
Un messager (mèsajé) - Prophet Un-e croyant-e - Believer La foi (fwa) - Faith

Un dieu (dyẽ) - God Un-e disciple - Disciple Le salut (salu) - Salvation
Une déesse (déès) - Goddess Un prêtre (prètr) - Priest La vie éternelle - Eternal life
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Science, studies, art and sport

La science (la syãs) - Science
La chimie (s̃imi) La physique (fizik) La biologie (byôlôji)

Une molécule (môlékul) La position (pôzisyõ) Une cellule (sèlul) - Cell
Un atome (atôm) La vitesse (vitès) - Speed Un tissu (tisu) - Tissue

Une réaction (réaksyõ) L(a)’énergie (énèrji) Un organe (organ) - Organ
Un réactif - Reagent La puissance (puisãs) - Power L(e)’ADN (adéèn) - DNA
Un produit - Product La masse (mas) - Mass Un être vivant - Living creature
La matière (matyèr) Le poids (pwa) - Height Un végétal (véjétal) - Plant

Le vide (vid) - Vacuum La force (fors) - Force Un mammifère - Mammal

La géométrie (jéométri) L(a)’informatique (̃ıformatik) La mécanique (mékanik)
Un cercle (sèrkl) - Circle Un ordinateur - Computer Une vis (vis) - Screw
Le rayon (rèyõ) - Radius Un programme (prôgram) Un écrou (ékrũ) - Nut
Une longueur - Length Une variable (varyabl) Un axe (aks) - Axis

Le milieu (milyẽ) - Middle Une fonction (fõksyõ) Un tour (tũr) - Turn
Une ligne (liny) - Line Un processeur (prôsèser) Un moteur (môter) - Motor
Un plan (plã) - Plane Un disque dur - Hard drive Une courroie (kũrwa) - Belt
Un angle (ãgl) - Angle Des données (dôné) - Data Un engrenage - Gear

Some words are transparent enough not to require translation.

Les études (lé-z-étud) - Studies - Les diplômes (lé diplôm) - Graduation
La maternelle - 3-6 y.o. Le lycée (lisé) - 15-18 y.o. La licence (lisãs) - B+3
L’école (ékol) - 6-11 y.o. Le bac (bak) - Bachelor (18 y.o) Le master (master) - B+5

Le collège (kôlèj) - 11-15 y.o. L’université - 18+ y.o. Le doctorat (dôktôra) - B+8

L(e)’art (lar) - Art
La musique (muzik) La littérature (litératur) Le théatre (téatr)
La mélodie (mélôdi) Un livre (livr) - Book Une pièce (pyès) - Play

Le rythme (ritm) La poésie (pôézi) - Poetry Un rôle (rôl) - Role
Un accord (akor) Un roman (rômã) - Novel La scène (sèn) - Scene

Un instrument (̃ıstrumã) Une nouvelle - Short story Un acte (akt) - Act
Un-e musicien-nne - Musician Un-e écrivain-e - Writer Un-e acteur-trice - Actor

Le cinéma (sinéma) La peinture (p̃ıtur) La photographie (fôtôgrafi)
Une salle (sal) - Cinema Une oeuvre d’art (evr-e-dar) Une photo (fôtô) - Picture
Un film (film) - Movie Une toile (twal) - Painting Un appareil photo - Camera

Une série (séri) - Series Un-e peintre (p̃ıtr) - Painter Un-e photographe - Photographer
The names of music instruments are transparent : Un piano, Une guitare.

Le sport (le spor) - Sport - Un jeu (̃ı jẽ) - A game
Sports de ballon Sports de raquette Sports d’endurance

Le foot (fũt) - Soccer Le tennis (tènis) - Tennis Le cyclisme (siklism) - Cycling
Le handball (ãdbal) - Handball Le badminton La course (kũrs) - Running

Le rugby (rugbi) - Rugby Le ping-pong Le footing - Jogging
Le basket - Basketball Le squash La musculation - Bodybuilding

Un ballon (balõ) - Ball Une balle (bal) - Ball Un vélo (vélô) - Bike
Une cage (kaj) - Cage Une raquette (rakèt) - Racket Des baskets - Sport shoes

Un panier (panyé) - Basket Un filet (filè) - Net Des altères (altèr) - Weights
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Work, jobs and workplaces

Le travail en entreprise (le travay ã-n-ãtrepriz) - Working in a company
Les horaires - Timetable Le SMIC (smik) - Minimal wage Le bénéfice - Profit

À plein temps - Full-time Le taux horaire - Hourly rate Les ventes (vãt) - Sales

À temps partiel - Part-time Une tâche (tas̃) - Task Les achats (as̃a) - Purchases

Un métier (̃ı métyé) - A profession
Patron-nne - Boss Le patron possède une usine. The boss owns a factory.
Chef-ffe - Leader Le chef dirige les travailleurs. The leader directs the workers.

Salarié-e - Employee Le salarié est payé pour travailler. The employee is paid to work.
Ingénieur-e - Ingeneer L’ingénieur conçoit les produits. The engineer designs products.
Ouvrier-ère - Workeer L’ouvrier suit la machine. The worker keeps the machine running.
Secrétaire - Secretary Le-La secrétaire fait des papiers. The secretary does the paperwork.

Docteur - Doctor Le-La docteur a un doctorat. The doctor has a PhD.
Médecin - Doctor Le-La médecin soigne les malades. The doctor treats the sick.

Infirmier-ère - Nurse L’infirmière s’occupe des malades. The nurse looks after the patients.

Professeur - Teacher Le-La professeur enseigne. The teacher teaches.
Facteur/trice - Postman La factrice livre une lettre. The postwoman delivers a letter.

Juge - Judge Le-La juge travaille au tribunal. The judge works in court.
L’avocat-e - Lawyer L’avocat défend une victime. The lawyer defends a victim.

Président-e - President Le président est élu. The president is elected.
Ministre - Minister Le-La ministre est nommé. The Minister is appointed.
Député-e - M.P. Les députés votent les lois. MPs vote on legislation.

Roi-Reine - King-Queen Le roi d’Angleterre ne dirige pas. The king isn’t in charge.

Général-e - General Le général dirige les soldats. The general leads the soldiers.
Policier-ère - Officer Le policier arrête les délinquants. The policeman arrests delinquents.
Gendarme - Officer La gendarme arrête les criminels. The agent arrests criminals.

Fermier-ère - Farmer Le fermier élève des animaux. The farmer raises animals.
Boucher-ère - Butcher La bouchère coupe de la viande. The butcher cuts meat.
Boulanger-ère - Baker Le boulanger fait du pain. The baker produces bread.
Maçon-nne - Mason Le maçon fait du béton. The mason makes concrete structures.
Marchand-e - Seller La marchande vend des objets. The merchant sells items.

Poëte - Poet Le poëte écrit des poésies. The poet writes poetry.
Auteur-e - Author L’auteur écrit des livres. The author writes books.

Journaliste - Journalist La journaliste écrit des articles. The journalist writes articles.

Un lieu de travail (̃ı lyẽ de travay) - A Workplace
Une usine (un uzin) - Factory Un atelier (atelyé) - Workshop Un bureau (burô) - Office

Une ferme (fèrm) - Farm Une boucherie (bũs̃eri) Une boulangerie - Bakery
Un chantier - Building site Un magasin (magaz̃ı) - Store Une imprimerie - Print

Un hôpital (ôpital) - Hospital Une école (ékol) - School Un cabinet - Office
Une clinique (klinik) - Clinic Une salle de classe - Classroom La cour - School yard
La poste (post) - Post office Le tribunal (tribunal) - Court La prison (prizõ) - Jail

Le palais (palè) - Palace Le ministère - Ministry L’assemblée - Assembly
La caserne (kazèrn) - Barrack Le commissariat - Police Station Le camp (kã) - Camp

La gare - Train station Le port (por) - Port La douane - Customs
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Concrete objects

Un bâtiment (̃ı batimã) - A building
Une maison (mèzõ) - House Un étage (étaj) - Level Une porte (port) - Door

Un immeuble (imebl) - Building Un escalier - Staircase Une fenêtre (fenètr) - Window
Un appartement (apartemã) - Flat Un ascenseur - Lift Le toit (twa) - Roof

Un hôtel (ôtèl) - Hotel Un mur (mur) - Wall Le sol (sol) - Floor
Une cabane (kaban) - Hut La cour (kũr) - Yard Le sous-sol - Basement

Dans la maison (dã la mèzõ) - Inside the house
La chambre - Bedroom La cuisine - Kitchen La salle à manger

Un lit (li) - Bed Un frigo - Fridge Une table (tabl) - Table
Une table de nuit - Bed table Une cuisinière - Cooker Une chaise (s̃èz) - Chair

Une armoire - Wardrobe Un four (fũr) - Oven Une assiette (asyèt) - Plate
Une couverture - Blanket Un évier (évyé) - Sink Un verre (vèr) - Glass

Un oreiller - Pillow Une casserole - Saucepan Une fourchette (fũrs̃èt) - Fork
Un matelas - Mattress Une poêle (pwal) - Pan Un couteau (kũtô) - Knife
Un drap (dra) - Sheet Une passoire - Colander Une cuiller (kuiyèr) - Spoon

Le salon - Lounge Le garage - Garage La salle de bain - Bathroom
Le canapé (kanapé) - Couch La voiture (vwatur) - Car La douche (dũs̃) - Shower

La télé (télé) - TV Le vélo (vélo) - Bike La baignoire (bènwar) - Bath
La table basse - Coffee table La moto (môtô) - Motorbike Le lavabo - Washbasin
Les rideaux (ridô) - Curtains La remorque - Trailer Les toilettes (twalèt) - Toilets

Un fauteuil (fôtey) - Armchair Les outils (ũti) - Tools Une serviette - Towel

Un autre véhicule (̃ı-n-ôtr-e-véikul) - Another vehicle
Un train (tr̃ı) - Train Un camion (kamyõ) Un scooter (skũter)

Un bateau (batô) - Boat Un car (kar) - Bus Un tracteur (tracter) - Tractor
Un avion (avyõ) - Plane Un bus (bus) - City bus Un 4x4 (katr-katr) - SUV

Un matériau (̃ı matéryô) - A material
La pierre (pyèr) - Stone Le métal (métal) - Metal L(e)’aluminium (aluminyem)
La roche (ros̃) - Rock L(e)’acier (asyé) - Steel Le cuivre (kuivr) - Copper
Le sable (sabl) - Sand Le fer (fèr) - Iron Le laiton (lètõ) - Brass
Le verre (vèr) - Glass L(e)’inox - Stainless steel L(e)’or (or) - Gold
Le bois (bwa) - Wood Le chrome (krôm) - Chrome L(e)’argent - Silver

Le papier (papyé) - Paper Le nickel (nikèl) - Nickel Le platine (platin) - Platinum

D’autres objets (dôtr-e-z-ôbjè) - Other objects
Une chose (s̃ôz) - Thing Une lettre (lètr) - Letter Une arme (arm) - Weapon

Un paquet (pakè) - Package Une châıne (s̃èn) - Chain Une planche (plãs̃) - Board
Une image (imaj) - Picture Un fil (fil) - Wire Une clé (klé) - Key

Une carte (kart) - Card Une corde (kord) - Rope Un tapis (tapi) - Carpet

Un vêtement (vètemã) - Cloth Une chemise (s̃emiz) - Shirt Un slip - Underwear
Une robe (rob) - Dress Un T-shirt (tis̃ert) Un string - String

Un pantalon (pãtalõ) - Pants Un pull (pul) - Sweater Un caleçon - Underpants
Une chaussette - Sock Une veste (vèst) - Jacket Un bonnet (bônè) - Cap
Une chaussure - Shoe Un sac (sak) - Bag Un gant (gã) - Glove
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Abstract concepts

Un concept de logique (̃ı kõsèpt de lôjik) - Logic concept
Une condition (kõdisyõ) Un fait (fè) - Fact Un rapport (rapor) - Connection
Une cause (kôz) - Cause Un principe (pr̃ısip) - Principle Le contraire (kõtrèr) - Contrary

Un effet (èfè) - Effect Un exemple (ègzãpl) - Example Un cas (ka) - Case

Un but (but) - Goal Un moyen (mwaỹı) - Mean Un problème - Problem
Un objectif (ôbjèktif) - Goal Un défaut (défô) - Fault Une circonstance - Circumstance

Un essai (ésè) - Attempt L(e)’aspect (aspè) - Look Un résultat (rézulta) - Result
Une tentative - Attempt Un détail (détay) - Detail L(a)’importance - Importance

Un succès (suksè) - Success Une occasion - Opportunity Le sujet (sujè) - Subject
Un échec (és̃èk) - Fail Une habitude - Habit La situation - Situation

Un genre (jãr) - Kind Une sorte (sort) - Kind Un mode (mod) - Mode
Un type (tip) - Type Une partie (parti) - Part Une façon (fasõ) - Way

Des choses et leurs contraires (dé s̃ôz è ler kõtrèr) - Things and their opposites
L(e)’avant (avã) - Front L(a)’avance (avãs) - Ahead La moitié (mwatyé) - Half

L(e)’arrière (aryèr) - Back Le retard (retar) - Late Le double (dũbl) - Double
Le début - Beginning Le départ (dépar) - Departure Le départ - Start

La fin (f̃ı) - End Le retour (retũr) - Return L(a)’arrivée - Arrival
L(e)’intérieur - Inside Le hasard (azar) - Chance La présence - Presence

L(e)’extérieur - Outside Le déterminisme - Determinism L(a)’absence - Absence
Le bien (bỹı) - Good La sécurité - Safety Le tout (tũ) - Whole
Le mal (mal) - Bad Le danger (dãjé) - Danger Le reste (rèst) - Rest

Des expressions avec ”en” (dé-z-èksprèsyõ) - Expressions with ”en”
En effet - Indeed En partie - Partially En détails - In details En fonction - Depending
En fait - In fact En tout - All in all En principe - Usually En faveur - In favor

En avant - Forward En avance - Early En haut - Up En rang - In line
En arrière - Backward En retard - Late En bas - Down En pièces - Destroyed

En relation - Related En danger - In danger En cours - Happening
En voyage - Travelling En couple - In couple En forme - In good health

En mouvement - Moving En prison - In jail En service - Working
En amoureux - Between lovers En vacances - In holidays En chien-nne - Horny (m-f)

Des expressions avec ”par” - Expressions with ”par”
Par hasard - By chance Par principe - On principle Par exemple - For instance
Par erreur - By mistake Par défaut - For lack Par chance - Luckily

Des expressions avec ”à” - Expressions with ”à”

À part - Separately À l’aide ! Help ! Au contraire - That’s the contrary

À bord - On board Au secours ! Help ! Au courant - Aware

À distance - Away À ta santé ! Cheers Au hasard - Randomly

Des expressions avec ”de” - Expressions with ”de”
De retour - Back De qualité - Good Du coup - Hence

D’habitude - Usually De merde - Bad De fait - Hence
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3.2 Adjectives classified by similar senses

We recall the feminine form (separated with -) when it differs from the masculine one.

Une couleur (un kũler) - A color
Noir-e (nwar) - Black Bleu-e (blẽ) - Blue Vert-e (vèr-t) - Green

Blanc-che (blã-s̃) - White Jaune (jôn) - Yellow Orange (ôrãj) - Orange
Gris-e (gri-z) - Grey Rouge (rũj) - Red Rose (rôz) - Pink

Marron (marõ) - Brown Magenta (maj̃ıta) - Magenta Opaque (ôpak) - Opaque
Violet-tte (vyôlè-t) - Purple Cyan (siyã) - Cyan Transparent-e - Transparent

Une dimension (un dimãsyõ) - A dimension. Une grandeur (un grãder) - A quantity.
Grand-e (grã-d) - Big Haut-e (ô-t) - High Exact-e (ègzakt) - Exact
Petit-e (peti-t) - Small Bas-sse (ba-s) - Low Juste (just) - Exact

Large (larj) - Wide Lourd-e (lũr-d) - Heavy Moyen-ne (mwaỹı-èn) - Medium

Étroit-e (étrwa-t) - Narrow Léger-ère (léjé-èr) - Light Égal-e (égal) - Equal

Épais-sse (épè-s) - Thick Énorme (énorm) - Huge Inférieur-e (̃ıféryer) - Less
Fin-e (f̃ı-fin) - Thin Minuscule (minuskul) - Tiny Supérieur-e (supéryer) - More

Long-gue (lõ-g) - Long Profond-e (prôfõ-d) - Deep Double (dũbl) - Double
Court-e (kũr-t) - Short Vaste (vast) - Vast Triple (tripl) - Triple

La chronologie (la krônôlôji) - Chronology
Prochain-e (prôs̃̃ı-èn) - Next Suivant-e (suivã-t) - Following Futur-e (futur) - Future
Actuel-lle (aktuèl) - Current En cours (ã kũr) - Current Présent-e - Present

Dernier-ère (dèrnyé-èr) - Last Précédent-e (présédã-t) - Previous Passé-e (pasé) - Past

Un nombre ordinal (̃ı nõbr ordinal) - An ordinal number
Premier-ère (premyé-èr) - First Troisième (trwazyèm) - Third Dixième (dizyèm) - Tenth

Second-e (segõ-d) - Second Quatrième (katriyèm) - Fourth Suffix ième - Suffix th
Deuxième (dẽzyèm) - Second Cinquième (s̃ıkyèm) - Fifth Dernier-ère - Last

Une fraction (un fraksyõ) - A fraction
Demi (demi) - Half Un quart de (kar de) - Quarter

Une moitié de (mwatyé de) - Half Un cinquième de (s̃ıkyèm de) - Fifth
Un tiers de (tyèr-s de) - Third Un centième de (sãtyèm de) - Hundredth

Une caractéristique humaine (un karaktéristik umèn) - A human characteristic
Grand-e (grã-d) - Tall Riche (ris̃) - Rich Humain-e (umı̃-èn) - Human
Petit-e (peti-t) - Small Pauvre (pôvr) - Poor Français-e (frãsè-z) - French
Gros-sse (grô-s) - Fat Fort-e (for-t) - Strong Anglais-e (ãglè-z) - English

Mince (mı̃s) - Thin Faible (fèbl) - Weak Étranger-ère - Foreigner
Beau-Belle (bô-bèl) - Pretty Heureux-se (ẽrẽ-z) - Happy Inconnu-e (̃ıkônu) - Unknown

Moche (mos̃) - Ugly Triste (trist) - Sad Voisin-e (vwaz̃ı) - Neighbour
Intelligent-e - Smart Vivant-e (vivã-t) - Alive Blond-e (blõ-d) - Blond

Stupide (stupid) - Stupid Mort-e (mor-t) - Dead Brun-e (br̃ı-un) - Dark-haired

Puissant-e - Powerful Violent-e (vyôlã-t) - Violent Calme (kalm) - Quiet
Capable (kapabl) - Able Malade (malad) - Sick Sérieux-se - Serious

Libre (libr) - Free Fou-Folle (fũ-fol) - Insane Content-e (kõtã-t) - Glad
Fier-ère (fièr) - Proud Nu-e (nu) - Naked Fidèle (fidèl) - Faithful

Drôle (drôl) - Fun Sauvage (sôvaj) - Wild Âgé-e (ajé) - Old
Curieux-se (kuryẽ-z) - Curious Muet-tte (muè-t) - Mute Jeune (jen) - Young

Prêt-e (prè-t) - Ready Sourd-e (sũr-d) - Deaf Adulte (adult) - Adult
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Une propriété concrète (un prôpriété kõkrèt) - A concrete property
Plein-e (pl̃ı-plèn) - Full Clair (klèr) - Clear Pareil-lle (parèy) - Same

Vide (vid) - Empty Sombre (sõbr) - Dark Différent-e (diférã-t) - Different
Chaud-e (s̃ô-d) - Warm Propre (propr) - Clean Entier-ère (ãtyé-èr) - Whole
Froid-e (frwa-d) - Cold Sale (sal) - Dirty Partiel-lle (parsyèl) - Partial

Sec-sèche (sèk-sès̃) - Dry Ouvert-e (ũvèr-t) - Open Rapide (rapid) - Fast
Humide (umid) - Wet Fermé-e (fèrmé) - Closed Lent-e (lã-t) - Slow

Naturel-lle (naturèl) - Natural Dur-e (dur) - Hard Neuf-ve (nef-nev) - Brand new
Artificiel-lle - Unnatural Mou-olle (mũ-ol) - Soft Ancien-nne (ãsỹı-èn) - Old

Sûr-e (sur) - Safe Utile (util) - Useful Précis-e (prési-z) - Precise
Dangereux-se - Dangerous Inutile (inutil) - Useless Imprécis-e (̃ıprési-z) - Imprecise

Bruyant-e (bruiyã-t) - Noisy Fixe (fiks) - Fixed Visible (vizibl) - Visible
Silencieux-se (silãsyẽ-z) - Silent Mobile (môbil) - Mobile Invisible (̃ıvizibl) - Invisible

Rare (rar) - Rare Particulier-ère - Special Unique (unik) - Unique
Fréquent-e (frékã-t) - Common Commun-e - Common Nombreux-ses - Many

Étrange (étrãj) - Strange Extraordinaire - Unusual Cher-ère (s̃èr) - Expensive
Habituel-lle (abituèl) - Usual Ordinaire - Usual Pas cher (pa s̃èr) - Cheap

Rond-e (rõ-d) - Round Plat-e (pla-t) - Flat Pointu-e (pw̃ıtu) - Pointed
Carré-e (karé) - Square Aligné (alinyé) - Aligned Troué-e (trũé) - Perforated

Une propriété abstraite (un propriyété abstrèt) - An abstract property
Général-e (jénéral) - General Sûr-e (sur) - Sure Certain-e (sert̃ı-èn) - Certain
Particulier-ère - Particular Pas sûr (pa sur) - Not sure Incertain-e - Uncertain
Possible (pôsibl) - Possible Vrai-e (vrè) - True Réel-lle (réèl) - Real

Impossible - Impossible Faux-sse (fô-s)-False Irréel-lle (iréèl) - Unreal
Vague (vag) - Vague Nécessaire - Necessary Absolu-e (absôlu) - Absolute

Précis-e (prési-z) - Precise Suffisant-e - Sufficient Relatif-ve (relatif-v) - Relative
Simple (s̃ıpl) - Simple Facile (fasil) - Easy Important-e - Important
Complexe - Complex Difficile (difisil) - Difficult Désuet-tte (dézuè-t) - Pointless

Public-que (publik) - Public Secret-ète (sekrè-t) - Secrete Intérieur-e (̃ıtéryer) - Inside
Privé-e (privé) - Private Connu-e (kônu) - Known Extérieur-e - Outside
Social-e (sôsyal) - Social Militaire (militèr) - Military Hospitalier-ère - Of hospital
Collectif-ve - Common Politique (pôlitik) - Political Scolaire (skôlèr) - Of school

Individuel-lle - Private Économique - Economic Agricole - Of agriculture

Une nationalité (un nasyônalité) - A nationality
Européen-ne (ẽrôpé̃ı-èn) Asiatique (azyatik) Africain-e (afrik̃ı-èn)

Français-e (frãsè-z) Chinois-e (s̃inwa-z) Nigérian-e (nijéryã-an)

Anglais-e (ãglè-z) Indien-nne (̃ıdỹı-èn) Éthyopien-nne (étyôpỹı-èn)

Allemand-e (alemã-d) Indonésien-nne (̃ıdônézỹı-èn) Égyptien-nne (éjipsỹı-èn)
Espagnol-e (èspanyol) Pakistanais-e (pakistanè-z) Congolais-e (kõgôlè-z)
Italien-nne (italỹı-èn) Japonais-e (japônè-z) Sud-africain-e
Polonais-e (pôlônè-z) Coréen-nne (kôré̃ı-èn) Algérien-nne (aljérỹı-èn)
Roumain-e (rũmı̃-èn) Vietnamien-nne (vyètnamỹı-èn) Marocain-e (marôk̃ı-èn)

Eurasien-ne (ẽrazỹı-èn) Américain-e (amérik̃ı-èn) Océanien-nne (ôséanỹı-èn)
Russe (rus) Américain-e (amérik̃ı-èn) Australien-nne (ôstralỹı-èn)

Turque (turk) Canadien-nne (kanadỹı-èn) Néozélandais-e (néozélãdè-z)
Kazakh (kazak) Brésilien-nne (brézilỹı-èn) Papouan-néo-guinéen-nne
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3.3 Verbs classified by similar senses

The symbol * points the verbs whose auxiliary is Être.
The symbol [p...] refers to the conjugation table for the irregular verbs.

Verbs of state, position, descriptions

Constant state Change of state

Être qch ([T1] p.39) - To be smth Devenir* qch ([T2] p.40) - To become smth
Rester* qch - To remain smth
Rester* qprt - To stay smwh Aller* qprt ([T1] p.40) - To go smwh
Vivre [T2] (p.43) - To live Nâıtre* ([T3] p.42) - To be born

Être mort - To be dead Mourir* ([T6] p.43) - To die
Exister - To exist Apparâıtre* ([T3] p.42) - To appear

Ne pas exister - Not to exist Disparâıtre ([T3] p.42) - To disappear
Parâıtre qch - To seem to be smth Passer* pour qch - To look like smth
Sembler qch - To look like smth Se faire* passer pour qch ([T3] p.39)

Ressembler à qun - To look like smby (To pretend to be smth)

S’appeler* qch ([R1e] p.37) - Be called smth Être nommé qch - To be named smth
Habiter qprt - To live smwh Déménager qprt - To move smwh

Mesurer 1m70 - To measure 1m70 Grandir ([R2] p.38) - To grow
Peser 60kg ([R1è] p.37) - To weigh 60kg Grossir ([R2] p.38) - To put on weight

Mincir ([R2] p.38) - To lose weight
Durer 1h - To last 1h Continuer - To still be in progress

Valoir 50 ([T4] p.39) - Have value of 50 Augmenter - To increase
Coûter 50e - To cost 50e Diminuer - To decrease

Être bien - To be good S’améliorer* - To get better

Être nul - To be bad Empirer - To get worse

Être assis - To be sitting S’assoir* ([T4] p.40) - To sit down

Être debout - To be standing Se lever* ([R1è] p.37) - To stand up

Être allongé - To be lying S’allonger* ([R1g] p.37) - To lie down

Être en couple - To be in a rel. Se mettre* en couple ([T1] p.42)

Être marié - To be married Se marier* avec qun - To marry smdy

Être divorcé - To be divorced Se séparer* - To separate

Many state adjectives can be derived to a verb that describes the change of state :

Noir-e → Noircir Grand-e → Grandir Lourd → Alourdir Juste → Ajuster

Blanc-che → Blanchir Petit-e → Rapetisser Léger → Alléger Égal → Égaliser
Rouge → Rougir Haut-e → Monter* Long → Allonger Double → Doubler

Jaune → Jaunir Bas-sse → Baisser Court → Écourter Triple → Tripler

The verb of change of state is reflexive if the subject is responsible for his own change.

Riche → S’enrichir* Fort-e → Se renforcer* Beau → S’embellir*
Pauvre → S’appauvrir* Faible → S’affaiblir* Calme → Se calmer*

Libre → Se libérer* Nu → Se dénuder* Prêt → Se préparer*

All these verbs derived from adjectives are regular in ”er” (p.36-37) or ”ir” ([R2] p.38).
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Modal verbs

In this page, the notation ... can be replaced by a verb in infinitive form.

The most common modal verbs
Standard form : obvious subject Subjunctive form : different subject

Pouvoir ... ([T4] p.39) - Can/May ... Il se peut que + subj. - Possible
Devoir ... ([T2] p.41) - Must ... No subjunctive relative sentence

Vouloir ... ([T4] p.39) - Want to ... Vouloir que + subj. - Want smby to ...
Avoir besoin de ... ([T2] p.39) - Need Avoir besoin que + subj. - Need smby to ...

Il faut ... ([T4] p.39) - Required Il faut que + subj - Required
Il suffit de ... ([T1] p.43) - Sufficient Il suffit que + subj. - Sufficient
Avoir qch à ... - To have smth to ... No subjunctive relative sentence

Savoir ... ([T2] p.39) - To have learnt to ... No subjunctive relative sentence
Apprendre à ... ([T3] p.41) - To learn to ... No subjunctive relative sentence

Tense modal verbs
Aller ... ([T1] p.40) - Future Être sur le point de ... - Very close future

Venir de ... ([T2] p.40) - Close past Être en train de ... - Continuous present

In the next table, there are verbs of desires and emotions. All of them can be used as modals
(with a second verb in infinitive) or introduce a subjunctive sentence, (if the subject of the second
verb is non-obvious). For a verb without preposition (like Espérer), the subjunctive sentence is
introduced by que. Otherwise, replace de → que or à → à ce que.

Avoir envie de ... - Want to ... Être content de ... - Be happy to ...

Souhaiter ... - Wish to ... Être ému de ... - Be touched to ...

Désirer ... - Desire to ... Être énervé de ... - Be angry to ...

Espérer ... ([R1è] p.37) - Hope to ... Être triste de ... - Be sad to ...
Préférer ... ([R1è] p.37) - Prefer to ... Avoir peur de ... - Be afraid to ...

Exiger de ... - Demand to ... Aimer ... - Like to ...
Rêver de ... - Dream to ... Accepter de ... - Accept to ...

S’attendre* à ... ([T1] p.41) - Expect to ... Refuser de ... - Refuse to ...
Regretter de ... - Regret to ... Renoncer à ... - Waive to ...

All the modal verbs of the next tables don’t usually introduce subjunctive (obvious subject).

Faire ... qun ([T3] p.39) - Make smby ... Obliger qun à ... - Force smby to ...
Faire ... qch à qun - Make smby ... smth Forcer qun à ... - Force smby to ...

Laisser qun ... - Let smby ... Empêcher à qun de ... - Prevent smby from ...

Dire à qun de ... ([T3] p.39) - Ask smby to ... Permettre à qun de ... ([T1] p.42) - Allow
Demander à qun de ... - Ask smby to ... Interdire à qun de ... ([T3] p.39) - Forbid
Ordonner à qun de ... - Order smby to ... Remercier qun de ... - Thank smby for ...
Proposer à qun de ... - Suggest smby to ... Menacer qun de ... - Threat smby to ...

Commencer à ... ([R1c] p.37) - Start to ... Oser ... - Dare to ...
Arrêter de ... - Stop to ... Hésiter à ... - Hesitate to ...

Continuer à ... - Continue to ... Choisir de ... ([R2] p.38) - Choose to ...

Finir de ... ([R2] p.38) - Finish Éviter de ... - Avoid to ...
Essayer de ... ([R1y] p.37 - Try Risquer de ... - Risk to ...

Réussir à ...([R2] p.38) - Manage to ... Oublier de ... - Forget to ...
Arriver* à ... = Réussir Aider qun à ... - Help smdy to ...
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Verbs of movement

Here are the most important motion verbs.

Aller* à un end. ([T1] p.40) - To go to a place Partir* d’un end. ([T3] p.40) - To leave
Venir* à un end. ([T2] p.40) - To come Retourner* au travail - To go back to work

Arriver* à un endroit - To arrive to a place Rentrer* à la maison - To come back home
Entrer* dans une ville - Get in a city Monter* - To go up

Sortir* du lit ([T3] p.40) - Get out of bed Descendre* ([T1] p.41) - To go down
Conduire une voit. ([T1] p.43) - Drive car Traverser la route - To cross the road

Marcher - To walk Se déplacer*, Bouger (p.37) - To move

The other verbs of motion can specify the way how the movement happens.

Passer* par un end. - Pass through a place Revenir* à un end. ([T2] p.40) - Come back
Se rendre* à un end. ([T1] p.41) = Aller Quitter un end. - Leave a place
S’en aller* d’un end. ([T1] p.40) = Partir Se retrouver* à un end. - Finish smwh

S’arrêter* à un end. - To stop smwh Atteindre un end. ([T4] p.43) - Reach a place

Avancer ([R1c] p.37) - Move forward S’approcher* de - Move closer
Reculer - Move backward S’éloigner* de - Move further
Se promener* - Wander Suivre qch ([T2] p.43) - Follow smth
Courir ([T4] p.42) - Run Rejoindre qun ([T4] p.43) - Meet smdy

S’échapper* de qpt - Escape from smwh Se jeter* sur qch ([R1e] p.37) - Jump on smth
Parcourir 1km ([T4] p.42) Travel 1km Tomber* de qch - Fall from smth

Franchir ([R2] p.38) ≈ Traverser Tourner à droite / à gauche - To turn R/L
Rouler - To roll / To drive car Voler en hélicoptère - To fly with hel.

Retomber* sur qun - Happen again Voyager en avion ([R1g] p.37) - Travel plane
Dégager de qpt ([R1g] p.37) - Move away Croiser qun - Meet briefly

Plonger ([R1g] p.37) - Move deeper Sauter sur qch - To jump on smth
Se dépêcher* - To hurry Danser - To dance

Remonter* - Move back up Glisser - To slide
Se placer* ([R1c] p.37) - Get position Mener à ([R1è] p.37) - To lead to
Accompager qun - To go with smdy Détourner qch - Change direction of

Verbs for movements of things

These last verbs are motion verbs to describe thing’s movements.

Prendre qch qpt ([T3] p.41) - Take smth smwh Tirer les chaises - Pull chairs
Mettre le verre dans ([T1] p.42) - Put glass in Pousser la table - Push table
Poser le verre sur la table - Put glass on table Déplacer qch ([R1c] p.37) - Move smth

Soulever 10kg ([R1è] p.37) - Carry 10kg Répandre ([T1] p.41) - Spread
Transporter un paquet - Transport package Installer qch qpt - Install smth smwh

Apporter du vin - Bring wine to hosts Amener ([R1è] p.37) = Apporter
Emporter la veste - Bring jacket away Emmener ([R1è] p.37) = Emporter

Retourner un steak - Twist meat Livrer, Déposer le colis - Deliver package
Diriger une équipe - Lead team Importer le lait - Import milk

Maintenir qch ([T2] p.40) - Maintain smth Ramasser la bôıte - Take box on floor
Jeter une fléchette ([R1e] p.37) - Throw arrow Repousser qch - Reject smth
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Verbs of communication

The most important verbs of communication are :

Parler à qun - To talk with smdy Demander qch à qun - Ask smth to smdy
Parler de qch - To talk about Répondre qch ([T1] p.41) - Answer smth
Parler français - Speak French Entendre qch ( [T1] p.41) - Hear smth

Parler avec qun - Have a talk with Écouter qch - Listen to smth
Dire à qun que ... - Say to smdy that ... Appeler qun ([R1e] p.37) - Call smdy

Dire cela à qun - Say this to smdy Montrer qch à qun - Show smth to smdy
Raconter l’histoire à qun - Tell story Poser une question - Ask a question

With the following list, you can specify more about communication.

Présenter un ami à qun - Present friend Rappeler qch à qun ([R1e] p.37) - Remind
Apprendre qch à qun - Teach Répéter la question ([R1è] p.37) - Repeat

Discuter avec qun - Have a talk Accepter l’offre - Accept offer
Téléphoner à qun - Call smdy with phone Refuser l’offre - Refuse offer
Prononcer qch ([R1c] p.37) - Pronounce Avouer qch à qun - Confess

Chanter une chanson - Sing Juger qun ([R1g] p.37) - Judge smdy
Prier pour qun - Pray for smdy Annoncer qch ([R1c] p.37) - Announce
Crier sur qun - Scream on smdy Tromper qun - Cheat on smdy

Mentir à qun ([T3] p.40) - Lie to smdy Promettre qch à qun ([T1] p.42) - Swear
Proposer qch à qun - Propose Indiquer le chemin = Montrer

Prétendre qch ([T1] p.41) - Pretend Obéir à qun ([R2] p.38) - Obey to smdy
S’exprimer* - Give opinion S’adresser* à qun = Parler avec

Se taire* ([T1] p.43) - Keep silent Se plaindre* ([T4] p.43) - Complain
Inviter qun - Invite smdy Signifier qch - mean smth

Expliquer qch à qun - Explain Soutenir qun ([T2] p.40) - Support smdy
Révéler un secret ([R1è] p.37) - Reveal Réclamer qch - Demand smth
Prévenir qun ([T2] p.40) - Warn smdy Rassurer qun - Reassure smdy

Décrire qch ([T3] p.43) - Describe Désigner qun - Appoint smdy

Many transitive verbs of communication can have a non-subjunctive relative sub-sentence that
replaces the A-complement (accusative). It is introduced by Que (That) when the next assertion
is certain and Si (If) when it’s not.

Dire que Il m’a dit que tu m’aimes encore. He told me (that) you still love me.
Dire si Dis moi si c’est bientôt fini. Let me know if it’s almost over.
Demander si Je te demande si elle est là. I’m asking you if she’s here.
Répondre que Il me répond qu’elle est partie. He tells me (that) she’s gone.
Montrer que Je lui ai montré que c’était possible. I proved him-her (that) it was possible.
. . . . . .

You can also use other relative pronouns (see a list p.29) after these verbs.

Dire quand Dis moi quand tu arriveras. Tell me when you will arrive.
Demander pourquoi Je lui demanderai pourquoi il ment. I’ll ask him why he lies.
Montrer ce que Je te montre ce que je veux. I show you what I want.
. . . . . .
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Verbs of perceptions

In this page, the sign ... represents a non-subjunctive relative sub-sentence.

Voir le ciel ([T4] p.40) - See the sky Entendre qch ([T1] p.41) - Hear smth
Voir que/si ... - See that ... Entendre que/si ... - Hear that ...

Regarder qch - Look at smth Écouter qch - Listen to smth

Regarder la télé - Watch TV Écouter la radio - Listen to radio
Apercevoir qch ([T2] p.41) - See briefly Sentir l’odeur ([T3] p.40) - Smell

Remarquer qch = Voir Sentir la douleur - Feel pain
Observer qch - Look carefully Souffrir ([T2] p.42) - Suffer

Verbs of thoughts

Savoir cela ([T2] p.39) - Know it Apprendre qch ([T3] p.41) - Learn
Savoir que/si ... - Know that ... Comprendre qch ([T3] p.41) - Understand

Connâıtre la ville ([T3] p.42) - Know city Penser à toi - Think about you
Connâıtre Joe - Know Joe Penser que ... - Consider that ...

Reconnâıtre Joe - Recognize Joe Croire en toi ([T4] p.42) - Believe in you
S’attendre* à qch ([T1] p.41) - Expect Se souvenir* de qch ([T2] p.40) - Remember

Oublier qch - Forget smth Se rappeler* de qch ([R1e] p.37) = Souvenir
Attendre un ami ([T1] p.41) - Wait Deviner ce que ... - Guess what ...

Espérer un miracle ([R1è] p.37) - Hope Choisir la couleur ([R2] p.38) - Choose color
Rêver de toi - Dream of you Supposer que ... - Assume that ...

Imaginer le futur - Imagine future Hésiter entre 2 choses - Hesitate
Prévoir le problème ([T4] p.40) - Foresee Réfléchir ([R2] p.38) - Be thinking

Étudier les langues - Study languages Confondre 2 choses ([T1] p.41) - Confuse
Douter de soi même - Have doubts Distinguer 2 choses - Distinguish

Emotions and feelings

Many verbs of emotion or desire can introduce a subjunctive sub-sequence. There are detailed
examples p.51 and other verbs of emotion p.69.

Active feeling Passive feeling

Aimer qun - Love Être aimé-e par qun - Be loved
Apprécier qun (Rare) - Like Plaire à qun (Common) ([T1] p.43) - Please

Avoir peur de qun - Be afraid Faire peur à qun ([T3] p.39) - Scare
Se languir de qun (Rare) - Miss Manquer à qun (Common) - Be missing

Être surpris par qun - Be surprised Surprendre qun ([T3] p.41) - Surprise
Se sentir* bien ([T3] p.40) - Feel good Faire qun se sentir bien - Make smdy feel good

Se calmer* - Get calm Calmer qun - Calm smdy
S’inquiéter* ([R1è] p.37) - Be worried Inquiéter qun - Worry smdy

S’amuser* - Have fun Divertir qun ([R2] p.38) - Entertain smdy
S’intéresser* à qch - Be interested Intéresser qun - Interest
S’ennuyer*([R1y] p.37) - Be bored Ennuyer qun ([R1y] p.37) - Bore smdy

Other verbs of emotions
Détester qun - Hate Tomber* amoureux-se de qun - Fall in love

Être énervé - Be angry S’énerver* - Get angry
Rire ([T4] p.42) - Laugh Regretter - Regret

Pleurer - Cry Satisfaire qun ([T3] p.39) - Satisfy
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Relationships between friends or lovers

Loving relationships :

Rencontrer qun - Meet (1st time) Plaire à qun ([T1] p.43) - Be liked by
Sourire à qun ([T4] p.42) - Smile Embrasser qun - Kiss

Sortir* avec qun ([T3] p.40) - Be in rel. Coucher avec qun - Have sex

Épouser qun - Marry smdy Se marier* avec qun = Épouser
Quitter qun - Leave smdy Se séparer* de qun - Separate

Divorcer - Divorce Manquer à qun - Be missing for

Positive relationships or games :

Avoir confiance en qun ([T2] p.39) - Trust S’occuper* de qun - Take care
Partager qch avec qun ([R1g] p.37) - Share Respecter qun - Respect

Aider un ami - Help friend Saluer qun - Say hello to smdy
Réunir des amis ([R2] p.38) - Reunite Confier qch à qun - Entrust with

Protéger qun ([R1g][R1è] p.37) - Protect Veiller sur qun - Take care
Jouer à un jeu - Play game Gagner à un jeu - Win game

Jouer de la guitare - Play guitar Perdre à un jeu ([T1] p.41) - Lose
Faire de la musique ([T3] p.39) - Play music Tricher à un jeu - Cheat

Relationships in conflicts or work

In conflicts :

Frapper qun - Hit smdy Menacer qun ([R1c] p.37) - Threat
Se battre* ([T1] p.41) - Fight Insulter qun - Insult

Blesser qun - Hurt Faire mal à qun ([T3] p.39) = Blesser
Tuer qun - Kill Sauver qun - Save

Voler qch à qun - Steal Violer qun - Rape
Surveiller qun - Keep watching S’armer* - Get weapons

Attaquer qun - Attack Chasser un animal - Hunt animal
Se défendre* ([T1] p.41) - Defend oneself Gagner le combat - Win fight

Défendre qch - Defend smth Perdre le combat ([T1] p.41) - Lose

At work :

Travailler - Work Gagner 1000 e par mois - Earn 1000 e a month

Payer qun ([R1y] p.37) - Pay smdy Être payé le 30 - Be paied on 30th.
Embaucher qun - Hire Virer qun - Fire smdy

Acheter qch ([R1è] p.37) - Buy Vendre qch ([T1] p.41) - Sell

Needs and human habits

Manger des frites ([R1g] p.37) - Eat fries Boire de l’eau ([T3] p.43) - Drink water
Commander une pizza - Order pizza Fumer une clope - Smoke cigarette

Dormir ([T5] p.43) - Sleep Prendre une douche ([T3] p.41) - Have shower
Se laver* - Wash oneself S’habiller* - Get dressed

Se brosser* les dents - Brush teeth Se déshabiller* - Undress oneself
Manquer de qch - Have lack of Se réveiller* - Wake up

Se coucher* - Go to bed Se reposer* - Rest
Respirer - Breathe Souffler les bougies - Blow candles
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Accusative verbs

These are verbs Human subject
ACTS−→ Thing complement. Here the complement can be

any thing. See also a list of verbs p.70 for movements of things.

Avoir qch ([T2] p.39) - Have Posséder qch ([R1è] p.37) - Own
Prendre qch ([T3] p.41) - Grab Attraper qch - Catch

Mettre qch ([T1] p.42) - Set Enlever qch ([R1è] p.37) - Remove
Poser qch sur qch - Put smth on smth Ramasser qch - Take smth on the floor

Tenir qch ([T2] p.40) - Hold Lâcher qch - Drop
Garder qch - Keep Jeter qch ([R1e] p.37) - Throw
Porter qch - Carry Pousser qch - Push

Chercher qch - Look for Choisir qch ([R2] p.38) - Choose
Cacher qch - Hide Remplacer qch par qch ([R1c] p.37) - Replace
Trouver qch - Find Changer qch ([R1g] p.37) - Change

Perdre qch ([T1] p.41) - Lose Échanger qch et qch - Swap
Utiliser qch - Use Entretenir qch ([T2] p.40) - Maintain

Se servir* de qch ([T2] p.43) = Utiliser Prendre soin de qch ([T3] p.41) = Entretenir

User / Ab̂ımer qch - Damage Écraser qch - Crush
Casser / Briser qch - Break Déchirer qch - Tear off

Construire qch ([T1] p.43) - Build Fabriquer qch - Manufacture
Détruire qch ([T1] p.43) - Destroy Démonter qch - Unmake

Inventer qch - Invent Créer qch - Create
Produire qch ([T1] p.43) - Produce Transformer qch - Transform

The next verbs are similar but the possible thing-complements are more specific.

Ouvrir la bôıte ([T2] p.42) - Open box Frapper à la porte - Knock door
Fermer la fenêtre - Close window Sonner à la porte - Ring doorbell
Attacher les cheveux - Tie hair Accrocher la remorque - Hook trailer
Détacher le chien - Untie dog Décrocher la ceinture - Unhook belt

Étendre le linge - Hang laundry Fixer le meuble - Fix furniture
Suspendre qch ([T1] p.41) - Hang Coller le joint - Glue joint

Remplir le verre ([R2] p.38) - Fill glass Charger le camion - Load truck
Vider la bouteille - Empty bottle Décharger la voiture - Unload car
Serrer une vis - Tighten screw Appuyer sur le bouton - Press button

Desserrer un écrou - Loosen nut Tirer sur la corde - Pull rope
Creuser le trou - Dig hole Enfoncer le clou ([R1c] p.37) - Shove nail

Allumer la lampe - Turn on lamp Couvrir la poële ([T2] p.42) - Cover stove

Éteindre le four ([T4] p.43) - Turn off oven Préparer le repas - Prepare meal
Renverser le verre - Spill glass Presser une orange - Press orange

Essuyer la table ([R1y] p.37) - Wipe table Cuire les pâtes ([T1] p.43) - Cook pasta
Verser le liquide - Pour liquid Couper le légume - Cut Vegetable

Laver le sol - Wash ground Griller la viande - Grill meat

For many of these verbs, you can add the prefix Re which means ”Again” :

Je prends une douche. (je prã un dũs̃) - I’m having a shower.
Je reprends une douche. (je reprã un dũs̃) - I’m having a shower again.

The prefix is Ré if the verb begins with a vowel, Utiliser → Réutiliser, and it is Res if the
verb begins with a s : Servir → Resservir.
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Verbs where the subject is a thing

Many of the transitive verbs in the previous page have a reflexive version, where the thing is
subject and undergoes the action in a passive way.

Renverser Active J’ai renversé le verre par terre. I spilled the glass on the floor.
Se renverser* Passive Le verre s’est renversé par terre. The glass spilled on the floor.

Here are other verbs with a thing-subject.

Appartenir à qun ([T2] p.40) - Belong Précéder la nuit ([R1è] p.37) - Preceed
Contenir de l’eau ([T2] p.40) - Contain Servir à qch ([T2] p.43) - Be used for

Briller - Shine Mouiller le sol - Wet ground
Brûler - Burn Couler - Flow

Exploser - Explode Éclater - Burst

Durer 12h - Be 12h long Éclairer qch - Illuminate
Trembler - Tremble Augmenter - Increase

Entourer la ville - Surround city Réduire ([T1] p.43) - Get smaller

Verbs of exchanges

The next verbs describe exchanges between humans.

Subject −→ D or P Complement D or P Complement −→ Subject
Donner qch à qun - Give Prendre qch à qun ([T3] p.41) - Take

Remettre qch à qun ([T1] p.42) = Donner Se faire* remettre qch par qun - Get
Offrir qch à qun ([T2] p.42) - Give present Se faire* offrir qch par qun - Get present

Envoyer qch à qun ([R1y] p.37) - Send Recevoir une lettre de qun - Receive
Laisser qch à qun - Leave smth to smdy Se voir* laisser qch par qun - Obtain
Concéder qch à qun ([R1è] p.37) - Let Obtenir qch de qun ([T2] p.40) - Obtain
Se faire* voler qch par qun - Be stolen Voler qch à qun - Steal

Prêter qch à qun - Lend Emprunter qch à qun - Borrow
Rendre qch à qun - Give back Récupérer qch de qun - Have back

Vendre qch à qun - Sell Acheter qch à qun ([R1è] p.37)
Servir qch à qun ([T2] p.43) - Serve Se faire* servir qch par qun - Be served

Amener qch à qun ([R1è] p.37) - Bring Emmener qch de qpt - Take away
Apporter qch à qun = Amener Emporter ... = Emmener
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